

1 -----X

CITY OF NEW YORK
2012-2013 DISTRICTING COMMISSION

THIRD ROUND
PUBLIC MEETING

LaGuardia Community College
31-10 Thomson Avenue
Long Island City, New York 11101

January 14, 2013
6:09 P.M.

-----X

8

9 IN ATTENDANCE:

10 FRANK PADAVAN

11 GLORIA CARVAJAL WOLFE

12 LINDA LIN

13 BENITO ROMANO, Chair

14 ROXANNE J. PERSAUD

15 THOMAS V. OGNIBENE

16 OSCAR ODOM, III

17 JAMILA PONTON BRAGG

18 SCOTT CERULLO

19 JUSTIN YU

20 JOHN ROBERT

21

22

23

24

25

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 CHAIRMAN ROMANO: Thank you and welcome to
2 the third round of the New York City Districting
3 Commission's public hearings. My name is Benito
4 Romano and I am the chair of the New York City
5 Districting Commission. On behalf of the
6 Commission, I want to thank Dr. Gail Mellow,
7 president of LaGuardia Community College, for
8 hosting us here tonight.

9 We will have this facility for only a few
10 hours tonight, and I want to make sure that we
11 hear from everyone who is signed up. For those
12 of you who did not sign up, and wish to speak,
13 please see the staff at the registration table,
14 outside of this room, to register.

15 In addition, if you require interpretation
16 for your testimony, please let the staff, at the
17 registration desk, know. They will make sure
18 there will be an interpreter present when it is
19 your turn to speak.

20 Before we take testimony, I would like to
21 make a few preliminary remarks. In December, the
22 Commission advertised in community and ethnic
23 newspapers, throughout the city, announcing the
24 Commission's public-hearing schedule for the
25 third round. An announcement was circulated to

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 the press. An e-mail blast was sent to over
2 5,500 individuals and organizations. Advocacy
3 groups helped spread the word through their
4 separate networks. The hearings were noticed in
5 The City Record, and the hearing's schedule was
6 publicized on our website, as well as our
7 Facebook page and Twitter feed.

8 The hearing, tonight, is part of the third
9 round of public hearings that the Commission will
10 conduct throughout the city. Over 1,150 people
11 attended the first two rounds of hearings, in
12 late August and October, and the Commission heard
13 testimony from more than 230 of them.

14 On November 15, 2012, the Commission
15 adopted, by unanimous vote, a revised plan for
16 the 51 councilmanic districts, that reflected the
17 testimony received during the first two rounds of
18 hearings, in addition to online submissions of
19 testimony, and alternative maps, created through
20 our free, map-making software on our website,
21 www.nyc.gov/districting.

22 Both, prior to that meeting and immediately
23 thereafter, we heard from the public and numerous
24 advocacy groups, including Common Cause,
25 Asian-American Legal Defense and Education Fund,

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Latino Justice, the Center for Law and Social
2 Justice, and the City Council's black, Latino and
3 Asian caucus, calling for another round of
4 hearings to enable the public to provide
5 commentary on the revised plan before the City
6 Council took action.

7 Only by maximizing public input will we
8 create a district plan that accurately reflects
9 the complexity and diversity of our great city.
10 In our transmittal letter, that accompanied the
11 revised plan submitted to the City Council on
12 November 19th, the Commission noted that we
13 welcomed additional input from the public, but
14 that the Commission was constrained by the
15 deadlines set forth in the City Charter, which
16 directed the Commission to submit a revised plan,
17 to the City Council, by early November.

18 That said, given the possibility that the
19 Council would not return the revised plan to the
20 Commission, to allow for further public comment,
21 and that the Council might, instead, allow the
22 plan to be adopted, simply, by taking no action
23 for the three-week period specified in the
24 Charter, the Commission considered mechanisms
25 that would allow for another round of hearings.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 After consulting with the New York City Law
2 Department, our legal counsel, the Commission
3 convened, on December 4, 2012, to consider
4 continuing the public-hearing process by
5 withdrawing the revised district plan from the
6 City Council. The Commission approved such a
7 measure, by a vote of 12 to nothing, with one
8 abstention.

9 Now that the Commission has withdrawn the
10 revised plan from the City Council, we are in a
11 position to conduct this third round of public
12 hearings. The Commission is eager to hear
13 tonight's testimony and comments on the revised
14 district plan. As a result of tonight's hearing,
15 the third round of hearings, in its entirety, the
16 Commission will consider all of the comments it
17 will receive during the next scheduled public
18 hearing on January 23rd.

19 At that meeting, the Commission will direct
20 the staff to make any amendments, to the revised
21 district plan, that the Commission deems
22 appropriate in light of the comments received
23 during this round. Then, at the Commission's
24 public meeting on January 30th, an amended
25 district plan, reflecting those instructions,

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 will be presented to the Commission, and the
2 Commission will decide whether to adopt that
3 plan.

4 If the Commission adopts the plan, it will
5 then be submitted to the City Council, which will
6 have three weeks to either adopt or reject the
7 plan. If the Council takes neither action, it
8 will be deemed adopted. If the Council objects
9 to the plan, the Commission will then have
10 another opportunity to revise the plan. This
11 will trigger a new set of public hearings to
12 receive comment and feedback on the plan.

13 It's, again, worth noting, as we do for
14 every meeting, that there are certain factors
15 that the law obligates the Commission to consider
16 during the districting process. These include
17 that the difference in population, between the
18 least populous and most populous districts, shall
19 not exceed ten percent of the average population
20 for all districts. The plan should ensure the
21 fair and effective representation of racial and
22 language minority groups in New York City.

23 The plan should keep neighborhoods and
24 communities, with established ties of common
25 interest and ethnicity, intact. Districts should

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 be compact and contiguous. Districts should be
2 kept within a single borough, if at all possible,
3 and the plan should avoid diminishing the
4 effective political representation of voters.

5 I want to bring to your attention our
6 website, at www.nyc.gov/districting. It is the
7 site that is the central repository of all of the
8 documents and videos relating to the Districting
9 Commission. It also contains a complete schedule
10 of our public hearings, all documents and plans
11 created by and submitted to the Commission, our
12 online mapping tool, and a portal, where you can
13 preregister for all of the hearings, and be added
14 to our mailing list. I hope you will all visit
15 the site and let us know how can it be made
16 better.

17 I want to say a few words about the obvious
18 limitations and the constraints of drawing up the
19 map. We are required, by the City Charter, to
20 draw lines. Lines divide. Depending on your
21 perspective, you may see the line as excluding
22 you or including you. To many, the lines will
23 appear arbitrary. I can assure you, they are
24 not. The lines attempt to fairly allocate
25 legislative responsibility among the 51 members

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 of the City Council.

2 We endeavored to draw district lines that
3 result in districts of roughly equal population,
4 and at the same time, include communities of
5 established common interest, and preserve the
6 effective representation of racial and language
7 minorities. To reconcile, just these three
8 requirements, can be extremely difficult.

9 Communities of interest do not neatly
10 organize themselves into districts of ideal
11 population size. So the lines are never perfect,
12 neither in ensuring that the districts capture
13 only communities that actually share common
14 interest, nor in districts of an ideal population
15 size.

16 We have worked, very hard, on this revised
17 map and we believe, through a gradual process of
18 refinement, we are getting close to a map, that
19 as a whole, reasonably accommodates all of the
20 factors set out in the City Charter. We are
21 open, however, to all other suggestions for
22 improvement and are looking forward to your
23 testimony tonight.

24 Now, that concludes my remarks. At this
25 point, I would like to have the Commissioners

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 introduce themselves, beginning with the
2 Commissioner on the far right (indicating).

3 MS. PERSAUD: Roxanne Persaud, Brooklyn.

4 MR. ODOM: Oscar Odom, III, Brooklyn.

5 MR. CERULLO: Scott Cerullo, Staten Island.

6 MR. OGNIBENE: Thomas Ognibene, Queens
7 County.

8 MS. LIN: Linda Lin, Queens.

9 MS. BRAGG: Jamila Ponton Bragg, Manhattan.

10 CHAIRMAN ROMANO: Benito Romano, Manhattan.

11 MR. HUM: Carl Hum, executive director of
12 the Commission.

13 MR. ROBERT: John Robert, the Bronx.

14 MR. YU: Justin Yu, Manhattan.

15 MS. WOLFE: Gloria Carvajal Wolfe,
16 Manhattan.

17 MR. PADAVAN: Frank Padavan, Queens.

18 MR. HACKWORTH: Thaddeus Hackworth, General
19 Counsel to the Commission.

20 CHAIRMAN ROMANO: Now Thaddeus Hackworth
21 will discuss the ground rules and call our first
22 speaker.

23 MR. HACKWORTH: Before I call the first
24 speaker, I will explain the rules for giving
25 testimony. Each speaker will have two-and-a-half

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 minutes to testify. When your two-and-a-half
2 minutes have expired, you will hear a chime. At
3 that point, please finish your sentence and yield
4 the microphone to the next speaker. Because the
5 Commission only has the use of these facilities
6 until nine o'clock, taking more than your
7 two-and-a-half minutes of time may result in your
8 neighbor or fellow community member not being
9 able to speak at all.

10 Please keep that in mind and be respectful
11 of others wishing to testify. If you would like
12 to provide more detailed testimony to the
13 Commission, you are encouraged to submit your
14 written testimony, by providing a copy at the
15 registration desk outside, or by e-mailing it to
16 hearings@districting.nyc.gov, or by mailing it to
17 the Commission's office.

18 I will first call those who have
19 preregistered to speak, followed by those who
20 have registered today at the desk. I will
21 announce the next speaker, as well as the
22 following speaker. When you hear your name
23 called, please approach the nearest microphone,
24 so that you can be ready to give testimony when
25 your name is called. There are two microphones

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 at the front of each aisle. If you have any
2 questions, please ask our staff members at the
3 registration desk.

4 I will now call our first speaker, James
5 Hong, to be followed by Christina Chang.

6 MR. HONG: Good evening, members of the
7 Commission. Good to see you again, and good
8 evening to everyone here, the people of Queens.
9 I am with the Asian-American Coalition on
10 Redistricting and Democracy, ACCORD, and we are
11 here to advocate for district maps that won't
12 prevent Asian-Americans, and other racial
13 minorities, from being disenfranchised by
14 district boundaries.

15 On the latest maps, we recognized that there
16 were some positive changes in Queens. But in the
17 Commission's latest map, the southern borders of
18 the 25th District, for example, are far more
19 reflective of the Asian-American community in
20 Elmhurst, Flushing, and the Bellerose, Glen Oaks
21 areas are kept whole in their respective
22 districts.

23 But Richmond Hill and South Ozone Park still
24 need some further adjustment. Lefferts Boulevard
25 is still divided, the South Ozone Park area of

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 this community. District 28, please include John
2 Adams High School in that district and the
3 district's western boundaries should be moved
4 towards Woodhaven Boulevard as much as possible.
5 Briarwood and Jamaica Hills are also, unwisely,
6 broken apart in the latest map, and they should
7 be reunited into a single district.

8 But the most disturbing part, of the latest
9 draft, is that the Commission's decision to sheer
10 the community of Bayside into Districts 19 and
11 23. And this not only fails to reflect current
12 demographics, because of its unanimous public
13 opinion given at both Queens public hearings held
14 by this Commission.

15 Bayside is a community that should be kept
16 whole, in the 19th District, with the Cross
17 Island Parkway to its east, 73rd Avenue to its
18 south and Clearview Expressway to its west. As a
19 coalition and a community, we are here, again, in
20 support of the Unity Map, asking that this
21 Commission create a district plan that brings
22 equal voice to the Asian-American residents and
23 voters of all Queens and New York City.

24 And as I have done before, in the past, I
25 would like our coalition members, organizations

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 and allies to stand with me, and I want to ask
2 you, what do you want?

3 THE AUDIENCE: Justice.

4 MR. HONG: What do you want?

5 THE AUDIENCE: Fairness.

6 MR. HONG: What do you want?

7 THE AUDIENCE: Equality.

8 MR. HONG: Thank you. Please give us
9 justice, fairness and equality.

10 And we want to ask you, Commission, is there
11 justice, -- (two-and-a-half minute timer
12 alarmed) -- fairness and equality in the map that
13 you have drawn for Queens and for the rest of New
14 York City?

15 Does it recognize the rights of our city's
16 exploding Asian-American and minority communities
17 or will it continue to divide us and use our
18 population as human fillers for districts that
19 are safely in the hands of one incumbent or
20 another.

21 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you.

22 MR. HONG: You have the opportunity and we
23 urge you to take it.

24 MR. HACKWORTH: The next speaker is
25 Christina Chang, to be followed by Jerry

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Vattamala.

2 MS. CHANG: Good afternoon. My name is
3 Christina Chang and I am the advocacy and
4 organizing associate at the MinKwon Center for
5 Community Action. I am here, today, to comment
6 on the proposed City Council districts that the
7 Commission has offered, as well as a process we
8 see as being played out.

9 As a founding member of ACCORD, the MinKwon
10 Center has been active, because we believe that
11 fair and equitable redistricting is absolutely
12 critical to engaging our community civically. We
13 are extremely disappointed and angered by the
14 activities of this Commission and your proposed
15 maps.

16 We have spoken at every hearing, together
17 with dozens of other community members, to
18 support fair districts that reflect true
19 communities of interest, through the unity maps.
20 These unity maps were submitted shortly after the
21 Commission's first meeting in August, and there
22 have been few, if any, dissenting voices to those
23 suggestions.

24 And yet, our unity maps have been completely
25 ignored when this Commission has drawn their

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 lines. The growing South-Asian communities, in
2 South Richmond Hill and South Ozone Park, are
3 unacceptably divided. Chinese, and Southeast
4 Asian communities, and Chinatown, Sunset Park and
5 Bensonhurst are not being kept whole.

6 Northeast Queens communities, in which we
7 are based, our neighborhoods, specifically
8 Bayside, are unacceptably divided. This
9 Commission has arbitrarily tore Bayside in two,
10 between District 19 and District 23, although
11 there is a significant Asian-American community
12 there that shares major housing, public safety
13 and education concerns with the wider Bayside
14 community.

15 Bayside has a unity map, as we define it, it
16 must include the section bordered by 73rd Avenue,
17 to the south, by the Cross Island Parkway, to the
18 east, and the Clearview Expressway to the west.
19 We have, consistently, joined with many allies to
20 support keeping Bayside whole, with little to no
21 public opposition, and yet, the Commission
22 refuses to respect these views.

23 As a result, it seems this Commission is
24 simply engaging in partisan politics and
25 protecting incumbents instead of the public, a

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 betrayal to the principles under which this
2 Commission was created. It is the very
3 definition of a lack of accountability.

4 I close by, again, referring to the unity
5 map, which we believe reflects equality and
6 fairness. The MinKwon Center will continue to
7 organize and mobilize, so that
8 the Korean-American, Asian-American and
9 -- (two-and-a-half minute timer
10 alarmed) -- marginalized communities are heard,
11 and will not keep quiet while our communities are
12 disenfranchised. Thank you.

13 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
14 is Jerry Vattamala, to be followed by Bright
15 Limm.

16 MR. VATTAMALA: Good evening members of the
17 Commission and fellow residents of Queens. I
18 have two minutes. I will be short. I have two
19 documents being circulated, my statement and,
20 also, an attachment to the Department of Justice,
21 that AALDEF submitted in 2009, following the City
22 Council elections for District 19.

23 The Commission has stated that the reason
24 certain Asian-American neighborhoods could not be
25 kept whole, as illustrated in the unity map, was

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 because the surrounding communities' common
2 interests have to be protected, which resulted in
3 the Asian-American communities being divided,
4 speaking specifically about Bensonhurst and
5 Bayside, Queens.

6 The Commission has followed the procedure,
7 that violates the Charter, by reversing the
8 prioritized districting criteria, specifically
9 reversing Items 2 and 3 on the priority list.
10 Asian-Americans are a racial and language
11 minority group, protected by the Voting Rights
12 Act, and must first be ensured fair and effective
13 representation before the Commission considers
14 the surrounding communities of interest.

15 The unity map was submitted, by advocates,
16 from all the racial and language minority groups
17 protected by the Federal Voting Rights Act. And
18 further mandates the City Charter, unity maps
19 should be considered first, ensuring fair and
20 effective representation for these protected
21 groups before the Commission considers, as I
22 said, the surrounding communities' common
23 interest.

24 In District 19, in Bayside in particular, it
25 was the center of a racially-charged City Council

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 race, between an Asian-American and a white
2 candidate, in 2009. Asian-Americans are
3 assaulted, intimidated, had property destroyed
4 and were disenfranchised at poll sites. AALDEF
5 documented these incidents and submitted a letter
6 to the Department of Justice.

7 The Asian-American candidate lost the
8 election by a very narrow margin. The letter,
9 submitted to the Department of Justice, is
10 attached, and I urge this Commission to read that
11 letter. The Commission is required to ensure
12 fair and effective representation for
13 Asian-Americans before considering the
14 surrounding communities of common interest.

15 Dividing Bayside in half has moved a stable
16 portion of Asian-Americans into District 23,
17 violating the Charter's mandate of fair and
18 effective representation for racial and language
19 minorities, namely, Asian-Americans. The
20 violation of federal and local law, that occurred
21 in 2009, are exacerbated by moving the
22 Asian-American community, in Bayside, into
23 District 23, prevented this community from
24 electing a candidate of their choice.

25 To comply with the Charter, Bayside must be

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 kept whole, in District 19, as illustrated in the
2 unity map. AALDEF's letter, to the DOJ, is
3 attached for your reference. The Commission did
4 some things good, and that's District 38, Sunset
5 Park -- (two-and-a-half minute timer
6 alarmed) -- District 25 in Queens. Thank you for
7 your time.

8 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
9 is Bright Limm, to be followed by Linda Lee.

10 MR. LIMM: Good evening members of the
11 Commission and members of the audience. My name
12 is Bright Limm. I am the board president of
13 KAPA, Korean Americans for Political Advancement.
14 KAPA is also a member organization of the ACCORD
15 coalition.

16 In this third and final round of hearings,
17 KAPA will focus on the community of Bayside. The
18 problem is a simple one. Bayside remains
19 divided. From the outset of this process, the
20 Commission has been provided with a precise set
21 of neighborhood boundaries for Bayside, that was
22 painstakingly prepared by the Asian-American
23 Legal Defense and Education Fund in consultation
24 with numerous community groups.

25 These are boundaries of Bayside, that have

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 been endorsed by KAPA, endorsed by the MinKwon
2 Center, Korean Community Services and numerous
3 other community organizations serving Korean and
4 Chinese-American voters, by the entire ACCORD
5 coalition, and by the overwhelming majority of
6 members of the public, who have attended and
7 spoken at the Commission's public hearings to
8 date.

9 I should add that these boundaries are also
10 fully consistent with the testimony provided by
11 other neighboring local organizations, including
12 the Bayside Hills Civic Association, Eastern
13 Queens United, and, perhaps, the most giant of
14 all things civic, the Queens Civic Congress.

15 Now, the Commission's response to this,
16 virtually, unanimous public message should have
17 been a no-brainer. It should have drawn all of
18 Bayside into the 19th District.

19 How did the Commission respond?

20 By cutting more of Bayside out of the
21 district. The Commission's blatant disregard of
22 public input, in favor of partisan and individual
23 incumbent interests, is politics at its worst.

24 The members, of this Commission, have
25 drafted a map that defied nearly-unanimous

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 opinion regarding Bayside, shows either the
2 Commission's indifference to the public-hearing
3 process or its disdain for those who live in this
4 neighborhood, and who care about the democratic
5 process to participate in.

6 If this Commission, ultimately, chooses to
7 dishonor our community, it will not be with our
8 help. We call on the Commission, once again, to
9 do the right thing. Specifically, KAPA calls on
10 the Commission, as it did during the very
11 beginning of the redistricting process, to keep
12 Bayside intact within the 19th District.

13 Once again, we insist that the Commission
14 respect the neighborhood boundaries for Bayside,
15 that AALDEF provided to the Commission at the
16 outset of the process (two-and-a-half minute
17 timer alarmed). And finally, if the Commission
18 is unwilling to listen to the dozens of community
19 organizations supporting keeping Bayside whole,
20 then the Commission should, at a minimum, reverse
21 the damage, that is currently proposed, by
22 maintaining as much of the southern portion of
23 Bayside, in the 19th District, as possible.

24 In particular, we know that the LIE, the
25 Long Island Expressway, would provide a simple,

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 natural border that would not only keep Bayside
2 compact, but improve the contiguous and
3 compactness of the 19th and 23rd Districts.

4 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you very much. Our
5 next speaker is Linda Lee, to be followed by John
6 Albert.

7 MS. LEE: Good evening members of the
8 Commission and, also, to the community members.
9 Thank you so much. My name is Linda Lee. I am
10 the executive director of KCS, Korean Community
11 Services. We have been around the community for
12 40 years now and I just wanted to address a
13 couple of things.

14 In the beginning, you had said that the
15 Commission had taken testimony in consideration,
16 but I see a lot of the same faces here tonight
17 for the third time. And I feel like there are
18 certain, like they said before, while there are
19 or have been certain improvements, there are some
20 districts that we still feel concerned about as a
21 community.

22 We are also part of ACCORD as well. And you
23 also mentioned, at the beginning, that the lines
24 were not arbitrary, which is very true. However,
25 I think that all of us, here, can agree to the

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 fact that we hope that the lines are for the
2 community's benefit, and that you would listen to
3 the testimony of people here tonight.

4 I think, you know, like my other fellow
5 members of ACCORD, the area that we are concerned
6 with is Bayside. I, personally, live at 226th
7 Street and 57th Avenue, and I know that when I
8 first moved into that neighborhood, a lot of
9 people referred to it as Bayside, and that's even
10 part of our address, actually.

11 So I think what we are asking is to keep,
12 like the unity map says, we are asking to keep
13 Bayside whole and the community can follow the
14 natural boundaries of that district. A lot of
15 the people, in the community, identify as being
16 part of Bayside. We ask, instead of separating
17 those two neighborhoods, that you keep everything
18 whole in and intact.

19 So we fully support the unity maps that
20 AALDEF has come up with, and we have had several
21 talks with other groups in the community, and
22 everyone seems to agree on this, and we ask that
23 you, please, please, please, listen to what we
24 have to say on this matter. Thank you.

25 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 is John Albert, to be followed by the Honorable
2 Council Member Dan Halloran.

3 MR. ALBERT: Good evening. My name is John
4 Albert. I am with an organization called Taking
5 Our Seats. Taking Our Seats is a Queens-based,
6 nonprofit, nonpartisan civic organization
7 organized to empower the South-Asian community in
8 the electoral process. Taking Our Seat has
9 actively participated in this process in the
10 prior two rounds, and I want to thank you for
11 giving us the opportunity to speak here tonight.

12 I also want to thank, specifically, the
13 Commission staff, who have been very helpful in
14 hearing, both, our complaints and our kudos, and
15 so, thank you very much to the Commission staff.

16 You may not be aware of this, if you weren't
17 here at the prior hearing, but according to the
18 2010 census, there is 351,000 South Asians in New
19 York City. That represents an increase of
20 61 percent from ten years ago.

21 And nearly 60 percent, of these 351,000
22 people, live in Queens County. And if you are
23 not aware of Queens County, the largest
24 South-Asian clusters are in Richmond Hill, and
25 South Ozone Park, and Briarwood, and Jamaica

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Hills, Jackson Heights, and Elmhurst, Bellerose,
2 Floral Park, Astoria and Long Island City.

3 I want to focus my attention on the first
4 two that I mentioned. First, Briarwood and
5 Jamaica Hills, Districts 24 and 29, under the
6 November and December 4th plan. It is just
7 inconceivable, to us, how adjoining neighborhoods
8 were split in the most-recent plans. There
9 hasn't been a single ounce of testimony, up to
10 this point, that would split them in two.

11 So it's very surprising, to us, to see those
12 two neighborhoods, Briarwood and Jamaica Hills,
13 were split. We are asking that you keep those
14 two neighborhoods together. These neighborhoods
15 share a common, South-Asian characteristic. They
16 share common schools, common transportation, and
17 most importantly, they share a common desire to
18 be kept together.

19 The second neighborhood cluster I want to
20 talk about is Richmond Hill, bounded in the 28th
21 Council District. The community has made a
22 strong case, up to this point, to stop using
23 Lefferts Boulevard as a boundary, and we hope to
24 move away from Lefferts as a boundary. Moreover,
25 the western boundaries are automatic for us.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Right now, the way you have things drawn,
2 John Adams High School, the temple, all of these
3 things are found just three blocks outside of the
4 district (two-and-a-half minute timer alarmed).
5 What we are asking for is that you move the
6 boundary west.

7 I want to leave you with one final thought.
8 I think some people have forgotten that the Asian
9 community, in Bayside and everywhere, the South
10 Asians, everywhere, are protected under the
11 Voting Rights Act. I hope you keep that in mind
12 when you make your submissions to the Justice
13 Department.

14 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
15 is the Honorable Councilman, Dan Halloran, to be
16 followed by Patricia Martin.

17 MR. HALLORAN: I have a written copy of the
18 testimony for the Commission. I want to read the
19 second-to-last paragraph of the testimony.
20 Commissioners, I am going to do something I have
21 never done before. I am, actually, not going to
22 speak before you. I have never done that in the
23 history of my political career. I have never
24 chosen to read from text before. I am doing it,
25 because I think it's very important that I make

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 all of the points contained in my letter.

2 I must reiterate my strong objection to the
3 proposal presented by the New York City
4 Districting Commission and support the concerns
5 of my local civic organizations. Since the
6 release of this plan, I have been contacted by no
7 less than almost every civic leader, resident and
8 community leader of the northeast Queens area.
9 This proposal ignores traditional neighborhood
10 boundaries, and dilutes our zoning laws, and the
11 implications created by them.

12 Further, changes to the district boundaries,
13 and areas that were never concerned before, have
14 expressed concerns, to the Commission, are no
15 less than the Broadway-Flushing Homeowners'
16 Association, the Mitchell-Linden Civic
17 Association, the North Flushing Civic
18 Association, the Auburndale Community Association
19 and the State Trooper Civic Association.

20 At least 16 individuals have contacted my
21 office, cc'ing me on Commission letters, which
22 have been submitted to you. Our State Senator,
23 Tony Avella, and I, for the first time in our
24 political careers, are in agreement on something.
25 Council Member Peter Koo, and Council Member Mark

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Weprin, and I sat down, extensively, to discuss
2 these lines, in submissions made to you, with
3 regard to the boundaries of our respective
4 districts.

5 At the December 4th meeting, this Commission
6 took a significant step forward, and I salute you
7 for removing the Mitchell-Linden housing complex
8 from the 19th Council District, and restoring it
9 to the 20th Council District, where it has always
10 been. However, two square blocks, which are
11 still zoned R4, remained in my low-density, 19th
12 Council District.

13 Those blocks are bounded by Parsons
14 Boulevard and Willets Point Boulevard, 126th
15 Street and 25th Drive. They should be united
16 with the rest of Mitchell Gardens in the 20th
17 Council District.

18 More significantly, however, is this
19 Commission's proposal that we divide the
20 Broadway-Flushing community in half along 33rd
21 Avenue. I have attended both public hearings, as
22 you well know, and I have reviewed the public
23 testimony on the Commission's website. There is
24 absolutely no basis for this change, which was
25 made without any notice or request by any of our

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 civic associations, their leaders or myself.

2 The Broadway-Flushing and North Flushing
3 communities, would be seriously, adversely
4 affected by these changes, and the neighborhoods
5 north, between 150th Street and Utopia Parkway,
6 and the currently-proposed, council-district
7 lines divide the community in half, between
8 Council Districts 19 and 20. This area has a
9 single civic association, the Broadway-Flushing
10 Homeowners' Association. It is one
11 -- (two-and-a-half minute timer alarmed) -- one
12 of the largest and strongest associations in
13 northeastern Queens.

14 The Broadway-Flushing Homeowners'
15 Association have been very vocal and strong
16 proponents of protecting the character and
17 quality of their community, by preventing
18 up-zoning and rigorously building covenants,
19 including the Rickert-Finlay covenant, which were
20 established in partnership with my great-great
21 grandfather and granduncle, the Halloran Real
22 Estate Company, in the 1870s.

23 MR. HACKWORTH: We have your written
24 testimony.

25 Can you --

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 MR. HALLORAN: Sure. Contrary to public
2 submissions, which call for the specific creation
3 of an Asian or ethnic district, I can't help but
4 recall the words of the great New Yorker,
5 naturalist and United States President, Teddy
6 Roosevelt, when he said, "There is no room, in
7 this country, for hyphenated Americanisms."
8 Registered voters are American citizens entitled
9 to equal representation by elected
10 representatives.

11 We do not have proposals to create an Irish
12 district, an Italian district, a Greek district,
13 a district of green-eyed people, a district of
14 left-handed people. We are creating districts
15 for all New Yorkers. That's what this Commission
16 should be worried about.

17 In my office, I found groups as diverse as
18 KCF and KCS, who testified here with ACCORD. I
19 have worked, very closely, with the National
20 Temple and the Hindu societies of Southeast
21 Asians. However, it is clear that Bayside Hills
22 and Oakland Gardens chose to have
23 differentiations in their names. Twenty years
24 ago, they made a movement to change, what was
25 then Bayside, to call it, specifically, Oakland

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Gardens. They changed the ZIP code. They didn't
2 want to be associated with Bayside.

3 For some reason, now, that has changed. The
4 Commission's current proposals would be
5 detrimental to all of these neighborhoods. I
6 have no doubt the Commission is trying, very
7 hard, to take its input from both community
8 leaders and elected officials, as well as the
9 residents who will be affected. I know it's not
10 an easy task. Population is part of the
11 equation.

12 So are the civic associations, the zoning
13 resolutions and a variety of other interesting
14 issues that you have to deal with. But in order
15 to keep this neighborhood intact, without
16 creating gerrymandered districts,
17 Broadway-Flushing, in particular, needs to extend
18 the boundary line south, along 153rd Street, from
19 33rd Avenue, where the proposed boundary is, to
20 Northern Boulevard.

21 This boundary should then follow Northern
22 Boulevard east to 166th Street, and then south on
23 166th Street to 46th Avenue, where it would then
24 intersect with the Commission's current proposal
25 lines.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you.

2 MR. HALLORAN: Thank you for your time.

3 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker is Patricia
4 Martin, to be followed by Edward Wendell.

5 MS. PARTIN: Good evening. My name is
6 Patricia Martin. I am a resident of LeFrak City
7 and I am speaking as a resident of LeFrak City.
8 I am speaking as the president of the Friends of
9 the LeFrak Library and I am going to speak for
10 our children.

11 LeFrak is the heart of that community. So
12 to cut LeFrak out, just to take the circle, a
13 cookie-cutter, and take it out from that
14 community, it's just taking the heart out of that
15 community. Our children, in the surrounding
16 areas and us, we worship together. We are
17 educated together. We are part of that
18 community.

19 LeFrak is in the midst of a flux, a change.
20 And now to displace us, to take us from our
21 elected officials, to take us from what we know,
22 what we are a part of, makes no sense.

23 MR. HACKWORTH: Can you identify the
24 district that you were in?

25 MS. MARTIN: I am in District 21. We are

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 now under Councilman Danny Dromm, who has been
2 excellent working with us. Our City councilman,
3 our elected officials have worked with us to keep
4 libraries open, to keep our expansion of our
5 schools. We have worked, so hard, to turn this
6 community around, for you to come and take our
7 area out and to change it. So diverse, we are a
8 diverse ethnic community that should stay intact.

9 We are part of this community, the Elmhurst,
10 Corona community. LeFrak is not a city unto its
11 own. It is a part of the community. Reconsider.
12 Think about what you are doing to us. We are
13 part and parcel of the area and the community.
14 Thank you.

15 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
16 is Edward Wendell, to be followed by Dolores Orr.

17 MR. WENDELL: Good evening ladies and
18 gentlemen. Thank you for giving us the
19 opportunity to speak to you about this. I really
20 don't envy the decisions you are going to have to
21 make. I come from Woodhaven. I am president of
22 the Woodhaven Residents' Block Association.

23 What we do is we work with our residents and
24 we help people. We have a number of residents
25 here, tonight, who are going to speak to you, and

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 we have submitted written testimony asking you
2 not to divide our community. They are going to
3 tell you why it's not a good idea. They are
4 going to tell you why it's bad. I am not telling
5 you a theory about why it's bad. I am not
6 telling you why I think it's bad.

7 We have been divided. We are currently
8 divided between two districts. This isn't about
9 which district we end up in. This isn't about
10 which representative we get. We just know that
11 when we are divided. It weakens our position.

12 When we saw your first hearing's map, where
13 the Woodhaven area was almost entirely within one
14 district, we were excited. And we were excited
15 because we felt we were going to finally get an
16 opportunity to work with a representative to work
17 to help better our community and better the lives
18 of the residents of that community.

19 And we are extremely disappointed to see the
20 lines were back to where we were split again. We
21 ask you, with all due respect, to give us the
22 opportunity, this one time, to show what we can
23 do as a united community. Thank you very much.

24 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
25 is Dolores Orr, to be followed by Vedesh Persaud.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 MS. ORR: Good evening. My name is Dolores
2 Orr. I am a lifelong resident in the
3 neighborhood that is currently part of Council
4 District 32. I am chair of Community Board 14,
5 which covers Broad Channel and the Rockaways,
6 where we are stronger than Superstorm Sandy.

7 (Applause).

8 I am here this evening, though, as president
9 of the Rockaway Beach Civic Association. I first
10 want to thank the Commission for undertaking such
11 a monumental task. As they always say, no good
12 deed goes unpunished. I stand before you and,
13 respectfully, request you to reconsider your
14 recommendation for the new district lines for
15 District 32. Clearly, you are unaware the new
16 proposed lines will split a co-op and a civic
17 association and violates the Charter, which
18 states that districts' lines should keep, intact,
19 neighborhoods and communities with established
20 ties.

21 Rockaway Beach Civic Association has been in
22 existence and has represented the homeowners
23 since 1964. Our boundaries are Beach 108th
24 Street to Beach 79th Street. Dayton Towers Park,
25 a Mitchell-owned co-op, is made up of seven

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 buildings, 12-story buildings. While separated
2 geographically, three of those buildings are from
3 105th Street to 102nd Street and the Shore Front
4 Parkway, and their other four buildings are from
5 Beach 81st Street to Beach 74th Street.

6 They are a single co-op with the same
7 property manager and the same board of directors.
8 Council 32 lines, as they are today, ending at
9 74th Street, assures that both of these intact
10 communities are represented by the same council
11 member. The proposed changes to District 32's
12 lines, moving it west to 90th Street, will split
13 these groups between two council members, with
14 three buildings being in 32 and four buildings in
15 31, and it will isolate and disconnect 12 blocks
16 from Beach 90th Street to Beach 79th Street of
17 the Rockaway Beach Civic Association.

18 Both of these entities, solid, longstanding
19 organizations, in District 32, must continue to
20 have representation of a single council member.
21 I, therefore, respectfully request that the
22 Rockaway Peninsula eastern boundary of 32 be
23 returned to the original line of Beach 74th
24 Street and not the proposed line of Beach 90th
25 Street. Thank you very much.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker is Vedesh
2 Persaud, to be followed by William Stanford, Jr.

3 MR. PERSAUD: Good evening, everyone. Thank
4 you for the opportunity to submit my testimony.
5 My name is Vedesh Persaud. I am the program
6 coordinator for ICA, also known as Indo-Caribbean
7 Alliance. As some of you may know, ICA is a
8 nonpartisan 501(C)(3) organization that provides
9 a wide range of services for the Indo-Caribbean,
10 South Asian community in South Queens.

11 Our members are mostly Guyanese, Trinidadian
12 and South-Asians, who reside in Richmond Hill,
13 Ozone Park, Woodhaven and South Ozone Park.
14 These areas are currently represented by Council
15 Districts 28 and 32. We came before this
16 Commission, along with our partners, on
17 October 10th. We are here again, today, to
18 request that the community be kept in a single
19 district reflecting the realities of where the
20 community is, except for the political division,
21 along Lefferts Boulevard, with City Council
22 lines.

23 At this point, South Ozone Park, part of the
24 same communities of interest are also divided
25 along Lefferts Boulevard. This addition is

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 significant, since it affects so many of our
2 residents. The only senior center serving our
3 community, the United Hindu Cultural Consulate
4 Senior Center, located at 119th Street, is
5 completely cut out, and host of other key
6 establishments, including John Adams High School,
7 are also left out of our community. We are
8 asking the Commission to remove Lefferts
9 Boulevard as the dividing line in our community.
10 This is the same request we have made at each
11 appearance before this Commission.

12 While we appreciate the changes that were
13 made in Richmond Hill, the process is incomplete
14 without more adjustments to South Ozone Park as
15 well. These are part of a single community and
16 they must be kept as a single district. We
17 appreciate the opportunity to testify before you
18 again, and we hope you see our changes to the
19 proposed maps with regard to Council Districts 28
20 and 32. Thank you.

21 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
22 is William Stanford, Jr., to be followed by Mary
23 Varuska.

24 MR. STANFORD: The name is Mr. X. You know
25 what you are doing. I could be home watching

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 (unintelligible). Instead, I am babysitting you,
2 because, apparently, you can't take care of
3 yourselves. You can't take care of these
4 districts. I don't know if I said this during
5 rounds one and two, rounds one and/or two, but
6 you should keep Ozone Park and Richmond Hill
7 together. They are right next to each other.

8 I can't read this coloring book you gave us,
9 so I have to read the color version, then you got
10 to tell me how it should be fairly drawn. Okay?
11 As I said before, the best way to redraw these
12 lines is to go by the bus corridors, then you can
13 tell me they are the more popular streets. With
14 that, you can determine how the lines should be
15 redrawn.

16 But so far, you haven't taken that into
17 consideration, because you're pinheaded, and as I
18 said last Monday, as the saying goes, your hard
19 head will give you a soft behind. And, you know,
20 this is your third time in Queens and you still
21 haven't learned that lesson.

22 As I said before, your hard head will give
23 you a soft behind. You ignored all of the Queens
24 residents except myself. I live in Bronx Island,
25 but that's another story. Okay? To the extent I

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 am telling you, sitting there telling the chair.
2 Okay? Like Ben, you, too, can stay at home and
3 be a housewife. Just put on a dress. You are
4 both equally responsible for what you did to me
5 on October 2nd.

6 You already know what you did to me and my
7 borough on October 2nd, disgraced me. You
8 violated my rights. You know how you violated my
9 rights. I don't have to mention it. I could,
10 but we could here until 6 a.m. tomorrow morning.
11 I don't want to take their time.

12 So, as I said before, you want to redraw
13 these lines fairly?

14 Go by the bus corridors. I can help you,
15 but the problem is I don't have a computer. As I
16 said, this coloring book doesn't cut it for me.

17 If it's a coloring book, it should be shown
18 in color, not black and white, like in the '50s.
19 As I said, Richmond Hill and Ozone Park, they
20 should be together. They are right next to each
21 other. That's outrageous. Apparently, you don't
22 know these neighborhoods well. You don't know
23 these boroughs well.

24 Do you live in New York City or do you live
25 Upstate? (Two-and-a-half minute timer alarmed).

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Do you live in New Jersey?

2 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you.

3 MR. STANFORD: Thank you.

4 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker will be
5 Mary Varuska, to followed by Henry Euler.

6 MS. VARUSKA: Good evening, honorable
7 members of the New York City Districting
8 Commission. Thank you, once again, for coming to
9 Queens County to hear our concerns. My name is
10 Mary Varuska. I reside at 34-10 94th Street,
11 Jackson Heights, Queens, in the Brulene
12 Cooperative Apartments.

13 I am president of the Brulene Cooperative.
14 Adjacent to Brulene Cooperative are Southridge
15 Sections 1, 2, 3 and 4, and Northridge Sections
16 1, 2, 3 and 4, Cooperative Apartments. These
17 cooperative apartments were developed in the
18 early 1950s. Throughout this half century, we
19 have worked together on issues that affected our
20 building maintenance and our quality of life.

21 Our proudest achievement, in all of these
22 years, is a NORC, a Naturally Occurring
23 Retirement Community, established in 1999. It is
24 significant that eight separate cooperative
25 cooperations worked to create this NORC and have

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 supported it through service and natural
2 commitments. This effort, clearly, establishes
3 us as a community within the Jackson Heights
4 community.

5 Our NORC provides services to our Asian
6 population, so that they continue to enjoy the
7 quality of life that our cooperative community
8 provides. Because of this commonality of
9 interest, we feel it important that all of the
10 buildings, within these cooperatives, be in the
11 same councilmanic district, 25.

12 The present lines exclude the four
13 Southridge 4 buildings, that are located on the
14 western side of Junction Boulevard, between
15 Northern Boulevard and 34th Avenue. We request
16 that the 25th Council District include Brulene
17 Cooperative, Southridge Sections 1, 2 and 3, and
18 all of the Section 4 cooperative, as well as
19 Northridge 1, 2 and 3 cooperatives. Thank you,
20 very much, for your time, and I appreciate your
21 consideration of our request.

22 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
23 is Henry Euler, to be followed by Stacey Amato.

24 MR. EULER: My name is Henry Euler. I am
25 first vice president of Auburndale Improvement

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Association. We have over 600 members. We cover
2 the Auburndale section of Flushing and Western
3 Bayside. We are the oldest and the largest civic
4 association in Queens County.

5 We have issues with the plan that the
6 Commission has put forth just recently. We have
7 issues with a lot of the things in it. We
8 endorse the Queens Civic Congress' proposal to
9 amend certain things in your proposals. That
10 particular proposal, the Queens Civic Congress
11 proposal, has been endorsed by Councilmen
12 Halloran and Koo. I wish that you will look at
13 the maps, that they are presenting, as well as
14 the statements that go with that.

15 We have an issue with a boundary line along
16 169th Street. It's a vertical boundary line. It
17 cuts the neighborhood, of Station Road, into two
18 parts. You can move that boundary line three
19 blocks to the west, 166th Street.

20 CHAIRMAN ROMANO: Would you tell us what
21 district?

22 You haven't mentioned a district.

23 MR. EULER: Oh, this is the 19th, 23rd and
24 20th Districts. Our community is divided among
25 three districts. Okay? So if you would move

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 that boundary line westward, then Station Road
2 would be in the 19th District, where it should
3 be.

4 We are also supporting our friends in
5 Broadway-Flushing. We feel that the horizontal
6 line, along 33rd Avenue, is not appropriate. It
7 divides that wonderful neighborhood into two
8 parts. We urge that you drop it to Northern
9 Boulevard, according to the Queens Civic Congress
10 plan.

11 We also support our neighbors in North
12 Flushing. They want to be in the 19th District.
13 They are R2A neighborhood. You put them in there
14 and they should stay there. We also support
15 Mitchell-Linden, who wants to be in the 20th
16 District.

17 Finally, there is a little piece of Bayside
18 I wish you would like at, Western Bayside. The
19 boundary lines are 48th Avenue, on the north,
20 Clearview, on the east, Long Island Expressway,
21 on the south, and Francis Lewis Boulevard,
22 roughly, on the west. It's put the from 23rd to
23 the 20th. We hope that you will reconsider
24 putting that back into the
25 23rd -- (two-and-a-half minute timer

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 alarmed) -- where it belongs with other one- and
2 two-family districts. Thank you.

3 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
4 is Stacey Amato, to be followed by Colin Bucca.

5 MS. AMATO: Good evening. My name is Stacy
6 Amato and I am a resident of the Rockaway Beach
7 community. Rockaway Beach is part of District
8 Council 32, and I want to speak to you about how
9 that is being broken up. The Rockaways, as
10 mentioned before by Dolores Orr, president of my
11 civic association, we survived Sandy and I am
12 quite convinced we will survive you.

13 I am asking you to keep Council District 32
14 as it is. I would like you to reconsider your
15 recommendation for the proposed district lines.
16 Your lines will split the Rockaway Beach Civic
17 Association and Dayton Towers, a seven-building
18 co-op. It's a Mitchell-Llama housing unit of 12
19 floors. So you will be breaking up seven large
20 buildings that are all laying right in front of
21 Shore Front Parkway.

22 You are, literally, dividing those buildings
23 in half and we are working very hard to rebuild
24 our community after Sandy. And as your
25 guidelines state, or the Charter says, you have

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 to keep established ties of common interest.

2 If Sandy isn't a common interest of
3 Rockaway, what else would be?

4 So our civic group needs to stay together to
5 rebuild, including our businesses, and breaking
6 that up would disenfranchise other groups into a
7 lot of small groups.

8 Also, I just want to point out to you that
9 when the State set out to redraw the lines and
10 redistrict, they withdrew and kept the lines the
11 way they were, because it would have a negative
12 impact on the community. We can't break up
13 Rockaway. If you look on your map, the area we
14 are talking about is straight across the bottom,
15 and you are dividing it, right down the center,
16 and it would break us up. And right now, we need
17 to stay focused and together and rebuild our
18 community. Thank you.

19 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
20 is Colin Bucca, to be followed by Bill Meehan.

21 MR. BUCCA: Good evening. I am talking
22 about Woodhaven.

23 Have you guys asked yourselves: What is a
24 community?

25 What is a neighborhood?

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 It's not just equations on a spreadsheet.
2 It's not just lines on a map. It's people. We
3 move to a neighborhood because we like it. We
4 pass by. Some people are born here.

5 A neighborhood and a community is people.
6 How we interact with each other, go shopping. We
7 have a lot of churches. We got temples. We got
8 Baptist, Methodist, Catholic. We got a lot of
9 civic organizations, Woodhaven Residents' Block
10 Association. Lots of people there, and we are
11 just, basically, starting the last couple of
12 years, really getting our voice together.

13 All right?

14 A snowstorm, a couple of years ago, people
15 died in our neighborhood from a lack of City
16 services. The last one we had, they had the
17 plows out ahead of time. We had Commissioner
18 Kelly down at our meetings. We have had
19 representatives, from the Mayor's office, down at
20 our meetings. We are, finally, starting to get a
21 voice. We are, finally, getting over being
22 Queens and New York.

23 We are learning, Hey, we exist and we can
24 get people to look at you. I look at that map in
25 the room over there. That will dilute our voice.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 It will fragment it, make it cheap and thin. I
2 don't know how else to explain it. When people
3 go to a particular neighborhood, to live -- I
4 bought a house.

5 I own more on a mortgage than it's worth,
6 but I am still sticking it out, and I have three
7 generations in my house, me, and my wife, and my
8 daughters, and my grandkids were there. Moving
9 these boundaries around, for some equation on a
10 spreadsheet, is wrong. A neighborhood is defined
11 by the people that live there. I live in
12 Woodhaven. It's my neighborhood. I moved there.
13 I invested heavily in there.

14 And now with the wave of a pen, what I chose
15 and what I decided to make my life is not what it
16 was. It's something different now. They say
17 that the pen is mightier than the sword. Please
18 do not attack us with a deadly weapon. Thank
19 you.

20 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
21 is Bill Meehan, to be followed by Joel Kuszai.

22 MR. MEEHAN: Good evening, Chairman Romano,
23 and members of the Committee, and fellow Queens
24 residents. My name is Bill Meehan and I am a
25 volunteer member of Citizens Union, a

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 nonpartisan, good-government group dedicated to
2 making democracy work for all New Yorkers.

3 I am focusing my remarks, tonight, on
4 Queens, as some representatives of Citizens Union
5 have previously testified in the Manhattan, Bronx
6 and Brooklyn hearings. I am a resident of
7 Jackson Heights and I am deeply involved in the
8 civic life of Queens. I cherish and respect the
9 diversity that makes Queens a unique and
10 wonderful place to live.

11 While Citizens Union recognizes that
12 improvements were made in Queens to keep some
13 neighborhoods together, including Elmhurst,
14 Cambria Heights and Maspeth, there are additional
15 neighborhoods that the Commission should, again,
16 try to keep whole. District 19 does not include
17 all of Bayside, Oakland Gardens, as was requested
18 by a majority of community members, during public
19 testimony, which would unite the Asian-American
20 community.

21 There has been a 50 percent growth of
22 Asian-American communities in both of these
23 districts, and we recommend that the committee
24 fully include Bayside, Oakland Gardens in
25 District 19. We recognize that community members

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 have also noted that the residential
2 neighborhoods of Broadway-Flushing is now
3 divided, which used to be wholly within District
4 19.

5 Again, we urge the Commission to seek to
6 address both of these concerns and to publically
7 document its decision before it votes on the
8 final maps. The South-Asian community of Ozone
9 Park and Cypress Hills is divided between
10 District 37 and District 32. While the
11 Commission stated it would not create another
12 crossover district, between Queens and Brooklyn,
13 as District 34 already does it, it makes it
14 possible to shift this crossover to another area.

15 Testimony, at several hearings, indicated
16 that the South-Asian community has requested this
17 change. We urge the Commission to examine
18 whether shifting a crossover district, to these
19 counties, is a feasible alternative. For all of
20 the proposed council districts, Citizens Union
21 recommends that the Commission provides, to the
22 public, in advance of any vote on final maps, a
23 written rationale detailing its decision-making
24 for each district.

25 For example, this rationale should

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 include -- (two-and-a-half minute timer
2 alarmed) -- how the Commission addressed the
3 requirements in the City Charter, and,
4 specifically, how it handled the public while
5 regarding their own districts. This information
6 is essential to ensure that the public has more
7 information about the choices that were made and,
8 potentially, more confidence in the end result.
9 Thank you for the opportunity to testify.

10 Mr. HACKWORTH: Joel Kuszai is not speaking,
11 so our next speaker will be Al Baldeo, to be
12 followed by Marianne Blenkinsopp.

13 MR. BALDEO: Good evening, members of the
14 Commission. I am the district leader of South
15 Ozone Park, Richmond Hill and Woodhaven. And I
16 come before you, both, to compliment you and to
17 ask you to go a little bit further in the last
18 map that you drew. Regarding Brighton Park and
19 the shifted western boundary, because that is the
20 issue here. You should shift that boundary to
21 Woodhaven Boulevard and I have submitted maps
22 showing what I mean.

23 To keep the community of interest whole, you
24 have to move this line to Woodhaven. It's, right
25 now, at 103rd Avenue -- 103rd Street. Sorry.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 That still divides the community. As a matter of
2 fact, you barely kept John Adams High School in,
3 P.S. 108, but you have excluded John Adams High
4 School, the America's School of Heros, M.S. 137.

5 How can you do that when our children go
6 there?

7 Also, the many cultural and iconic
8 institutions that define us as a community. I,
9 therefore, urge you to move that boundary as
10 defined here. As a matter of fact, The New York
11 Times recently published an article, and I have
12 photocopied it for you, which shows how that
13 community is defined.

14 And it includes the boundary right off
15 Woodhaven Boulevard. It has 98th Street and
16 Richmond Hill and takes it to Woodhaven
17 Boulevard. I have submitted it for your benefit,
18 so you can read it, and you can see what this is
19 a community of interest.

20 More importantly, the Long Island Rail Road
21 tracks, there are many issues that are now being
22 raised as to what should be done with those
23 tracks. I have submitted to the newspaper,
24 Queens Highlights, if its going to be converted,
25 restored or if it's going to be kept the same

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 way.

2 For those folks, who live and work on those
3 railroad tracks, over 100 small businesses, and
4 I, personally, visited them and documented their
5 opinions. They put food on the table. They are
6 taxpayers. They have contracts with the City.
7 They pay rent to the City. As a matter of fact,
8 they pay over \$1,500 a month, \$3,000 in rent, bus
9 company and many other service-oriented
10 institutions.

11 And, therefore, if you lock them out of a
12 district, they will not have a voice, a common
13 voice to have their issues heard, their families
14 and their economies discussed. That is why it's
15 incumbent upon you to keep those small
16 businesses, on the railroad tracks, in place.
17 Keep them together along with the 106th Precinct,
18 so that that community can have common interest,
19 common problems resolved in a way that is
20 democratic and American (two-and-a-half minute
21 timer alarmed). That is what you should do.

22 Lastly, keep Woodhaven together. Woodhaven
23 has common interests. It is an improvement
24 district. It has its own block association.
25 They have common interests. I, respectfully, ask

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 on behalf of all the constituents that I
2 represent, to keep the lines for Woodhaven, move
3 it from 93rd Street, and I compliment the
4 Commission for the work you have done so far. I
5 do believe you can take the ball, a bit further,
6 and make it better. I compliment Mr. Hum, who
7 personally came into that area, and saw what the
8 community of interest is like.

9 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
10 is Marianne Blenkinsopp, to be followed by Giedra
11 Kregzdys.

12 MS. BLENKINSOPP: Good evening. My name is
13 Marianne Blenkinsopp. I am a member of the
14 Woodhaven Residents' Block Association. I have
15 lived in the neighborhood of Woodhaven for 30
16 years. I am here to voice my strong objection,
17 and the objection of many of my neighbors, to the
18 Districting Commission's proposal to divide
19 Woodhaven.

20 Woodhaven is a distinct, unified community
21 and should not be split. Anyone, who is familiar
22 with Woodhaven, including Mr. Ognibene, who used
23 to be my City Council member, knows we are a
24 clear, well-defined neighborhood with a true
25 sense of identity.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 In its preliminary draft proposal, the
2 Districting Commission seemed to have understood
3 this, that proposal that put virtually all of
4 Woodhaven in the same district, and to the praise
5 of the block association and many others in
6 Woodhaven.

7 Unfortunately, the December 4th proposal
8 undid that good work. You tried to divide
9 Woodhaven's residential area into three parts
10 spread across two districts. And you, basically,
11 switched the parts of Woodhaven that each of the
12 neighborhood's two current City Council members
13 would represent.

14 Our executive director had said incumbents
15 relationships, with their constituents, is an
16 important consideration for the Commission. If
17 so, then you should not have put forward a plan
18 that, dramatically, increases the number of
19 Woodhaven residents, who will be represented by a
20 new and unfamiliar City Council members.

21 Our situation is already confusing. Few
22 residents know which district encompasses our
23 library, our firehouses, our schools, our parks.
24 You can fix this problem, but you have, instead,
25 tried to worsen it. You chose to do the complete

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 opposite of what the Woodhaven Residents' Block
2 Association recommended in its testimony from
3 October 10, 2012.

4 Your proposal, if adopted, will confuse our
5 residents, weaken our neighborhood's
6 representation, dilute our voice, and put us at a
7 disadvantage when it comes to funding, services
8 and attention for our City Council members. Your
9 December 4th proposal was baffling, and very
10 simply, the wrong thing to do. Now you have a
11 chance to do the right thing. Seize that chance.
12 Keep Woodhaven united. Thank you.

13 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
14 is Giedra Kregzdys, to be followed by Rasel
15 Rahman.

16 MS. KREGZDYS: Good evening. My name is
17 Giedra Kregzdys. I am a member of the Woodhaven
18 Block Association. Woodhaven is a thriving and
19 stable community, but it will never reach its
20 full potential as long as it's treated as a
21 political afterthought. The continued division,
22 of City Council representation for Woodhaven, is
23 illogical and irresponsible.

24 As members of the Woodhaven Block
25 Association, we represent all of the people who

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 live in our town. We are speaking out, urging
2 you to reunite the fractured districts into one
3 whole community. This is an opportunity, for
4 each and every one of you here, to help us, the
5 other New Yorkers. We deserve the respect and
6 consideration given to all of the other
7 neighborhoods. You must redraw the lines. One
8 City Council member for one united Woodhaven.
9 Thank you.

10 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
11 is Rasel Rahman, to be followed by Tyler Cassell.

12 MS. RAHMAN: Good evening, members of the
13 Commission and community. My name is Rasel
14 Rahman. I am here representing CHHAYA CDC, New
15 York, an organization based in Jackson Heights.
16 Also, we are part of ACCORD. We work, primarily,
17 with the South-Asian population, in Queens, on
18 issues focused on housing and community
19 development. In addition, I am a resident of the
20 Briarwood community under the 24th Council
21 District.

22 I am testifying today, because South Asians,
23 immigrants from Bangladesh, India, Pakistan,
24 Nepal, Bhutan, Sri Lanka, Tibet, Maldives,
25 Afghanistan, and as well as diaspora from places

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 such as the Caribbean, is one of the fastest
2 growing ethnic populations in New York City. The
3 growth rate of our population, in the last
4 decade, has been more than 159 percent.

5 However, to date, the South-Asian community
6 has had no representation in the City, State and
7 Congressional levels of New York City, despite
8 our growing presence and influence. The
9 South-Asian community is a new and emerging
10 immigrant group in New York City, and lives in
11 concentrated communities in proximity to certain
12 neighborhoods. South Asians tend to concentrate
13 because of language limitations, cultural and
14 facilities, and a network of community members
15 that can rely on each other for support.

16 One such community is the Bangladeshi
17 community in Briarwood, Queens, where I have been
18 living since 2007. This is also where my
19 community lives, holds social and cultural
20 events, shops and goes to worship. The
21 neighborhood is as much a part of our community,
22 as much as the community is part of the
23 neighborhood.

24 The proposed redistricting separates
25 Briarwood and Jamaica Hills and separates a

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 common Bangladeshi community. The dividing of a
2 community, that has not even come to fully grasp
3 the implications of redistricting, renders the
4 divided community in a state of vulnerability and
5 confusion. They cannot access certain resources
6 that had previously been familiar to them. The
7 unity of the group, in a common district, will
8 encourage group solidarity and growing awareness
9 of shared needs and concerns, and as a result,
10 growing civic engagement.

11 So I am asking for Briarwood and Jamaica
12 Hills to be kept together as it is now in
13 24th District. The proposed redistricting splits
14 the community in two separates districts, which
15 means that already limited resources,
16 institutions and other important support systems,
17 for the community, gets divided into separate
18 districts.

19 We are urge this Commission to take a closer
20 look at these neighborhoods and ensure that the
21 South-Asian, Bangladeshi-American
22 communities -- (two-and-a-half minute timer
23 alarmed) -- are kept together and not splintered
24 among the newly-drawn districts. We also support
25 AALDEF's, Asian-American neighborhood boundaries

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 and communities of interest survey, which lists
2 the clusters, and shared concerns, and issues
3 among certain Asian-American communities. Thank
4 you.

5 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
6 is Tyler Cassell, to be followed by Mazeda Uddin.

7 MR. CASSELL: Good evening. My name is
8 Tyler Cassell. I am president of the North
9 Flushing Civic Association, a homeowners group,
10 consisting of about 90 blocks of Northern Queens,
11 also a Community Board 7 member, and vice
12 president of the Queens Civic Congress, an
13 organization representing over 100 homeowners'
14 civic groups in Queens.

15 I come here, tonight, with a very simple
16 request. That request is to adopt the council
17 lines, described in a joint letter of District 20
18 Councilman Peter Koo, and District 19 Councilman
19 Dan Halloran, dated December 4, 2012. Several
20 civic organizations have met with our council
21 members to finalize these lines. These
22 demarcations represent the best boundaries for
23 the best government in the coming years. A copy
24 of this letter is attached and so is a detailed
25 map showing these boundary lines.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 We are all in agreement. In brief, we are
2 asking that, number one, the Mitchell-Linden
3 complex, of 3,500 units, a shopping center and
4 multifamily housing, to the east, be placed in
5 District 20. They share common interests and
6 concerns with Downtown Flushing, which is a mix
7 of residential and commercial uses.

8 Mitchell-Linden is a city unto itself, kept
9 together, as it always has been.

10 Number two, North Flushing's single-family
11 housing section, to the south of the
12 Mitchell-Linden apartments, to be placed in
13 District 19 to the east. This section is part of
14 the same zoning and housing stock that extends
15 all the way to Little Neck Bay.

16 We share common interests with this area.
17 We should be represented by a council member who
18 represents this area. The population and ethnic
19 boundaries, for making these changes, almost is
20 an even swap, so there are no conflicts with the
21 City guidelines of council districts.

22 Number three, we also support the boundary
23 lines for the Broadway-Flushing and Auburndale
24 areas, as detailed on the map, because it keeps
25 those areas together, too. We suggest the

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Commission use the Queens Civic Congress
2 redistricting report, submitted to the
3 Commission, as a template for district boundaries
4 going forward. This extensive report uses the
5 input from many civic organizations representing
6 hundreds of thousands of organizations who live
7 there and know their communities best.

8 In doing so, the City Council members would
9 find it easier to serve the constituents. We, as
10 residents, in turn, find it easy to work with
11 them, with consistency, on relevant issues and
12 concerns. A better, workable government should
13 be our mutual goal with this process. Thank you,
14 very much, for making these changes.

15 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
16 is Mazeda Uddin, to be followed by Sandi Viviani.

17 MS. UDDIN: Good evening, respected
18 Commissioners. All my respected Commissioners.
19 My name is Mazeda Uddin. I am the National
20 Women's Coordinator of the Alliance of South
21 Asian American Labor and a resident of Jamaica
22 Hills, Queens.

23 ASAAL is a community-based organization,
24 whose membership includes trade unionists that
25 are of South-Asian heritage. Our mission is to

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 increase the culture of civic participation in
2 the South-Asian-American community, based on our
3 organizing experiences in the labor movement.

4 ASAAL's membership spans the five boroughs
5 of the City and our membership in the largest
6 borough of Queens. Our organization has been
7 advocating for the empowerment of
8 South-Asian-Americans in the redistricting
9 process since 2010.

10 I want to bring you attention to the
11 24th Council District, which would divide the
12 South-Asian community at 150th Street. The maps,
13 released on November 15, 2012, separate Jamaica
14 Hills from Briarwood, thereby, diluting the
15 strength of the community there. The community
16 objects to the proposed council district maps
17 that were released on November 15, 2012.

18 The proposed maps split the growing and
19 vibrant South-Asian-American neighborhoods of
20 Briarwood and Jamaica Hills from each other. The
21 proposed maps place Jamaica Hills in District 24
22 and Briarwood in District 29. District 29
23 includes Rego Park and Forest Hills, areas that
24 do not have any common connections with
25 Briarwood.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Briarwood is in Community District 8, while
2 the rest of the new 29th District is in Community
3 Board 6. But ethnic and socioeconomic
4 compositions of the schools, in Briarwood, are
5 not the same as those in Forest Hills and Rego
6 Park. The students of P.S. 117, P.S. 82, P.S.
7 182 and J.H.S. 217 are, predominantly, South
8 Asian and Latino. Briarwood and Jamaica Hills
9 have always been kept together through this
10 process until now. I was really shocked to see
11 them split up in this latest version of the map.

12 We demand to keep our
13 community -- (two-and-a-half minute timer
14 alarmed) -- united and adhere to your duties,
15 under the Charter of the City of New York, to
16 preserve communities of interest. We ask the
17 Commission to redraw the lines and keep Briarwood
18 and Jamaica Hills together in District 24. Thank
19 you.

20 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
21 is Sandi Viviani, to be followed by Arthur
22 Viviani.

23 MS. VIVIANI: Good evening, members of the
24 Commission. I am Sandi Viviani. My husband,
25 Art, and I, have lived in the Broadway-Flushing

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 area for over 40 years and, both, have served
2 multiple times as president of the
3 Broadway-Flushing Homeowners' Association, and I
4 am the zoning chairperson.

5 In an effort to save time, I will not
6 discuss the character of our neighborhood, as I
7 know this will be addressed by others here this
8 evening. We want to remain in the 19th Council
9 District. I want to address another issue. For
10 many years, I was also the coordinator for the
11 Board of Elections, at the polling site located
12 at St. Andrew, on 158th Street and Northern
13 Boulevard.

14 As coordinator, I, basically, ran the
15 electoral process at the polling site. I wish to
16 discuss two of the expectations of Mr. Steven
17 Choi, of the MinKwon Center for Community Action.
18 On page 1, of his undated letter, he asserts that
19 "Many Korean-American voters are disenfranchised,
20 because they are confused by complicated
21 procedures, denied in-language materials and
22 unlawfully harassed at the polls."

23 As far back as I can recall, the St. Andrew
24 polling place has signs in several languages,
25 including Korean and Chinese, explaining the

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 voting process and depicting what was, in my time
2 with the Board, within the voting booths,
3 displayed on all election district sign-in tables
4 and posted on the walls.

5 In addition, there are at least six
6 translators present at each election, three of
7 those speaking Korean, two of these speaking
8 Chinese and one Spanish speaker. In addition,
9 many of the poll workers are Asian. Moreover,
10 there is one police officer present to address
11 any behavior claimed by a voter.

12 Officials, from the Board of Elections and
13 the Department of Justice, visit the polling site
14 regularly, on election day, to ensure all rules
15 and regulations are observed. We take our jobs
16 seriously. My experience differs remarkably from
17 Mr. Choi's expectations.

18 Moreover, I have spoken to the current
19 coordinator, and what I experienced in the past
20 continues now. I have never had anyone complain
21 of intimidation at our voting site. Perhaps
22 Mr. Choi can provide all of us the polling places
23 where this occurred and provide copies of the
24 complaints made -- (two-and-a-half minute timer
25 alarmed) -- to the DA's office.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 One last thing. Second, on Mr. Choi's,
2 page 2 of his letter, appears to suggest two
3 council districts be comprised by two areas, he
4 sets forth, in street and avenue boundaries for
5 the North Flushing and Bayside areas. At this
6 time, I do not understand how this would make his
7 members less confused, give them more in-language
8 materials and not be harassed. This proposal, of
9 Flushing and Bayside, covers such an enormous
10 large area, that the population of this area
11 would be lopsided and not within the population
12 deviation adopted by the Commission.

13 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
14 is Arthur Viviani, to be followed by Paul
15 Graziano.

16 MR. VIVIANI: Good evening. I forwarded two
17 e-mails, one to the Commission, the chairman, and
18 the other one to the Commission. I will rely on
19 those. My wife has said, basically, what I
20 decided to say and others will say more. We want
21 to stay in the 19th District, obviously. The way
22 the lines are now drawn, you have created a
23 diverse community that was whole for over 106
24 years.

25 It's totally different than that which is in

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 the 20th District. So I will yield my time back
2 and hope that you will apply some of my time to
3 the time my wife ran over. Thank you.

4 MR. HACKWORTH: Your request is granted.
5 Our next speaker is Paul Graziano, to be followed
6 by Janet McCreesh.

7 MR. GRAZIANO: Hi. Good evening. Just very
8 briefly, I submitted copies of my testimony,
9 which I also had submitted online on Friday, but
10 I wanted you to have it in front of you. I am
11 not going to belabor it, because you can read it,
12 but I will touch on a few things, which is I am a
13 lifelong resident of North Flushing.

14 Our area, currently, has been moved into the
15 19th Council District, up to 33rd Avenue, and
16 then 33rd Avenue cuts across as has been
17 described. I am a community planner, by trade,
18 and I looked at the demographics of the area. If
19 you look north of Northern Boulevard, up to 166th
20 Street, the demographics are quite different from
21 south of Northern Boulevard.

22 So while there seems to be some sort of,
23 let's call it a Manifest Destiny wish, by certain
24 folks who are testifying in front of you, the
25 area north of Northern Boulevard is,

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 approximately, two-thirds Caucasian and one-third
2 non-Caucasian. So just I am going to talk about
3 demographics, which seems to be the only thing
4 that people talk about, rather the other indices
5 that we talk about, such as zoning, neighborhood
6 associations, areas that have been communities,
7 that have been joined for a long time. I will
8 just throw that out there.

9 The most important thing is that the area to
10 the north is almost entirely single-family. It
11 is single-family zoning. It has been reapplied
12 single-family zoning over the last ten years, the
13 anti-McMansion zoning, which is the
14 lowest-density zoning in the city.

15 South of there, it's R6, R7 zoned, anywhere
16 from 14- to 16-story buildings. Both communities
17 are valid. They have very different needs and
18 interests. These are diverse neighborhoods.
19 Broadway-Flushing is an amazingly diverse
20 neighborhood in terms of the people who live
21 there and all of those people want to be in one
22 district.

23 Where I live, again, North Flushing, the
24 same thing. We are an incredibly diverse
25 neighborhood and we all want to be in the 19th

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Council District. I want to mention, I spoke to
2 Councilman Halloran on the way out. I attached
3 his letter, from December 4th, as well to join
4 with Councilman Koo. And he misspoke, slightly,
5 at the stand. He left out nine blocks, which is
6 33rd Avenue to 147th Place, 147th Place to 34th
7 Avenue, 34th Avenue to 153rd Street, 153rd Street
8 to Northern, and then beyond (two-and-a-half
9 minute timer alarmed). It's all in there. So
10 thank you very much.

11 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker is Janet
12 McCreesh, to be followed by Chris L.

13 MS. MCCREESH: Good evening. My name is
14 Janet McCreesh and I am the president of the
15 Broadway-Flushing Homeowners' Association,
16 presently located in the 19th Council District.
17 Our association represents 1,300 households, in
18 North Flushing, in the area bounded by 155th
19 Street, 29th Avenue, 170th Street, Crocheron
20 Avenue and Northern Boulevard.

21 I attended the previous public hearing, in
22 August, before the Commission divided
23 Broadway-Flushing and its neighboring civics in
24 two. The community never had a chance to voice
25 their opinion about this proposed boundary line

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 until after the Districting Commission drew it.

2 I am here to state our strongest objection
3 to the outrageous boundary line presented by the
4 Districting Commission. This proposal ignores
5 our traditional boundaries and will weaken our
6 single-family community and zoning by dividing us
7 into two council districts. I would add that no
8 public testimony has been in favor of the current
9 proposed boundary lines, 33rd Avenue.

10 All testimony has been in favor of keeping
11 the line on Northern Boulevard where it has been
12 since this Council District was created.

13 Broadway-Flushing must remain united as one
14 community, in the 19th Council District, and
15 continue to be part of the largest contiguous
16 area of single-family areas.

17 We are proud of our ethnically-diverse
18 neighborhood and strive to maintain the entirety
19 of North Flushing as a beautiful, low-density
20 homeowner community. In addition to all of the
21 e-mails you have all on your website, I bring 30
22 letters of testimony from homeowners who couldn't
23 attend this evening.

24 I have also attached three maps, created by
25 the Queens Civic Congress and local civic

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 associations representing North Flushing,
2 Mitchell-Linden, North Flushing Civic,
3 Broadway-Flushing Homeowners' Association and the
4 Auburndale Improvement Association showing the
5 boundaries of the area that I, as a homeowner,
6 want adopted.

7 I also want to point out that Councilmen
8 Halloran and Koo sent the Districting Commission
9 a letter, dated December 4th, in agreement, that
10 our proposal is the best for Northeast Queens.
11 It would create two districts, where the
12 population is consistent with the Commission's
13 goal of keeping communities of interest intact,
14 its zoning protected and the neighborhoods
15 united. We urge the Districting Commission to
16 make all of North Flushing whole again and place
17 them entirely within the 19th Council District.
18 Thank you.

19 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
20 is Chris L, to be followed by Rhea Gorman.

21 MS. L: Hello, Commissioners. My name is
22 Christine and I am a longtime Queens resident. I
23 live near the corner of 64th Avenue, at 213th
24 Street, for ten years, from 2001 to 2011. It is
25 a neighborhood I refer to as Bayside. The

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 district boundaries, being proposed by the
2 Commission, are divisive and not really
3 representative of the community my family lives
4 in.

5 My family and I have always spent time along
6 Bell Boulevard and Bay Terrace for socializing,
7 dining, shopping, banking and other miscellaneous
8 errands. I was an active member of a weekly
9 community game group, of the Bay Terrace shopping
10 center, and have friends in that area.

11 As a student and a working professional, I
12 rely, heavily, on the Bayside Long Island Rail
13 Road station to get to school. I work in
14 Manhattan. Additionally, my neighborhood's
15 friends and I actively use the Q8 bus, that runs
16 along 75th Avenue. The Q30 bus line, on the
17 Horace Harding Expressway and Bell Boulevard, and
18 the Q27 On Springfield Boulevard.

19 To not include the area south of Bell
20 Boulevard to Union Turnpike would suggest a
21 neighborhood that is not socially and
22 economically tied to benefit Bayside. All of
23 Bayside needs to be kept together in the 19th
24 Council District. Thank you.

25 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 is Rhea O'Gorman, to be followed by Raphael
2 Schweizer.

3 MS. O'GORMAN: Good evening, Commissioners.
4 My name is Rhea O'Gorman. I am president of
5 Station Road Civic Association. The association
6 encompasses an area of, approximately, 80 homes
7 bounded by Station Road, to the north, Utopia
8 Parkway, to the east, 46th Avenue, to the south,
9 and 166th Street to the west. The area is zoned
10 R2A, except for an M1 zone, which borders the
11 Long Island Rail Road from 168th Street to Utopia
12 Parkway, and which extends into the residential
13 community between 172nd Street and Auburndale
14 Lane from Station Road to 42nd Avenue.

15 The boundaries of the Station Road Civic
16 Association mirror one of the three historical
17 Rickert-Finlay areas in Northeast Queens.
18 Broadway-Flushing, which has already testified,
19 is another. These areas were developed to
20 reflect the same one-family residential
21 character, and later zoning changes have allowed
22 a limited number of two-families, but no multiple
23 dwellings.

24 The Station Road Civic Association was
25 founded, in part, to maintain the one-family

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 character of our neighborhood, and in part, to
2 fight the denigration of the concomitant quality
3 of life, of the one-family area, by the noxious,
4 commercial, currently-noncompliant occupants of
5 the Auburndale M1.

6 Under the current districting plan, the M1
7 zone miraculously remains intact in District 19,
8 while the surrounding three of seven blocks, that
9 this area constantly impacts the residential
10 neighborhood, specifically 167th, 168th and 169th
11 Streets, between Northern Boulevard and Station
12 Road, have been jettisoned into District 20.

13 So residents of these three blocks would now
14 have to lodge their complaints with the
15 councilman, who either represents the businesses
16 or represents them, but never represents both.
17 It will be a travesty to the residents, a win for
18 the businesses.

19 Furthermore, the current plan extends the
20 lines straight across 169th Street, which
21 disenfranchises our members, who are elected on
22 the south side of Northern Boulevard. And we,
23 like Auburndale, ask that the boundary be moved
24 to 166th Street, all the way to the cemetery on
25 46th Avenue.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 The current plan carves up way too many
2 neighborhoods in Northeast Queens. It will
3 dilute the political power of the residents, the
4 civics, which are the heart and soul of Northeast
5 Queens, and will destroy the very concepts of the
6 neighborhoods that are located
7 there (two-and-a-half minute timer alarmed).

8 The current plan will diminish our quality
9 of life, throughout these areas, and, likewise,
10 in other parts of the city that have been treated
11 similarly. The resulting districts will be as
12 gerrymandered as the community board serving only
13 the political expediency of the moment.

14 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
15 will be Raphael Schweizer, to be followed by
16 Melvin Siegel.

17 MR. SCHWEIZER: Good evening, everyone. My
18 name is Raphael Schweizer. I represent the
19 Pelham Parkway Citizens Conservation Corps. My
20 comments are about the Bronx. I was planning to
21 attend the Bronx hearing last week. Sorry.

22 I live in the Allerton section of the Bronx
23 and I am active in numerous civic organizations.
24 My concerns lie in the lines that encompass
25 Council Districts 15, 13, 11 and 18 in the Bronx.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 The lines should be contiguous and represent
2 established ties of common interest as stated in
3 your mission statement.

4 What the new lines do, in the Bronx
5 Community Board 11 area, is split up Community
6 Board 11 between five different City Council
7 Districts. Keep in mind, there are only eight
8 Council Districts in all of the Bronx. A
9 community board represents a similar population
10 to that of a City Council district. It is torn
11 further adding to the confusion that results from
12 the apportion of assembly district lines.

13 The three areas, that are problematic, are
14 as follows: One is the Bronx Park East, carved
15 out, that has existed in the council lines since
16 2000. The essential portion, which borders Bronx
17 Park East, is divided with the new council lines,
18 is worse than previously, by separating a clearly
19 cohesive neighborhood, by drawing a line up
20 Barker Avenue, on the north side, and Pelham
21 Parkway on the south side. There is no reason
22 for this.

23 The other concern is the northwest portion
24 of Community Board 11, which encompasses the
25 Allerton Co-Ops, which continues to be

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 represented, for no reason at all, by Council
2 District 11, which encompasses the Norwood area,
3 which is in no way contiguous with the Allerton
4 community.

5 The third area is the most egregious fault
6 of these new lines, and it is the inclusion of
7 the Van Nest community, which is in Community
8 Board 11, which is at the southwest side of the
9 community board, into Council District 18,
10 splitting them into Council District 18 and
11 Council District 15. Again, there is no reason
12 for this.

13 Van Nest has always been an orphan being
14 straddled between elected officials. Now they
15 have two. For all these reasons, I implore you
16 to look at these lines again and simply put to
17 the best of your ability line that the community
18 board lies.

19 People in Queens, right now, and I am sure
20 all these civics organizations work very closely
21 with their community boards and police precincts,
22 which are contiguous lines. I urge you, when you
23 draw up the Bronx lines, do the same. Thank you.

24 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker will be
25 Melvin Siegel, who is our last preregistered

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 speaker. The following speaker will be Antonio
2 Jacobs.

3 MR. SIEGEL: Good evening. My name is
4 Melvin Siegel. I am the immediate past president
5 of the Broadway-Flushing Homeowners' Association.
6 I had the honor of serving as president five
7 times since the 1990s. I must say that I
8 listened, with a great degree of astonishment and
9 dismay, to the Chairman's remarks, at the
10 beginning of the evening, when he stated that one
11 of the tenets, of the redistricting, was to keep
12 established neighborhoods and historic
13 neighborhoods intact, and that lines divide.

14 Lines do, indeed, divide. I was astonished,
15 because if the intent was to disenfranchise the
16 members of the Broadway-Flushing Homeowners'
17 Association, you couldn't have done a better job.
18 This is the second time it has been done to us.
19 It was done in the State redistricting plan,
20 which was just as genius as the current City
21 plan.

22 And the result is that our community was
23 sliced and diced. Our ability, to be
24 represented, has been diluted four times. As you
25 have heard, the Broadway-Flushing community has

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 been intact for over 100 years. It's an historic
2 district. The members are 1,300 households and
3 are very passionate about keeping the quality of
4 their neighborhood intact.

5 They are, currently, involved in two court
6 cases, which has cost us thousands of dollars,
7 which has been paid for by our constituents, in
8 an attempt to keep our community character as a
9 single-family, low-density district intact. We
10 would like to remain in District 19.

11 We are, particularly, dismayed with the plan
12 that lumps us with Downtown Flushing. We have
13 been striving, mightily, over the past few years,
14 to keep ourselves separated from the senseless
15 overdevelopment, that I am convinced, will cause
16 that part to slide back into the bay, and we feel
17 very strongly about this. You have attempted to
18 destroy this community.

19 We support the Queens Civic Congress. We
20 support the Auburndale community. We support
21 Station Road. We support North Flushing. All of
22 whom are requesting the same thing. Keep
23 District 19 intact and keep our communities
24 intact, if possible. Thank you very much.

25 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 is Antonio Jacobs, to be followed by Florence
2 Johnson.

3 MR. JACOBS: Good evening. Good evening,
4 members of the Commission. Good evening,
5 everyone. My name is Antonio Jacobs. I am a
6 lifelong resident of Southeast Queens. Southeast
7 Queens consists of, primarily, of working and
8 middle-class individuals, predominantly black,
9 African-American and Caribbean American.

10 In the last 20 years, the 27th, 28th and
11 31st Council Districts have been represented by
12 members who reflect the interests of those
13 districts. In a word, they look like the people
14 they represent. Needed resources, for economic
15 development, construction and support of
16 educational institutions, and recovery from the
17 foreclosure crises, are only now being addressed,
18 appropriately, by our City-level, elected
19 officials, who, at the end of the day, must be
20 reminded they reflect the concerns of their
21 constituents.

22 Therefore, any adjustments to the lines must
23 maintain the integrity of that reflection. Too
24 many times, it seems like the motivating factors,
25 behind redistricting, have seemed to serve

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 personal interests and not the interests of the
2 public.

3 The most disturbing part, of the new
4 suggested lines, is the deviation that decimates
5 the representation of African-Americans in the
6 28th District, while also totally disregarding
7 the potential of adequate representation of the
8 South-Asian population in the neighborhood of
9 Richmond Hill.

10 It's inappropriate. Lines should not cut
11 neighborhoods in half or go down the middle of a
12 street, much less a major thoroughfare like
13 Guy R. Brewer. Lines that cut out or add entire
14 communities, to the detriment of other
15 communities, is simply unethical and
16 shortsighted. Lines that deny appropriate
17 representation to a particular population,
18 especially in the aftermath of Sandy, would harm
19 not only those underrepresented constituents, but
20 the City as a whole.

21 Whatever final decision is made, must take
22 into account that the 27th, the 28th and the 31st
23 Districts are similar, both, in culture and
24 economic distinctiveness, that the lines drawn
25 that define its boundaries, maintain the

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 integrity of the neighborhoods contained within.

2 Southeast Queens, in terms of redistricting,
3 must be considered as a unit united, connected
4 and unified. Please consider that while making
5 your final decision. Thank you very much.

6 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next
7 speaker, and this may be Florence Johnson, but at
8 any rate, followed by Adrienne Adams.

9 MS. JOHNSON: Good evening, Commissioners.
10 It is Florence Johnson. As a resident of the
11 Southeast Queens community, specifically
12 District 27, where I was born, and now District
13 28, where I live, and both districts where I own
14 homes, I have some serious concerns about
15 maintaining fair representation by my elected
16 officials.

17 This is a predominantly and historically
18 black community, of middle-class families,
19 residing in one- and two-family homes. I find
20 the attempt to skew the lines to create a new
21 majority, that includes Asian, Hispanic and other
22 ethnicities, a clear attempt to disenfranchise my
23 historically-black community.

24 This action is absolutely dishonest,
25 possibly illegal, and a clear violation of the

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 word and spirit of the New York City Charter,
2 Article 52, Paragraph B, which I said I attached,
3 but I neglected to. Sorry. I mailed it in,
4 e-mailed my testimony.

5 I have lived in this community. My small
6 town. I want to stress that. All across
7 America, there are small towns. Southeast Queens
8 is my small town and I have lived there through
9 its lowest points.

10 And my question is: Why now?

11 Why now?

12 When we are set to be at the forefront of
13 the largest revitalization project in the City's
14 history, why now?

15 When the schools, parks and general
16 infrastructure are being updated, why now?

17 When construction, new businesses and job
18 opportunities are sure to come to our
19 communities, why are these advantages and the
20 control over them being taken from us and given
21 to others?

22 I submit that this is clearly an attempt to
23 empower one group of people at the expense of
24 another, at the expense of the historically-black
25 community, that has spent decades working for the

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 change that is about to come. This community is
2 overwhelmingly black. We are not blind. Nor are
3 we sleeping.

4 To draw the lines, to skew the numbers, is
5 nothing less than an attempt to disenfranchise
6 our community. A disturbing scheme to deprive
7 South Jamaica's black community of its proper
8 representation. I urge you to set the lines back
9 where they belong.

10 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
11 is Adrienne Adams, to be followed by Bishop
12 Charles Norris, Sr.

13 MS. ADAMS: Good evening, Commissioners. My
14 name is Adrienne Adams. I am a member of the
15 National Action Network, the NAACP, and I am
16 chairperson of Community Board 12 in Queens. I
17 am also a Queens native, of District 28, for over
18 23 years.

19 My community is rebuilding, restructuring
20 and rebounding as never before. That said, we
21 find it no accident that the Redistricting
22 Commission chooses to hold hearings, on redrawing
23 district maps, that will, ultimately,
24 disenfranchise the majority of people who have
25 lived and worked, in District 28, all of their

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 lives.

2 The most recent census results will have a
3 negative financial repercussion, on Queens, for
4 many, many years to come, and your work, here,
5 over these past months, will, likewise, have
6 negative implications, for Queens, for years to
7 come. The fact that this Commission continues to
8 divide our Queens community, in a move to be a
9 blatant violation of the New York City Charter,
10 is most disturbing.

11 Your Article 52(B), which
12 Commissioner Romano read previously, clearly
13 states, and I will quote again: "Such
14 districting plans shall be established in a
15 manner that ensures the fair and effective
16 representation of the racial and language
17 minority groups in New York City, which are
18 protected by the United States Voting Rights Act
19 of 1965, as amended."

20 Article 52(C), of the New York City Charter,
21 goes on to further state: "District lines shall
22 keep intact neighborhoods and communities with
23 established ties of common interest and
24 association, whether historical, racial,
25 economic, ethnic, religious or other."

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 My question is: For what or whose purpose
2 is the consideration of redrawing of the map to
3 change the makeup of District 28?

4 And why would this Commission consider to
5 violate the New York City Charter?

6 Thank you.

7 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
8 is Bishop Charles Norris, Sr., to be followed by
9 Chuck Mohan.

10 MR. NORRIS: Good evening. It seems as
11 though everybody, here, has the same problem. I
12 trust that you will not do what Governor Andrew
13 Cuomo did for the LATFOR Commission. He promised
14 not to accept the recommendations, yet he signed
15 off on every one. Please look at what you are
16 doing, because it is of the utmost importance.

17 The way the lines are drawn, can keep a
18 community together or split it apart, leaving it
19 without representation, who feels responsible for
20 its concern. The way the lines are drawn, can
21 change who wins an election. Ultimately, the way
22 the lines are drawn, can change who controls the
23 City and what laws are passed.

24 The Commission members, according to the 15
25 members of Districting Commission, to take on

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 this task, the Commission works to redraw the
2 lines with data process and criteria, required by
3 Federal law, of the 2010, U.S. Census Bureau
4 Commission and data from the New York City
5 Charter.

6 The Commission appointments should represent
7 members of racial and language minority groups,
8 protected by the Voting Rights Act, in proportion
9 to the population of the New York City. The
10 redistricting plan must be established in a
11 manner that ensures the fair and effective
12 representation of the racial and language
13 minority groups in New York City, which are
14 protected by the Voting Rights Act and New York
15 City Charter, Section 52(1)(B), 2004.

16 District lines should keep intact
17 neighborhoods and communities with established
18 ties of common interest and association with
19 historical, racial, economic, ethnic, religious
20 and others. New York City Charter, again, 52(A),
21 Section 52(1)(C), 2004.

22 In New York City, Manhattan or the Bronx are
23 covered by jurisdiction -- (two-and-a-half minute
24 timer alarmed) -- in Section 5, the jurisdiction,
25 of New York City, must submit its redistricting

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 plan to the Federal Government, either to the
2 Department of Justice or a three-judge panel of
3 the District Court of Washington, D.C., to obtain
4 preclearance or approval of this plan, once it is
5 determined that the new district does not weaken
6 the voting strength of racial and ethnic
7 minorities in coverage --

8 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. I am going to
9 have to stop you there, so we can get to
10 everyone.

11 MR. NORRIS: In conclusion, please do not
12 draw the lines to take away the little power
13 blacks have obtained and empowered, and then
14 empower others at our expense.

15 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
16 is Chuck Mohan, to be followed by Harry Lauture.

17 MR. MOHAN: Good evening, everyone, and I
18 would like to wish everyone a happy new year in
19 this auditorium. And I hope that the new year
20 will bring all of the things that we are asking
21 for, everyone, from every district, that we have
22 been asking for.

23 I ask of you, like I did at the last hearing
24 here on October 10th, to push District 28 all the
25 way to Woodhaven Boulevard, and for this

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Commission to consider the unity map, as it were,
2 given to you during last year. But I am
3 extremely disappointed here, tonight, to hear
4 that the seeds of division are being planted
5 here, tonight, by some.

6 When we talk about, and we understand as
7 immigrants, the role of the black community in
8 America, we understand it fully well. We are not
9 here to take away anyone's power. We are here to
10 work with everyone. But the same way you are
11 talking about maintaining your districts, you
12 must understand, that for years, the district in
13 Richmond Hill, where we had City Council people,
14 like Tom White and others, who totally
15 disregarded that area of their district.

16 But, however, they come into the community
17 to raise funds. It's good to get their money,
18 but not to give us the benefits that we deserve.
19 And based on what I heard here tonight, I will
20 make sure that I call Leroy Comrie, and all those
21 that have something to do with District 28, to
22 find out if these people, who I have lots of
23 respect for, stand by what people are staying
24 here tonight. Thank you.

25 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker will be

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Harry Lauture, to be followed by Donice Redding.

2 MR. LAUTURE: Good evening to the members of
3 the Commission. Thank you for giving me the
4 opportunity to give my testimony tonight. I am a
5 resident of Cambria Heights and a member, also,
6 of Cambria Heights Civic Association. With me
7 tonight are some of the board members of the
8 association.

9 I want to say thank you, to the Commission,
10 for honoring our request, from the Cambria
11 Heights residents and the civic association, by
12 redrawing the line, had in the previous plan, and
13 put it the way it is today. However, we had one
14 additional request from the Commission. There
15 are a few homes, on the south side of Francis
16 Lewis Boulevard, at 121st Avenue, that is
17 presently in District 31, but have the ZIP code
18 of 11411, which is Cambria Heights.

19 We would like to include those homes into
20 District 27. They have common interest with
21 Cambria Heights and we would like to be heard, as
22 one, to address our concerns of residents of
23 Cambria Heights. Thank you.

24 MS. BRAGG: I'm sorry, sir.

25 Can you tell us the boundary of the street,

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 again?

2 MR. LAUTURE: It's south of Francis Lewis
3 Boulevard and 121st Avenue.

4 MS. BRAGG: 121st Avenue, south --

5 MR. LAUTURE: 121st Avenue.

6 MS. BRAGG: Yes.

7 MR. LAUTURE: And Francis Lewis Boulevard.

8 MS. BRAGG: And you are saying there are
9 houses, that are in the ZIP code, that are,
10 currently, in 31, that you would like back in 27?

11 MR. LAUTURE: That's correct.

12 MS. BRAGG: Okay. Thank you.

13 They are on 121st Avenue?

14 MR. LAUTURE: Correct.

15 MS. BRAGG: On 121st Avenue at Francis Lewis
16 Boulevard. Okay.

17 MR. LAUTURE: Thank you.

18 MS. BRAGG: Thank you.

19 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker will be
20 Donice Redding, to be followed by Doris Bodine.

21 MS. REDDING: Good evening. My name is
22 Donice Redding and I have the privilege of
23 serving as a president of the Cambria Heights
24 Civic Association. Certainly, I can be very
25 brief, because you heard from one of our members,

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 and you will be hearing from another, shortly.
2 But we do want to say that we thank you for
3 listening to our prior request when the maps were
4 drawn the first time.

5 As I looked at the maps tonight, that you
6 have posted, I see that our initial request has
7 been honored. We do, however, wish to bring all
8 of Cambria Heights into District 27. As Harry
9 stated, there are several blocks that run along
10 Francis Lewis Boulevard, from the south side of
11 Francis Lewis Boulevard, up to 121st Avenue,
12 which are, currently, in District 31.

13 We would like to see all of the ZIP code,
14 11411, be a part of District 27. Our town is a
15 small town of single- and two-family homes. We
16 have a commercial strip, but for the most part,
17 it is simply a living environment where families
18 raise their children. We would like to see that
19 town continue to be a place where families can
20 raise children and live happily.

21 CHAIRMAN ROMANO: How far south, of 121st
22 Avenue, are you talking about?

23 MS. REDDING: Going up Francis Lewis
24 Boulevard, on the south side, only on the south
25 side. The north side is already in District 27.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 We did not have an opportunity to complete our
2 map, but I can certainly get one to you that will
3 draw the lines for you.

4 MS. BRAGG: Were those blocks, that you are
5 asking about, in the 2000 map?

6 MS. REDDING: Yes.

7 MS. BRAGG: They were?

8 MS. REDDING: They were in District 31 at
9 that time.

10 MS. BRAGG: I'm sorry.

11 Were they in 27?

12 MS. REDDING: No. They have been a part of
13 District 31, for quite some time, and we would
14 like to have them --

15 MS. BRAGG: All together. I see.

16 MS. REDDING: -- placed back in 27. I see.

17 As I was saying, it's a small town of
18 families. We would like to have it stay that
19 way. We have had many challenges, but we have
20 been fortunate with the partnership of our
21 elected officials. They have worked well with us
22 and we don't want to lose the ability to have a
23 group, who have been elected by the people, to
24 work with us. Thank you.

25 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 is Doris Bodine, to be followed by -- and I
2 simply cannot read the handwriting here, but it's
3 Mr. Marchent, perhaps, 3920 Hill?

4 MR. MARCHENT: Yes. You got it right, sir.

5 MS. BODINE: Good evening, Commissioners.
6 Thank you for giving me the opportunity to
7 testify before you again. I was here in October.
8 I am on the board of the Cambria Heights Civic
9 Association. I have been on there for about six
10 years. I am the treasurer and the co-chair of
11 the public relations committee.

12 We worked, very closely, with our elected
13 officials, to make sure that the needs of all
14 residents are met, and we have been very
15 fortunate in that we have been able to form a
16 cohesive alliance.

17 Now, the Cambria Heights Civic Association
18 is, probably, the oldest civic association in
19 Queens. We have been operating, continuously,
20 for 80 years. According to our bylaws, to be a
21 member, you have to live in ZIP code 11411. But
22 looking at the map, if you take the ZIP code map
23 and superimpose it over your district lines, you
24 will see that Francis Lewis Boulevard, 121st
25 Avenue is included within ZIP code 11411. The

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 southern part of Francis Lewis Boulevard is in
2 the ZIP code, but the council district is split
3 right down the middle.

4 So the houses on one side of Francis Lewis
5 Boulevard are represented by a different
6 councilman than the north side, and that is
7 rather difficult for us, because we deal with one
8 particular councilman.

9 And it would be so much easier to just move
10 that boundary, so that it coincides with the ZIP
11 code, because the people that live on Francis
12 Lewis, they still use the Q4, the Q84 bus. Their
13 children go to the local schools. So it would be
14 much easier, and make more sense, if you could
15 help us to unify our community. Thank you very
16 much.

17 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
18 is Mr. Marchent, to be followed by Dhanasar
19 Singh.

20 MR. MARCHENT: Good evening, Commissioners.
21 I am happy to be back here. I served as a member
22 of the board of trustees of this college. I am
23 happy to be here.

24 Anyway, what I am saying is I don't like the
25 division that happened. First of all, let me set

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 the record clear. The Asian,
2 South-Asian-American community, by
3 reorganization, was the only one that submitted a
4 map plan to increase the African-American
5 population in District 28. We did that.

6 Why fight us?

7 What is this division?

8 There is no Asian-American district that is
9 being drawn at their expense. So I want to make
10 that very, very clear.

11 Now, the thing is that, for Richmond Hill, I
12 support the move to move to 130th Street to
13 Woodhaven Boulevard. That proposal is there.
14 Because it's very strange that the Aqueduct Race
15 Track development was moved out, completely out,
16 of District 28. Right? That's part of the
17 economic development for Southeast Queens and we
18 want that put back into the district as a whole.

19 And John Adams High School taken out, I
20 mean, all these things. If you go to Richmond
21 Hill, it has one of the worst services. Try
22 taking the 112 bus. I waited for over an hour,
23 in rush hour, for the 112 bus, it's disrespect,
24 and there's nobody here to represent Richmond
25 Hill as far as services is concerned, at least.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 You all, when you're talking about groups,
2 it has, as far as the Census data, the highest
3 amount of immigrants that come into the
4 community. That's there, as the top ten of
5 immigrants into Queens, are living right in that
6 area. You talk about Jamaicans. You talk about
7 Dominican Republic. You talk about Guyanese
8 people. People from Bangladesh. From India.
9 All those communities are there.

10 And that's what is represented and is always
11 saying it's a regular community. There is no
12 division. It's coming together, as a community,
13 as one. That's what we're asking you to do, as a
14 Commission, bring it together. Put 103rd Street
15 to Woodhaven Boulevard. Include Aqueduct in
16 District 28, so we could have some economic
17 power, economic base, (two-and-a-half minute
18 timer alarmed) and include John Adams High
19 School. It's important for the district. Thank
20 you very much.

21 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
22 is Dhanasar Singh, to be followed by Clyde Vanel.

23 MR. SINGH: Good evening, and I'm thanking
24 everybody for giving me this opportunity to share
25 these few words. I have been hearing, yes, sighs

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 from the left and sighs from the right. I
2 represent, or a rather am part of this community,
3 united Richmond Hill, Ozone Park, South Ozone
4 Park community of interest.

5 I have learned, that recently, the line has
6 been redrawn, and that is causing a problem with
7 the people who are, basically, Guyanese, West
8 Indians, Jamaicans. The one people, they live in
9 the area, that includes the line, which is
10 Woodhaven Boulevard. And to shift them to 103rd
11 Street, and exclude that particular area, is
12 really dividing the community, and I ask that
13 that be restored. Thank you.

14 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
15 is Clyde Vanel, to be followed by Jeff Chen.

16 MR. VANEL: Good evening, Commissioners. My
17 name is Clyde Vanel. I am a Cambria Heights
18 resident and community advocate. On the stage,
19 placed before you, between October and November,
20 members of the Cambria Heights community, and
21 surrounding communities, and people from
22 Southeast Queens, submitted 2,175 petition
23 signatures, and over 842 letters, in opposition
24 to the Commission's proposed lines of the City
25 Council District 27 in Cambria Heights.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 At that time, the Commission submitted
2 proposed lines to split Cambria Heights into two
3 separate districts. At the October 10, 2012,
4 hearings, that we had here, I, along with,
5 approximately, 40 community members of Cambria
6 Heights, residents of the 27th City Council
7 District, and surrounding communities, urged the
8 Commissioners to keep the Cambria Heights
9 community together.

10 As mandated by the New York City Charter,
11 district lines are to keep neighborhoods intact
12 and keep communities with established ties of
13 common interest and association. At that time,
14 we, vehemently, opposed the change in district
15 lines. We have to say, on October 15th, this
16 body, this Commission, submitted a map to keep
17 the southeastern border of City Council District
18 27, to 121st Avenue.

19 We strongly urge you not to change that line
20 or, if that line is to be changed, to incorporate
21 the additional area that the Cambria Heights
22 Civic Association requested. Thank you.

23 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
24 is Jeff Chen, to be followed by Thomas Kulesza.

25 MR. CHEN: Good evening, everybody. And my

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 concern is very high, 33rd Avenue, being
2 discussed, presented by many speakers this
3 evening. And to that, I just want to add
4 something, some interesting things for that
5 district. In that area, has three years, many --

6 MR. HACKWORTH: What district is this?

7 MR. CHEN: District 19 and 20, 33rd Avenue.
8 And being in the background houses for many movie
9 shootings. And, also, we have a lot of block
10 associations in the area. So it's a very tight
11 community. And by drawing lines, 33rd Avenue
12 continue down, and I think that, although you
13 said it's not arbitrary, but looks good, but I
14 think it's mistake.

15 If you see the district map, that area is
16 the only R1 district in North Flushing. Our
17 district, I don't know whether everybody know. I
18 am an architect, so I want to explain to you a
19 little bit. A single-family house and it's a
20 very special building. Every building, in that
21 block, is different and it's very good
22 neighborhood.

23 So I would say by drawing this line, there
24 is a few mistakes. One is to cut in the C1 zone
25 into half. And two, is that area, from Northern

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Boulevard to 33rd Avenue, that is supposed to be
2 honored. And by doing that line, it encourage
3 people to extend commercial to 33rd
4 Avenue (two-and-a-half minute timer alarmed).

5 And right now, you can see buildings being
6 used for illegal use in that area, because they
7 take the use. Look like a commercial, but it's
8 not commercial. So I think it's a mistake. And,
9 also, my suggestion would be move the 33rd Avenue
10 line to 100 feet north of Northern Boulevard.

11 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
12 is Thomas Kulesza, to be followed by Everly
13 Brown.

14 MR. KULESZA: Good evening, everybody.
15 Thank you for giving me this opportunity to give
16 testimony, on behalf of Councilman Miller, who
17 represents parts of Ozone Park, Richmond Hill.
18 Unfortunately, Councilman Miller was unable to
19 make it. As you may know, he is in Albany
20 attending a legislative session.

21 Councilman Miller is opposed to the New York
22 City Districting Commission's draft of the New
23 York City Council lines, which divides Woodhaven
24 into two separate council districts. Woodhaven
25 was united, in one district, in the first draft

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 of redistricting, but it's now, again, divided at
2 Forest Parkway and 80th Street.

3 Woodhaven residents deserve to be united
4 into one district and experience solidarity as a
5 neighborhood. And just a final thought,
6 Assemblyman Miller, on his behalf, I request that
7 the New York City Districting Commission look at
8 these lines again, and make sure that Woodhaven
9 and other neighborhoods decimated, are kept
10 together and the communities are kept whole.
11 Thank you.

12 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
13 is Everly Brown, to be followed by Kris Gounden.

14 MR. BROWN: Good evening, all. Members,
15 friends, leaders and concerned citizens. It's an
16 honor to be here. Good evening, Commissioners.
17 It's very ironic tonight. I hear all these
18 people are very, very upset, hurt, at what is
19 going on.

20 It's of invaluable importance that you, as
21 Commissioners, take a very close look at these
22 people. These people are concerned people, who
23 invested in their communities and cannot afford
24 to be broken down or destroyed in any shape, form
25 or fashion. So it's vital that you all look at

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 this very, very closely and do not take anything
2 for granted.

3 These people must be certain. These are the
4 people who support their neighborhoods. They are
5 people who live in the neighborhoods and fight
6 for their rights. So I am asking you, again,
7 this evening, to make this a top priority, in
8 looking at the whole situation, in all of Queens,
9 and give the people their due justice. Thank
10 you.

11 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
12 is Kris Gounden, to be followed by Christina
13 Long.

14 MR. GOUNDEN: Good evening, ladies and
15 gentlemen. My testimony, I also want to send out
16 copies to everyone's contact there. And,
17 basically, I lived in Ozone Park, Richmond Hill,
18 for 36 years, and I am looking at this. I have
19 spoken, both, at the other hearings. Basically,
20 what you did here, is you took out the 106th
21 Precinct, the rail line, John Adams, Aqueduct
22 Racetrack, and one of our biggest religious
23 churches, out of our district.

24 What you did, if you look at it, it looks
25 like a pipeline. You came in, and bit it, and

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 left it out. If you Google the racetrack, the
2 casino, it says Ozone Park. Right now, if you
3 Google John Adams, it's in Ozone Park, but not
4 according to these lines. So if you Google it,
5 the 106th Precinct, if you Google that, it says
6 Ozone Park. What happens is, it looks like if
7 someone here, from the 32nd District, has an
8 interest to come into Ozone Park, and take out
9 all of our resources. People are talking about
10 the rail lines.

11 It just got \$40 million, to do a study.

12 Who is going to get that?

13 The 32nd District. Not the 28th. I have
14 been in the 28th so long, one person said to me,
15 "Kris, you look like a resident." We get
16 everything that we are supposed to get, our
17 violations, and summonses, and all these other
18 things, and we get none of the benefits.

19 So, you know, I actually lived on the block
20 and I see I did very well in my life. I worked
21 for an airline. Because I did so nice, I bought
22 a nice house, in the nicest part of my district.

23 So you would want to know what happened when
24 I moved to Howard Beach?

25 Well, this is what happened: I had the

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Howard Beach nightmare happen to me. I had
2 people come to my home and call me names.

3 So what happened?

4 I started to say, I went to the elected
5 officials, the police department, all these
6 people.

7 What did I find?

8 I found that, you know what?

9 What do you want?

10 I want to be treated equally. All I ask is,
11 I demand equal treatment. That's all. Nothing
12 special.

13 And this fight now continues on. I went to
14 court and they asked me, "What do you want?" I
15 said, "We demand holding out for justice now. We
16 want justice." I take my case out to the Federal
17 court.

18 What did the Federal Court ask me?

19 The Federal court said, "Well, wait a
20 minute. You're right."

21 What did the City Council, the borough
22 president do to me?

23 Changed my own deed to my
24 property -- (two-and-a-half minute timer
25 alarmed) -- illegally. The judge said, in

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Federal court, "You have a case. Go back to the
2 State and make your case there." Now, in my
3 case, I sued the police department.

4 When I sued the police department, what did
5 they do to me?

6 Well, guess what?

7 They arrested me illegally.

8 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. We need to move
9 on.

10 MR. GOUNDEN: That case was dismissed and
11 they are sorry for arresting me twice. I had to
12 spend two times, the night, in jail.

13 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker is --

14 MR. GOUNDEN: Sir, I think, just give me one
15 second.

16 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker will be --

17 MR. GOUNDEN: That's insulting to the
18 people.

19 MR. HACKWORTH: It's insulting to the people
20 at the end of this list, who won't be able to
21 testify.

22 MR. GOUNDEN: Mr. Halloran, when he babbled
23 on about nonsense. You are not cleaning the
24 districts out of ethnic backgrounds. That is
25 exactly what this is about.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 MR. HACKWORTH: Okay. Thank you. Our next
2 speaker is Christina Long, to be followed by Ken
3 Cohen.

4 MS. LONG: Good evening. My name is
5 Christina. I came here, today, to speak on part
6 of Corona. For the last 20 years, Corona has
7 been split between two council districts, 52 and
8 21. When redistricting started, I hoped that,
9 maybe, Corona would finally be unified in my
10 district. Instead, a two-by-four-block area has
11 been carved out, District 24, which covers
12 Hillcrest, Kew Gardens, areas that are nothing
13 like Corona.

14 To carve out a two-by-four block of Corona,
15 and put it all of the way over with Jamaica and
16 everything else, makes no sense, when we could
17 easily just put the small area of Corona back in
18 the rest of Corona, and, finally, unified and
19 rectified something that happened 20 years ago.
20 That should not continue now.

21 MR. HACKWORTH: What are the eight blocks?

22 MS. LONG: Basically, it carves out Granger
23 Street to Lewis Avenue to 55th Avenue, and then
24 down Junction Boulevard towards the LIE. So,
25 basically, we are asking for Horace Harding to

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 55th Avenue, going north, from Junction Boulevard
2 to Granger, to be included in District 21, so
3 that all of Corona can be unified.

4 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
5 will be Ken Cohen, to be followed by Stacey
6 Myers.

7 MR. COHEN: Good evening. My name is Ken
8 Cohen. I am the regional director for the NAACP,
9 New York State Conference Metropolitan Council,
10 and president of the Northeast Queens branch of
11 the NAACP.

12 I bring you greetings from our New York
13 State conference president, Dr. Hazel N. Dukes,
14 and I also acknowledge the fact that the NAACP
15 members, of the Metropolitan Council of New York
16 City, has monitored these proceedings in all of
17 the boroughs around the city.

18 Today, I come to do the same thing we have
19 done at the previous hearings, is remind you of
20 the presence of the NAACP and its history. The
21 fact that this is the 150th anniversary of the
22 Emancipation Proclamation, in less than a month,
23 the NAACP will turn 104 years old. This is the
24 50th anniversary of the death of Medgar Evers and
25 the 50th anniversary of the march on Washington.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 The last two points is what makes everybody,
2 in this room, allowed to vote and what,
3 basically, makes the complexion of the group on
4 the dais here (indicating). Some 30, 40 years
5 ago, the dais would not look like this, and I
6 remind the people, in this room, that due to a
7 person on the eve of his birthday, Dr. King, he
8 wanted us to work together.

9 So your differences shouldn't be battled
10 here tonight. It should have battled out after
11 the LATFOR proceedings, when we knew the City
12 Council hearings were coming. We could have come
13 together, as people, and made these decisions.
14 We come, into this room, united for change.

15 But I must say, as a person who lives in the
16 24th Council District, who sees that lines have
17 been unfairly drawn to the northwest of our
18 district, I will say that you need to change
19 where the 24th District will encompass,
20 basically, LeFrak City. There is no connection
21 with the 24th District.

22 We understand that, in fact, I have always,
23 as a person that has lived in Queens for 61
24 years, who was brought out of the Bronx by my
25 parents, in the late '40s, have never even

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 understood why we even had to cross the park.
2 Maybe you can make it, right now, by putting the
3 24th east of -- (two-and-a-half minute timer
4 alarmed) -- Flushing Meadows Park and retaining
5 the people, that live in LeFrak City, in an
6 appropriate district. Thank you.

7 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
8 is Stacey Myers, to be followed by Franc
9 Francois.

10 MS. MYERS: Good evening. My name is Stacey
11 Myers and I am a resident of Cambria Heights. I
12 have lived there for 15 years, and I don't want
13 to sound like a broken record, but our request is
14 simple. It's one attached community with common
15 needs, common concerns and we ask that we be
16 represented by one council member and we thank
17 you for that consideration.

18 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
19 is Frank Francois, to be followed by Mario
20 Pecunia.

21 (Mr. Francois did not testify.)

22 Mario Pecunia, to be followed by Robert
23 Myers.

24 MR. PECUNIA: My name is Mario Pecunia. I
25 live in Flushing North. I have been living there

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 for 49 years. I love the community, the
2 neighborhood. It's very unique. I would like it
3 to be kept that way. I am here, alongside with
4 -- I am a member of the Broadway-Flushing
5 Homeowners' Association, several of whom have
6 spoken tonight.

7 We are reflecting the same feelings.
8 Please, as representatives, represent us. We
9 request that you keep Flushing North as one
10 district. And, also, in addition, Bayside, I
11 have special interest in Bayside. I own property
12 there, 31 years. I would like to, please, keep
13 the district, of Bayside, as is. That, also, is
14 its own unique community, with its own interests.
15 That's my request, in addition to others here,
16 tonight. Thank you.

17 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
18 is Robert Myers, to be followed by Eduardo
19 Giraldo.

20 MR. MYERS: Good evening. My name is Robert
21 Myers and I just want to say that I am a resident
22 of Cambria Heights in District 27. And I am
23 here, tonight, just to restate the fact that it's
24 a great neighborhood. We would like to keep it
25 whole, and we ask that you seriously consider

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 adding those homes, that area that was discussed
2 a little bit earlier, because it's necessary.

3 We like our councilman. We like the people
4 that are representing us, and we just want to
5 make sure that things become unified and stay
6 unified. I want to thank you, very much, for
7 your time.

8 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
9 is Eduardo Giraldo, to be followed by Barbara
10 Jackson.

11 MR. GIRALDO: Good evening, Commission. My
12 name is Eduardo Giraldo. I am a longtime
13 resident of Jackson Heights, Corona, East
14 Elmhurst. Actually, I live in District 21. I
15 lived there. I worked there and I am a small
16 business owner. My children attend the public
17 schools. I am very involved in the community in
18 all aspects. As a matter of fact, I ran for City
19 Council in 2009.

20 And you hear the term "gerrymandering," and
21 I see myself being cut out in that. I live on
22 88th Street on Astoria Boulevard, and the new
23 lines, for the 21st District, is being cut short
24 to 92nd Street. So that screwed me from
25 District 21. District 21 is a place I have been

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 working all my life and I am being sent to
2 District 22, which is Astoria.

3 Now, if you look at the lines, Grand Central
4 Parkway, Jackson Heights, East Elmhurst, all that
5 area, that is a whole neighborhood by itself. We
6 are chopped, and Junction Boulevard, and 37th
7 Avenue, and Roosevelt Avenue, that is our
8 district.

9 Now, if we wanted to be sent to Astoria, we
10 love Astoria, but we are not familiar with it.
11 Now, I would ask the Commission that, please,
12 don't move my street. Put me back in
13 District 21. Keep it the way it was, so I can be
14 a part of this community. I am trying to help
15 out and be a competition.

16 This is a free country, and I don't think
17 politics is to be mandated by one party at all,
18 even though the same parties doing the same.
19 District 25 is being sent to the south part of
20 Long Island Expressway to take parts of Maspeth.

21 District 25 is big enough. You hear, today,
22 people from LeFrak City. They want to keep it in
23 District 25. People in Jackson Heights, to the
24 east part, they are going to be kept in District
25 25. By expanding District 25, to the south part

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 of the Expressway, you make that Latinos, and
2 Caucasians will stay in power and politics.

3 This district is 80 percent minorities.
4 Now, you see the part being sent to Astoria, all
5 those homeowners, they are South Asians. They
6 are Hispanics. They are being sent to Astoria.
7 I don't think that's fair. I think District 25
8 has enough people to make one historic district.
9 District 21 should be the way -- (two-and-a-half
10 minute timer alarmed) -- it is. I think that
11 should be included in the district where it has
12 been for the last 30 years. Thank you.

13 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
14 is Barbara Jackson, to be followed by Frank
15 Spaulding-Bey, Jr.

16 MS. JACKSON: Good evening. My name is
17 Barbara Jackson and I am a district leader, which
18 contains LeFrak City, Sherwood Village, Corona
19 and parts of Elmhurst. Back in the early part of
20 when the first lines came out, we looked at them,
21 and we were in the 25th, where we are now. We
22 are in the 25th Councilmanic District.

23 Then later on, I found out that when the
24 next lines came out, we had been moved into the
25 24th. Now, LeFrak City, Sherwood Village has no

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 commonality with Hillcrest, or Jamaica Hills, or
2 Jamaica Estates. So what I am saying, is we
3 should not be in District 24.

4 We should remain in District 25, which I see
5 as of December 4th, they have 168,000-plus
6 people. District 21 has 153 and District 24,
7 right now, has 158. Now, District 25 comes all
8 the way down from Elmhurst to Junction Boulevard,
9 but does not cross the street. If it crossed the
10 street, it's LeFrak City.

11 District 21 comes all the way down out of
12 East Elmhurst into 55th Avenue, but does not
13 cross the street, which would put it right into
14 Sherwood Village. Corona is being divided and I
15 feel that we all should stay together in Corona.

16 So I am asking, pleading, basically, to see
17 if these maps can be redrawn, and LeFrak City and
18 Sherwood Village should, somehow, be put back
19 into District 25 or into 21. We have no
20 commonality with District 24. Thank you very
21 much.

22 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
23 is Frank Spaulding-Bey, Jr., to be followed by
24 George Onuorah.

25 MR. SPAULDING-BEY: Yes. Good evening,

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 everybody. My name is Frank Spaulding-Bey. I am
2 a resident of Cambria Heights, born in the Bronx,
3 raised in Harlem, raised between Harlem and
4 Cambria Heights. And needless to say, growing up
5 as a youngster, Cambria Heights was my most
6 favorite venue growing up as a child.

7 Today, I live in Cambria Heights. I work in
8 Cambria Heights. I work for Cozy Homes Realty,
9 who is headed up by Dennis Rappaport. Some of
10 you may know him. He is a very successful real
11 estate broker, who has been in this community for
12 43 years now.

13 You know, it came to my attention, through
14 pipe mail, when this issue of redistricting had
15 come up. And we saw a mass amount of people come
16 to his office, requesting that we have our voices
17 heard, that we want to keep our community intact,
18 along with the natural borders, as the New York
19 City Charter calls for. And that would be 121st
20 Avenue, from the Belt Parkway down to Francis
21 Lewis Boulevard, back over to 114th Avenue, from
22 Francis Lewis up to the Cross Island Parkway.

23 Now, I know some of my neighbor, in the
24 Cambria Heights Civic Association, expressed
25 concerns about 121st Street, where you have some

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 houses that have our ZIP code, 11411, but they
2 are not a part of the City Council District 27.

3 You know, when I look at that, that is like,
4 I could think of a boulevard, in Harlem, like
5 Malcolm X Boulevard, Lenox Avenue, if you will,
6 where you have the uptown side of the street,
7 that's considered, already, East Harlem. If you
8 come on the downtown side, that's still
9 considered West Harlem.

10 So, you know, if we have to lose those few
11 homes, to keep the natural border of 121st
12 Avenue, then so be it. But we strongly, I know
13 I, personally, strongly urge the Commission to,
14 please, keep the natural borders as they are, and
15 thank you for your endurance this evening.

16 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
17 is George Onuorah, to be followed by Mohammed
18 Tohin.

19 MR. ONUORAH: Good evening, Commissioners,
20 members of the panel and my fellow Queens
21 residents. My name is George Onuorah. The
22 reason I come here, today, is because I,
23 currently, serve as a member of Community Board
24 4, headed by the Honorable Helen Marshall, and
25 Community Board 4 serves the residents of Corona.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 But before the current arrangement, LeFrak
2 City, where I have lived in for the past 27
3 years, is in Council District 25, represented by
4 Council Member Daniel Dromm. With the new
5 arrangements, we, unfortunately, have found
6 ourselves in the 24th Council District, which, if
7 you know the makeup or the history, we do not
8 have any affinity, affiliations with Hillcrest or
9 Jamaica Estates.

10 So what I am suggesting or actually pleading
11 that the Commission consider, is to either return
12 us to where we were, which is the 25th Council
13 District, or keep us as a heterogenous group
14 within Corona, where I, currently, serve as a
15 member of Community Board 4. Thank you.

16 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
17 is Mohammed Tohin, to be followed by Mohammed
18 Uddin.

19 MR. TOHIN: Good evening, members of the
20 Commission. My name is Mohammed Tohin. I am the
21 president of the Queens chapter of the Council of
22 American Labor. I am also a member of Local 6
23 Auto Trade Council, most importantly, a resident
24 of the Jamaica Hills and Briarwood community of
25 interest.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 I am here to join my neighbors to share our
2 concern over the proposed map of the City Council
3 District 24. The proposal should not be adopted.
4 You are dividing a single community of interest,
5 at 150th Street, when the community stretches all
6 the way down Hillside Avenue to Queens Boulevard.
7 The South-Asian community stretches across
8 Hillside Avenue, from Queens Boulevard all the
9 way to Jamaica Estates.

10 I am shocked that this Commission would
11 divide a community that is already united in a
12 council district. This doesn't make sense. We
13 must keep the Briarwood and Jamaica Hills
14 community united, as it has been under the
15 current 24th Council District. Thank you.

16 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
17 is Mohammed Uddin, to be followed by Florence
18 Simmons.

19 MR. UDDIN: Good evening. My name is
20 Mohammed Uddin and I am a resident of the
21 South-Asian community. I am not together with
22 the unfairly divided South-Asian community in
23 Jamaica. In your proposal, the map, in our
24 community, is hard.

25 I want to give you some examples. I live

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 168th Street and East Side Avenue. I have many
2 people been in my community, than the committee
3 of West 150th Street. I am very often there, and
4 I have the same issue, same neighborhood and we
5 want together. We have, ourselves, in the same
6 current proposed district. Please do not change
7 it. Thank you.

8 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
9 is Florence Simmons, to be followed by Maria
10 Becce.

11 MS. SIMMONS: Good evening, everyone. My
12 name is Florence Simmons and I am a resident of
13 the 28th District for over 50 years. I serve on
14 Community Board 12 and I also have an
15 organization, Teens Against Crime. I am very
16 active in the community, and I sit on other
17 boards as well.

18 This is the first politician -- and the
19 district of Community Board 12 and District 28,
20 Sutphin Boulevard, I call that the red-zone area,
21 because it's a high-crime area. This is the
22 first council person, that have took the interest
23 to address this. Not only to address it, but
24 attend meetings and provide services to those, I
25 don't want to say lower class, the

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 underprivileged community, that nobody has
2 addressed.

3 And my concern is, now, you have increased
4 the constituents to reach Richmond Hill. You
5 have added Richmond Hill. So now that is going
6 to take away or decrease some of the services
7 that he has been providing for those areas, that
8 hasn't been addressed, their concerns.

9 So I am here, today, just to ask you to
10 reconsider adding Richmond Hill to the 28th
11 District, that Councilman Ruben Wills, he is the
12 council person. So I am asking you to reconsider
13 that, because the district, that he is servicing,
14 requires a lot of attention. Thank you.

15 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
16 is Maria Becce, to be followed by James
17 Gallagher, Jr.

18 MS. BECCE: Good evening. My name is Maria
19 Becce and my husband and I have been homeowners,
20 in Broadway-Flushing, for 32 years. I have been
21 an officer and a committee member of the
22 Broadway-Flushing Homeowners' Association for
23 almost as many years, and trained by some of its
24 founders, including Marjorie and Rick Ferrigno.

25 This association prides itself on working,

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 alongside our elected officials, to ensure that
2 zoning regulations are upheld and services,
3 provided by the City to our homeowners, are
4 maintained. I am here, today, to ask the
5 Redistricting Commission to keep
6 Broadway-Flushing united in the 19th District of
7 the New York City Council.

8 Broadway-Flushing was designed as a planned
9 community and many of its homes have restrictions
10 on their deeds known as the Rickert-Finlay
11 Covenant. The realty company of Rickert and
12 Finlay are the same developers as Douglas Manor
13 and our neighborhood joined the 100th anniversary
14 celebration some years ago.

15 Broadway-Flushing is an oasis of beauty and
16 grace for all residents of New York City, who
17 choose to live and raise their families, which
18 are comprised of, primarily, single-family homes.
19 The neighborhood is rich in ethnic diversity,
20 beautiful gardens, landscapes and preservation of
21 architect, conveniently serviced by all modes of
22 transportation, choice of schools and religious
23 worship with space and privacy.

24 In 2006, Broadway-Flushing was recognized,
25 by the United States Department of the Interior

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 and the State of New York, and the neighborhood
2 was listed on the National and State Register of
3 Historic Places. We have a plaque, that some of
4 the homes in our neighbor, have placed.

5 In 2009, the restricted zoning, available
6 for property in New York City, as mentioned, that
7 many of our homes carry restrictions in their
8 deeds, known as the Rickert-Finlay Covenant. The
9 covenant has been declared enforceable by the
10 courts and members of North Flushing will
11 continue to uphold the zoning and the covenant.

12 Efforts to be recognized as an historic
13 district, by the New York City Landmarks
14 Preservation Commission, are ongoing, and this
15 initiative will continue -- (two-and-a-half
16 minute timer alarmed) -- until the neighborhood,
17 of Broadway-Flushing, is appropriately
18 recognized.

19 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you.

20 MS. BECCE: I'm sorry. I just have one
21 final thing. In closing, please respect the
22 boundaries, that have been in place over 100
23 years, and allow us to be fairly represented in
24 the New York City Council. The lines, we are
25 requesting and are supported by Councilmen

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Halloran and Koo, if adopted, are within the
2 standard population deviation. District 19 would
3 be .27 percent and the 20th District would be
4 negative 4.3 percent.

5 CHAIRMAN ROMANO: Thank you.

6 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you.

7 MS. BECCE: Thank you.

8 MR. HACKWORTH: Our next speaker is James
9 Gallagher, Jr., to be followed by Richard Hogan.

10 MR. GALLAGHER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman and
11 Commissioners. Once again, it's an honor to be
12 here before you this evening. I spoke before you
13 last year and my request, today, is the same as
14 it was back on that day. We are requesting that
15 the New York City Council District 23, which is
16 currently Mark Weprin's district, extend its
17 eastern boundary to Utopia Parkway from the
18 Horace Harding Expressway south to Union
19 Turnpike.

20 This way, the entire Fresh Meadows
21 Homeowners' Civic Association, of 880 homeowners,
22 would be covered under one City Council person,
23 and not two as it currently is. Unfortunately,
24 that is the way it has been for the last ten
25 years. Councilman Mark Weprin, who grew up in

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Fresh Meadows, is totally in favor of this one
2 23rd Council District.

3 The Utopia Estate Civic Association is also,
4 totally, in favor of it. In Queens, the line
5 starts at 185th Street and Horace Harding
6 Expressway, and then moves one block east, on
7 67th Avenue to 69th Avenue on 184th Street. It
8 kind of just juts out, and then goes back in at
9 185th Street, thereby, dividing my district in
10 half.

11 Fresh Meadows should not be a
12 council-divided community. Fresh Meadows
13 homeowners and the Queens Fresh Meadows
14 Development, with 3,440 units, all one ZIP code,
15 are all one Fresh Meadows post office, one
16 library, one theater, called The Meadows. The
17 entire area, kids know all over the world, this
18 is Fresh Meadows, and we are all part of Queens.

19 In 2002, we had the area, east of Utopia
20 Parkway, rezoned from R2 to R2A. This included
21 the West Hempstead Civic Association, Utopia
22 Estate Civic Association and the Fresh Meadows
23 Homeowners' Association, a total of 2,700
24 homeowners.

25 In Queens, Fresh Meadows Development is

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 protected by the Special Preservation District,
2 in 1973. The area, west of Utopia Parkway, is
3 zoned R4 and R3. The area, west of Utopia, was
4 zoned R2. They decided not to zone R2A. Once
5 again, we are looking for a favorable reply to
6 our request.

7 And, also, I just want to point out one
8 other thing, that other people pointed out, like
9 Ken Cohen and Ms. Jackson, about the area in the
10 24th, LeFrak City. That's not a good idea.
11 Anyway, thank you, again.

12 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. We have three
13 final speakers, Richard Hogan, to be followed by
14 Ali Najmi, to be followed by Robert Hanophy.
15 Richard Hogan.

16 MR. HOGAN: Good evening to the colleagues.
17 I have come to testify, today, from District 28,
18 which is the council district of Ruben Wills, and
19 for years it has been the late Councilman, Thomas
20 White. We were at a hearing, several months ago,
21 and we know that some of the lines, that we put
22 in place, the panel put in place, have been
23 changed.

24 I say this, in South Jamaica, in that area
25 between South Jamaica Houses and New Utrecht

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Houses and Rochdale Village, in those three
2 areas, it's so imperative that you look at the
3 redistricting, and make sure that you kind of
4 keep these three developments together, because
5 it's been years that we have gotten people to get
6 together to fight, to come together, to let us
7 put things in place.

8 And by us having the materials to be put in
9 place, to make the necessary changes that we need
10 to make to our community, it's hindering us,
11 because we have done so much work. And now that
12 we are at a critical point, where the finances,
13 the money is coming in, and we can access these
14 things, we can't do it, because of people not
15 knowing who represents them.

16 I would plead with this panel. I know this
17 has been a long day. I have a minute. I will
18 even let 30 seconds go by if you just would
19 humbly help us out. South Jamaica is a comeback.
20 At one point, I wanted to move out of South
21 Jamaica. District 28 was a bad district. It was
22 a very troubled district.

23 But I, myself, kept encouraging, and
24 community activists, the officials have worked so
25 hard to put these things in place. And now we

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 are in place, and now we are about to be out of
2 place.

3 Can you help us stay in place?

4 We thank you. God bless and you have a good
5 evening.

6 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Our next speaker
7 is Ali Najmi, to be followed by our final
8 speaker, Robert Hanophy.

9 MR. NAJMI: Thank you. It's a pleasure to
10 be here. I know we didn't expect to have another
11 hearing. I know the Commissioners didn't expect
12 it, but I am very happy that we are back, because
13 at the conclusion of the last process, you guys
14 made a really, really big mistake, stuck it in,
15 hoping there wouldn't be any public comment about
16 it, and here we are today.

17 That mistake is the 24th Council District.
18 Separating Briarwood from Jamaica Hills is
19 unprecedented. It makes absolutely no sense. I
20 support everyone, who came from LeFrak today, who
21 talked about how that was a mistake. Here is a
22 perfect solution to make both groups happy. Put
23 LeFrak back in the 25th and put Briarwood back in
24 the 24th. Even exchange it, and we would be very
25 happy with you.

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 And there's a real community of interest
2 that you are dividing at 150th Street, on
3 Hillside Avenue, a community that's already
4 united in the current 24th Council District.
5 Your obligation, from the Charter, which I have
6 had to remind you of at every hearing, is to keep
7 communities united. You are not -- we are not
8 supposed to take two steps backwards. That is
9 what you are doing in the 24th.

10 I am going to also talk about Richmond Hill,
11 an area of great concern to me. It's one that --
12 you know what?

13 You took a half step forward, but there's
14 still a long way to go. I expect everyone, that
15 came from the other parts of the 28th Council
16 District, but I have to say the Richmond Hill,
17 South Ozone Park community, still has a long way
18 to go.

19 You could have drawn an entire council
20 district, just along that community, and preserve
21 South Jamaica and the rest of the 28th, but you
22 didn't do that. I still don't understand why you
23 didn't do that. I don't understand why you
24 separate Briarwood from Jamaica Hills. I
25 actually would ask one person, on this

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 Commission, to tell me what communities you have
2 actually united.

3 Please tell me how you have stayed true to
4 your obligation under the City Charter.

5 Can anyone, here, give me an example of
6 that?

7 Because I have given you two examples of how
8 you haven't done it. So I would love to hear one
9 about how you have. Thank you.

10 MR. HACKWORTH: Just to be clear, this
11 hearing is to solicit public testimony. So you
12 can come by the staff offices, and we will be
13 happy to talk to you about that. Our final
14 speaker is Robert Hanophy.

15 MR. HANOPHY: Good evening. I am sure that
16 you folks want to go home as much as I do, but my
17 name is Robert Hanophy. I am a lifelong resident
18 of Flushing, Queens. I am here, as many of my
19 neighbors, who have now seemed to be smarter than
20 me and left to go home, to go to go bed, we are
21 here talking about the 33rd Avenue issue, which
22 is what divides the 19th Council District into
23 the 20th.

24 I live just south of 33rd Avenue. I would
25 fall into the 29th Council District, and the

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 reason that myself and my neighbors are here, was
2 to ask this board to keep us back in the 19th.
3 It's not about race. It's not about -- what it's
4 about is money.

5 It's about developments, overdevelopment,
6 redevelopment, houses being torn down, people
7 trying to put two houses, bigger houses,
8 apartment buildings, whatever they can do, they
9 are trying to push out the residents, which are
10 in, predominantly, one- and two-family homes,
11 they want bigger and bigger houses.

12 The only reason we need to be in the 19th is
13 to have one voice. Just keep the entire
14 community bounded by the natural boundaries.
15 Mr. Bey, the gentleman from Cambria Heights,
16 said, sometimes, you have to have a natural
17 boundary. Well, Northern Boulevard has always
18 been the natural boundary. There is no reason to
19 move two blocks up to 33rd Avenue.

20 It separates my homeowners' district in
21 half. It separates my neighbors in half and my
22 community in half. If you keep the boundary at
23 Northern Boulevard, the requirement of this
24 entity, which is that the stated deviation of
25 population is met, there is no harm, nothing

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 foul, if you move the original border back to
2 Northern Boulevard.

3 What you have is a disconnect between the
4 needs of my community, in North Flushing, than
5 you have of the Downtown Flushing residents,
6 which is primarily a business aspect, businesses,
7 dense businesses and dense housing on the
8 Northern Boulevard corridor.

9 Recently, in the last five years, several
10 four- to five-story buildings have gone up,
11 creating a canyon. The thing is, they are
12 nothing like my neighborhood. My neighborhood
13 ends at Northern Boulevard, between Northern
14 Boulevard and 35th Avenue, going up to 33rd
15 Avenue.

16 We are one community with everything that
17 goes up into almost -- (two-and-a-half minute
18 timer alarmed) -- 29th Avenue, 28th Avenue. Just
19 look at that one thing. It's not going to hurt
20 anything. It is really important to keep us
21 together in one council.

22 MR. HACKWORTH: Thank you. Mr. Chairman, we
23 have no more registered speakers and we are out
24 of time.

25 (Hearing continued on next page.)

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

1 CHAIRMAN ROMANO: That concludes the
2 testimony for this evening. We stand adjourned,
3 until tomorrow evening, on Staten Island. Thank
4 you, very much, for attending.

5 (Whereupon, at 8:57 p.m., the above matter
6 was concluded.)

7
8
9 I, JOSHUA B. EDWARDS, a Notary Public for
10 and within the State of New York, do hereby
11 certify that the above is a correct transcription
12 of my stenographic notes.

13
14 

15 _____
16 JOSHUA B. EDWARDS, RPR
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

\$	<p>153 [1] - 116:6 153rd [3] - 31:18, 70:7 155th [1] - 70:18 158 [1] - 116:7 158th [1] - 65:12 159 [1] - 58:4 15th [1] - 100:15 16 [1] - 27:20 16-story [1] - 69:16 166th [6] - 31:22, 31:23, 43:19, 68:19, 74:9, 75:24 167th [1] - 75:10 168,000-plus [1] - 116:5 168th [3] - 74:11, 75:10, 121:1 169th [3] - 43:16, 75:10, 75:20 170th [1] - 70:19 172nd [1] - 74:13 18 [3] - 76:25, 78:9, 78:10 182 [1] - 64:7 184th [1] - 126:7 185th [2] - 126:5, 126:9 1870s [1] - 29:22 19 [16] - 12:10, 15:10, 16:22, 17:24, 19:1, 29:8, 49:16, 49:25, 50:4, 60:18, 61:13, 75:7, 80:10, 80:23, 101:7, 125:2 1950s [1] - 41:18 1964 [1] - 35:23 1965 [1] - 86:19 1973 [1] - 127:2 1990s [1] - 79:7 1999 [1] - 41:23 19th [23] - 4:12, 12:16, 20:18, 21:12, 21:23, 22:3, 28:8, 28:11, 43:23, 44:2, 44:12, 65:8, 67:21, 68:15, 69:25, 70:16, 71:14, 72:17, 73:23, 123:6, 131:22, 132:2, 132:12</p>	<p>2010 [3] - 24:18, 63:9, 88:3 2011 [1] - 72:24 2012 [7] - 3:14, 5:3, 56:3, 60:19, 63:13, 63:17, 100:3 2012-2013 [1] - 1:2 2013 [1] - 1:6 20th [8] - 28:9, 28:16, 43:24, 44:15, 44:23, 68:1, 125:3, 131:23 21 [11] - 32:25, 108:8, 109:2, 113:14, 113:25, 114:13, 115:9, 116:6, 116:11, 116:19 213th [1] - 72:23 217 [1] - 64:7 21st [1] - 113:23 22 [1] - 114:2 226th [1] - 23:6 23 [6] - 12:11, 15:10, 18:16, 18:23, 85:18, 125:15 230 [1] - 3:13 23rd [6] - 5:18, 22:3, 43:23, 44:22, 44:25, 126:2 24 [8] - 25:5, 63:21, 64:18, 108:11, 116:3, 116:6, 116:20, 120:3 24th [15] - 57:20, 59:13, 63:11, 110:16, 110:19, 110:21, 111:3, 115:25, 119:6, 120:15, 127:10, 129:17, 129:24, 130:4, 130:9 25 [12] - 19:6, 42:11, 114:19, 114:21, 114:23, 114:25, 115:7, 116:4, 116:7, 116:19, 119:3 25th [7] - 11:18, 28:15, 42:16, 115:21, 115:22, 119:12, 129:23 27 [14] - 83:12, 91:20, 92:10, 93:8, 93:14, 93:25, 94:11, 94:16, 99:25, 100:18, 112:22, 118:2, 119:2, 125:3 27th [3] - 81:10, 82:22, 100:6 28 [15] - 12:1, 37:15, 38:19, 83:13, 85:17, 85:25, 87:3, 89:24, 90:21, 97:5, 97:16, 98:16, 121:19, 127:17, 128:21 28th [11] - 25:20, 81:10, 82:6, 82:22, 105:13, 105:14, 121:13, 122:10, 130:15, 130:21, 133:18 29 [3] - 25:5, 63:22 29th [4] - 64:2, 70:19, 131:25, 133:18 2nd [2] - 40:5, 40:7</p>	3
1	2	<p>3 [5] - 17:9, 41:15, 41:16, 42:17, 42:19 3,440 [1] - 126:14 3,500 [1] - 61:3 30 [5] - 54:15, 71:21, 110:4, 115:12, 128:18 30th [1] - 5:24 31 [7] - 36:15, 91:17, 92:10, 93:12, 94:8, 94:13, 112:12 31-10 [1] - 1:5 31st [2] - 81:11, 82:22 32 [12] - 35:4, 35:15, 36:8, 36:14, 36:19, 36:22, 37:15, 38:20, 45:8, 45:13, 50:10, 122:20 32's [1] - 36:11 32nd [2] - 105:7, 105:13 33rd [17] - 28:20, 31:19, 44:6, 68:15, 68:16, 70:6, 71:9, 101:1, 101:7, 101:11, 102:1, 102:3, 102:9, 131:21, 131:24, 132:19, 133:14 34 [1] - 50:13 34-10 [1] - 41:10 34th [3] - 42:15, 70:6, 70:7 351,000 [2] - 24:18, 24:21 35th [1] - 133:14 36 [1] - 104:18 37 [1] - 50:10 37th [1] - 114:6 38 [1] - 19:4 3920 [1] - 95:3</p>	4
<p>1 [5] - 41:15, 41:16, 42:17, 42:19, 65:18 1,150 [1] - 3:10 1,300 [2] - 70:17, 80:2 10 [2] - 56:3, 100:3 100 [5] - 53:3, 60:13, 80:1, 102:10, 124:22 100th [1] - 123:13 102nd [1] - 36:3 103rd [4] - 51:25, 98:14, 99:10 104 [1] - 109:23 105th [1] - 36:3 106 [1] - 67:23 106th [3] - 53:17, 104:20, 105:5 108 [1] - 52:3 108th [1] - 35:23 10th [2] - 37:17, 89:24 11 [6] - 76:25, 77:5, 77:6, 77:24, 78:2, 78:8 11101 [1] - 1:5 112 [2] - 97:22, 97:23 11411 [5] - 91:18, 93:14, 95:21, 95:25, 118:1 114th [1] - 117:21 117 [1] - 64:6 119th [1] - 38:4 12 [6] - 5:7, 36:15, 45:18, 85:16, 121:14, 121:19 12-story [1] - 36:1 121st [13] - 91:16, 92:3, 92:4, 92:5, 92:13, 92:15, 93:11, 93:21, 95:24, 100:18, 117:19, 117:25, 118:11 126th [1] - 28:14 13 [1] - 76:25 130th [1] - 97:12 137 [1] - 52:4 14 [3] - 1:6, 35:4, 69:16 147th [2] - 70:6 15 [7] - 3:14, 63:13, 63:17, 76:25, 78:11, 87:24, 111:12 150th [6] - 29:5, 63:12, 109:21, 120:5, 121:3, 130:2</p>	<p>2 [6] - 17:9, 41:15, 41:16, 42:17, 42:19, 67:2 2,175 [1] - 99:22 2,700 [1] - 126:23 20 [8] - 29:8, 60:17, 61:5, 75:12, 81:10, 101:7, 108:6, 108:19 2000 [2] - 77:16, 94:5 2001 [1] - 72:24 2002 [1] - 126:19 2004 [2] - 88:15, 88:21 2006 [1] - 123:24 2007 [1] - 58:18 2009 [5] - 16:21, 18:2, 18:21, 113:19, 124:5</p>	<p>4 [9] - 5:3, 41:15, 41:16, 42:13, 42:18, 60:19, 118:24, 118:25, 119:15 4.3 [1] - 125:4 40 [4] - 22:12, 65:1, 100:5, 110:4 42nd [1] - 74:14 43 [1] - 117:12 46th [3] - 31:23, 74:8, 75:25 48th [1] - 44:19 49 [1] - 112:1 4th [7] - 25:6, 28:5, 55:7, 56:9, 70:3, 72:9, 116:5</p>	5
		<p>5 [1] - 88:24 5,500 [1] - 3:2 50 [2] - 49:21, 121:13 501(C)(3) [1] - 37:8 50th [2] - 109:24, 109:25 51 [2] - 3:16, 7:25</p>	

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>52 [2] - 84:2, 108:7 52(1)(B) [1] - 88:15 52(1)(C) [1] - 88:21 52(A) [1] - 88:20 52(B) [1] - 86:11 52(C) [1] - 86:20 55th [3] - 108:23, 109:1, 116:12 57th [1] - 23:7</p>	<p>abstention [1] - 5:8 accept [1] - 87:14 access [2] - 59:5, 128:13 accident [1] - 85:21 accommodates [1] - 8:19 accompanied [1] - 4:10 ACCORD [8] - 11:10, 14:9, 19:14, 20:4, 22:22, 23:5, 30:18, 57:16 according [5] - 24:17, 44:9, 87:24, 95:20, 105:4 account [1] - 82:22 accountability [1] - 16:3 accurately [1] - 4:8 achievement [1] - 41:21 acknowledge [1] - 109:14 Act [6] - 17:12, 17:17, 26:11, 86:18, 88:8, 88:14 action [4] - 4:6, 4:22, 6:7, 83:24 Action [3] - 14:5, 65:17, 85:15 active [4] - 14:10, 73:8, 76:23, 121:16 actively [2] - 24:9, 73:15 activists [1] - 128:24 activities [1] - 14:14 ADAMS [1] - 85:13 Adams [12] - 12:2, 26:2, 38:6, 52:2, 52:3, 83:8, 85:11, 85:14, 97:19, 98:18, 104:21, 105:3 add [4] - 20:9, 71:7, 82:13, 101:3 added [2] - 7:13, 122:5 adding [3] - 77:11, 113:1, 122:10 addition [9] - 2:15, 3:18, 37:25, 57:19, 66:5, 66:8, 71:20, 112:10, 112:15 additional [4] - 4:13, 49:14, 91:14, 100:21 additionally [1] - 73:14 address [8] - 22:12, 23:10, 50:6, 65:9, 66:10, 91:22, 121:23 addressed [5] - 51:2, 65:7, 81:17, 122:2, 122:8 adequate [1] - 82:7 adhere [1] - 64:14 Adjacent [1] - 41:14 adjoining [1] - 25:7 adjourned [1] - 134:2 adjustment [1] - 11:24 adjustments [2] - 38:14, 81:22 adopt [3] - 6:2, 6:6, 60:16 adopted [8] - 3:15, 4:22, 6:8, 56:4, 67:12, 72:6, 120:3, 125:1</p>	<p>adopts [1] - 6:4 Adrienne [3] - 83:8, 85:11, 85:14 advance [1] - 50:22 Advancement [1] - 19:13 advantages [1] - 84:19 adversely [1] - 29:3 advertised [1] - 2:22 advocacy [3] - 3:2, 3:24, 14:3 advocate [2] - 11:11, 99:18 advocates [1] - 17:15 advocating [1] - 63:7 affected [3] - 29:4, 31:9, 41:19 affects [1] - 38:1 affiliations [1] - 119:8 affinity [1] - 119:8 afford [1] - 103:23 Afghanistan [1] - 57:25 African [3] - 81:9, 82:5, 97:4 African-American [2] - 81:9, 97:4 African-Americans [1] - 82:5 aftermath [1] - 82:18 afternoon [1] - 14:2 afterthought [1] - 56:21 agree [2] - 22:25, 23:22 agreement [3] - 27:24, 61:1, 72:9 airline [1] - 105:21 aisle [1] - 11:1 Al [1] - 51:11 alarmed [16] - 13:12, 16:10, 19:6, 29:11, 45:1, 51:2, 59:23, 64:14, 66:25, 88:24, 98:18, 106:25, 111:4, 115:10, 124:16, 133:18 alarmed [7] - 21:17, 26:4, 40:25, 53:21, 70:9, 76:7, 102:4 Albany [1] - 102:19 Albert [3] - 22:6, 24:1, 24:4 ALBERT [1] - 24:3 Ali [2] - 127:14, 129:7 Allerton [3] - 76:22, 77:25, 78:3 Alliance [2] - 37:7, 62:20 alliance [1] - 95:16 allies [2] - 13:1, 15:19 allocate [1] - 7:24 allow [4] - 4:20, 4:21, 4:25, 124:23 allowed [2] - 74:21, 110:2 alongside [2] - 112:3, 123:1 alternative [2] - 3:19, 50:19 Amato [3] - 42:23, 45:4, 45:6 AMATO [1] - 45:5 amazingly [1] - 69:19</p>	<p>amend [1] - 43:9 amended [2] - 5:24, 86:19 amendments [1] - 5:20 America [2] - 84:7, 90:8 America's [1] - 52:4 American [32] - 3:25, 11:9, 11:19, 12:22, 13:16, 15:11, 16:8, 16:24, 17:3, 18:1, 18:7, 18:22, 19:22, 20:4, 30:8, 49:19, 49:22, 53:20, 59:21, 59:25, 60:3, 62:21, 63:2, 63:19, 65:19, 81:9, 97:2, 97:4, 97:8, 119:22 Americanisms [1] - 30:7 Americans [9] - 11:12, 17:10, 18:2, 18:13, 18:16, 18:19, 19:13, 63:8, 82:5 amount [2] - 98:3, 117:15 and/or [1] - 39:5 Andrew [3] - 65:12, 65:23, 87:12 angered [1] - 14:13 anniversary [4] - 109:21, 109:24, 109:25, 123:13 announce [1] - 10:21 announcement [1] - 2:25 announcing [1] - 2:23 anti [1] - 69:13 anti-McMansion [1] - 69:13 Antonio [3] - 79:1, 81:1, 81:5 anyone's [1] - 90:9 anyway [2] - 96:24, 127:11 anywhere [1] - 69:15 apart [2] - 12:6, 87:18 apartment [1] - 132:8 Apartments [2] - 41:12, 41:16 apartments [2] - 41:17, 61:12 apparently [2] - 39:2, 40:21 appear [1] - 7:23 appearance [1] - 38:11 appears [1] - 67:2 applause [1] - 35:7 apply [1] - 68:2 appointments [1] - 88:6 apportion [1] - 77:12 appreciate [3] - 38:12, 38:17, 42:20 approach [1] - 10:23 appropriate [4] - 5:22, 44:6, 82:16, 111:6 appropriately [2] - 81:18, 124:17 approval [1] - 89:4 approved [1] - 5:6 approximately [3] - 69:1, 74:6, 100:5 Aqueduct [3] - 97:14, 98:15,</p>
6			
<p>6 [3] - 40:10, 64:3, 119:22 60 [1] - 24:21 600 [1] - 43:1 61 [2] - 24:20, 110:23 64th [1] - 72:23 67th [1] - 126:7 69th [1] - 126:7 6:09 [1] - 1:7</p>			
7			
<p>7 [1] - 60:11 73rd [2] - 12:17, 15:16 74th [3] - 36:5, 36:9, 36:23 75th [1] - 73:16 79th [2] - 35:24, 36:16</p>			
8			
<p>8 [1] - 64:1 80 [3] - 74:6, 95:20, 115:3 80th [1] - 103:2 81st [1] - 36:5 82 [1] - 64:6 842 [1] - 99:23 880 [1] - 125:21 88th [1] - 113:22 8:57 [1] - 134:5</p>			
9			
<p>90 [1] - 60:10 90th [3] - 36:12, 36:16, 36:24 92nd [1] - 113:24 93rd [1] - 54:3 94th [1] - 41:10 98th [1] - 52:15</p>			
A			
<p>a.m [1] - 40:10 AALDEF [4] - 16:21, 18:4, 21:15, 23:20 AALDEF's [2] - 19:2, 59:25 ability [3] - 78:17, 79:23, 94:22 able [3] - 10:9, 95:15, 107:20 absolutely [4] - 14:11, 28:24, 83:24, 129:19</p>			

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>104:21 arbitrarily [1] - 15:9 arbitrary [3] - 7:23, 22:24, 101:13 architect [2] - 101:18, 123:21 are there [1] - 98:9 area [55] - 11:25, 23:5, 27:8, 29:8, 33:7, 33:13, 34:13, 46:13, 50:14, 54:7, 55:9, 61:16, 61:18, 65:1, 67:10, 68:14, 68:18, 68:25, 69:9, 70:18, 71:16, 72:5, 73:10, 73:19, 74:6, 74:9, 75:3, 75:9, 77:5, 78:2, 78:5, 90:15, 98:6, 99:9, 99:11, 100:21, 101:5, 101:10, 101:15, 101:25, 102:6, 108:10, 108:17, 113:1, 114:5, 121:20, 121:21, 126:17, 126:19, 127:2, 127:3, 127:9, 127:24, 130:11 areas [18] - 11:21, 27:13, 32:16, 37:14, 61:24, 61:25, 63:23, 67:3, 67:5, 69:6, 71:16, 74:17, 74:19, 76:9, 77:13, 108:12, 122:7, 128:2 arrangement [1] - 119:1 arrangements [1] - 119:5 arrested [1] - 107:7 arresting [1] - 107:11 Art [1] - 64:25 Arthur [2] - 64:21, 67:14 Article [2] - 84:2, 86:11 article [2] - 52:11, 86:20 ASAAL [1] - 62:23 ASAAL's [1] - 63:4 Asian [55] - 3:25, 4:3, 11:9, 11:12, 11:19, 12:22, 13:16, 15:1, 15:4, 15:11, 16:8, 16:24, 17:3, 17:10, 18:1, 18:2, 18:7, 18:13, 18:16, 18:19, 18:22, 19:22, 24:7, 24:24, 25:15, 26:8, 30:3, 37:10, 42:5, 49:19, 49:22, 50:8, 50:16, 57:17, 58:5, 58:9, 59:21, 59:25, 60:3, 62:21, 62:25, 63:2, 63:8, 63:12, 63:19, 64:8, 66:9, 82:8, 83:21, 97:1, 97:2, 97:8, 120:7, 120:21, 120:22 Asian-American [18] - 3:25, 11:9, 11:19, 12:22, 13:16, 15:11, 16:8, 16:24, 17:3, 18:1, 18:7, 18:22, 19:22, 49:19, 49:22, 59:25, 60:3, 97:8 Asian-Americans [6] -</p>	<p>11:12, 17:10, 18:2, 18:13, 18:16, 18:19 Asians [7] - 24:18, 26:10, 30:21, 37:12, 57:22, 58:12, 115:5 asking [18] - 12:20, 23:11, 23:12, 25:13, 26:5, 34:1, 38:8, 45:13, 59:11, 61:2, 89:20, 89:22, 94:5, 98:13, 104:6, 108:25, 116:16, 122:12 aspect [1] - 133:6 aspects [1] - 113:18 assaulted [1] - 18:3 assembly [1] - 77:12 Assemblyman [1] - 103:6 asserts [1] - 65:18 associate [1] - 14:4 associated [1] - 31:2 association [15] - 29:9, 35:17, 43:4, 45:11, 53:24, 55:5, 70:17, 74:5, 86:24, 88:18, 91:8, 91:11, 95:18, 100:13, 122:25 Association [42] - 20:12, 27:16, 27:17, 27:18, 27:19, 29:10, 29:15, 33:22, 35:9, 35:21, 36:17, 43:1, 45:17, 47:10, 54:14, 56:2, 56:18, 56:25, 60:9, 65:3, 70:15, 72:3, 72:4, 74:5, 74:16, 74:24, 79:5, 79:17, 91:6, 92:24, 95:9, 95:17, 100:22, 112:5, 117:24, 122:22, 125:21, 126:3, 126:21, 126:22, 126:23 associations [6] - 29:1, 29:12, 31:12, 69:6, 72:1, 101:10 assure [1] - 7:23 assures [1] - 36:9 astonished [1] - 79:14 astonishment [1] - 79:8 Astoria [7] - 25:2, 113:22, 114:2, 114:9, 114:10, 115:4, 115:6 attached [7] - 18:10, 19:3, 60:24, 70:2, 71:24, 84:2, 111:14 attachment [1] - 16:20 attack [1] - 48:18 attempt [6] - 7:24, 80:8, 83:20, 83:22, 84:22, 85:5 attempted [1] - 80:17 attend [4] - 71:23, 76:21, 113:16, 121:24 ATTENDANCE [1] - 1:9 attended [4] - 3:11, 20:6, 28:21, 70:21 attending [2] - 102:20, 134:4</p>	<p>attention [6] - 7:5, 25:3, 56:8, 63:10, 117:13, 122:14 Auburndale [9] - 27:18, 42:25, 43:2, 61:23, 72:4, 74:13, 75:5, 75:23, 80:20 audience [1] - 19:11 AUDIENCE [3] - 13:3, 13:5, 13:7 auditorium [1] - 89:19 August [3] - 3:12, 14:21, 70:22 Auto [1] - 119:23 automatic [1] - 25:25 available [1] - 124:5 Avella [1] - 27:23 avenue [1] - 67:4 Avenue [64] - 1:5, 12:17, 15:16, 23:7, 28:21, 31:19, 31:23, 42:15, 44:6, 44:19, 51:25, 68:15, 68:16, 70:6, 70:7, 70:19, 70:20, 71:9, 72:23, 73:16, 74:8, 74:14, 75:25, 77:20, 91:16, 92:3, 92:4, 92:5, 92:13, 92:15, 93:11, 93:22, 95:25, 100:18, 101:1, 101:7, 101:11, 102:1, 102:4, 102:9, 108:23, 109:1, 114:7, 116:12, 117:20, 117:21, 118:5, 118:12, 120:6, 120:8, 121:1, 126:7, 130:3, 131:21, 131:24, 132:19, 133:14, 133:15, 133:18 average [1] - 6:19 avoid [1] - 7:3 aware [2] - 24:16, 24:23 awareness [1] - 59:8</p>	<p>barely [1] - 52:2 Barker [1] - 77:20 base [1] - 98:17 based [6] - 15:7, 24:5, 57:15, 62:23, 63:2, 90:19 basically [12] - 47:11, 55:10, 65:14, 67:19, 99:7, 104:17, 104:19, 108:22, 108:25, 110:3, 110:20, 116:16 basis [1] - 28:24 battled [2] - 110:9, 110:10 Bay [3] - 61:15, 73:6, 73:9 bay [1] - 80:16 Bayside [47] - 12:10, 12:15, 15:8, 15:9, 15:13, 15:15, 15:20, 17:5, 17:24, 18:15, 18:22, 18:25, 19:17, 19:18, 19:21, 19:25, 20:12, 20:18, 20:20, 21:1, 21:12, 21:14, 21:19, 21:23, 22:1, 23:6, 23:9, 23:13, 23:16, 26:9, 30:21, 30:25, 31:2, 43:3, 44:17, 44:18, 49:17, 49:24, 67:5, 67:9, 72:25, 73:12, 73:22, 73:23, 112:10, 112:11, 112:13 Beach [16] - 35:9, 35:21, 35:23, 35:24, 36:5, 36:16, 36:17, 36:23, 36:24, 45:6, 45:7, 45:16, 105:24, 106:1 beautiful [2] - 71:19, 123:20 beauty [1] - 123:15 Becce [3] - 121:10, 122:16, 122:19 BECCE [3] - 122:18, 124:20, 125:7 bed [1] - 131:20 behalf [4] - 2:5, 54:1, 102:16, 103:6 behavior [1] - 66:11 behind [3] - 39:19, 39:23, 81:25 belabor [1] - 68:11 believe [4] - 8:17, 14:10, 16:5, 54:5 Bell [3] - 73:6, 73:17, 73:19 Bellerose [2] - 11:20, 25:1 belong [1] - 85:9 belongs [1] - 45:1 Belt [1] - 117:20 Ben [1] - 40:2 benefit [3] - 23:2, 52:17, 73:22 benefits [2] - 90:18, 105:18 BENITO [1] - 1:13 Benito [2] - 2:3, 9:10 Bensonhurst [2] - 15:5, 17:4 betrayal [1] - 16:1 bey [1] - 132:15 Bey [3] - 115:15, 116:23,</p>
B			
<p>babbled [1] - 107:22 babysitting [1] - 39:1 background [1] - 101:8 backgrounds [1] - 107:24 backwards [1] - 130:8 baffling [1] - 56:9 Baldeo [1] - 51:11 BALDEO [1] - 51:13 ball [1] - 54:5 Bangladesh [2] - 57:23, 98:8 Bangladeshi [3] - 58:16, 59:1, 59:21 Bangladeshi-American [1] - 59:21 banking [1] - 73:7 Baptist [1] - 47:8 Barbara [3] - 113:9, 115:14, 115:17</p>			

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>117:1 BEY [1] - 116:25 Bhutan [1] - 57:24 bigger [3] - 132:7, 132:11 biggest [1] - 104:22 Bill [3] - 46:20, 48:21, 48:24 birthday [1] - 110:7 Bishop [2] - 85:11, 87:8 bit [5] - 51:17, 54:5, 101:19, 104:25, 113:2 black [9] - 4:2, 40:18, 81:8, 83:18, 83:23, 84:24, 85:2, 85:7, 90:7 blacks [1] - 89:13 blast [1] - 3:1 blatant [2] - 20:21, 86:9 BLINKINSOPP [1] - 54:12 Blenkinsopp [3] - 51:12, 54:10, 54:13 bless [1] - 129:4 blind [1] - 85:2 Block [6] - 33:22, 47:9, 54:14, 56:1, 56:18, 56:24 block [8] - 53:24, 55:5, 101:9, 101:21, 105:19, 108:10, 108:14, 126:6 blocks [13] - 26:3, 28:10, 28:13, 36:15, 43:19, 60:10, 70:5, 75:8, 75:13, 93:9, 94:4, 108:21, 132:19 board [10] - 19:12, 36:7, 76:12, 77:9, 78:9, 78:18, 91:7, 95:8, 96:22, 132:2 Board [16] - 35:4, 60:11, 64:3, 65:11, 66:2, 66:12, 77:5, 77:6, 77:24, 78:8, 85:16, 118:23, 118:25, 119:15, 121:14, 121:19 boards [2] - 78:21, 121:17 BODINE [1] - 95:5 Bodine [2] - 92:20, 95:1 body [1] - 100:16 book [3] - 39:8, 40:16, 40:17 booths [1] - 66:2 border [4] - 22:1, 100:17, 118:11, 133:1 bordered [1] - 15:16 borders [5] - 11:17, 74:10, 77:16, 117:18, 118:14 born [3] - 47:4, 83:12, 117:2 borough [4] - 7:2, 40:7, 63:6, 106:21 boroughs [3] - 40:23, 63:4, 109:17 bought [2] - 48:4, 105:21 boulevard [1] - 118:4 Boulevard [61] - 11:24, 12:4, 25:23, 28:14, 31:20, 31:22, 37:21, 37:25, 38:9, 42:14, 42:15, 44:9, 44:21, 51:21,</p>	<p>52:15, 52:17, 65:13, 68:19, 68:21, 68:25, 70:20, 71:11, 73:6, 73:17, 73:18, 73:20, 75:11, 75:22, 89:25, 91:16, 92:3, 92:7, 92:16, 93:10, 93:11, 93:24, 95:24, 96:1, 96:5, 97:13, 98:15, 99:10, 102:1, 102:10, 108:24, 109:1, 113:22, 114:6, 116:8, 117:21, 118:5, 120:6, 120:8, 121:20, 132:17, 132:23, 133:2, 133:8, 133:13, 133:14 boundaries [25] - 11:14, 12:3, 19:21, 19:25, 20:9, 21:14, 23:14, 25:25, 27:10, 27:12, 28:3, 35:23, 48:9, 59:25, 60:22, 61:19, 62:3, 67:4, 71:5, 72:5, 73:1, 74:15, 82:25, 124:22, 132:14 boundary [28] - 25:23, 25:24, 26:6, 31:18, 31:19, 31:21, 36:22, 43:15, 43:16, 43:18, 44:1, 44:19, 51:19, 51:20, 52:9, 52:14, 60:25, 61:22, 70:25, 71:3, 71:9, 75:23, 91:25, 96:10, 125:17, 132:17, 132:18, 132:22 bounded [5] - 25:20, 28:13, 70:18, 74:7, 132:14 BRAGG [13] - 1:17, 9:9, 91:24, 92:4, 92:6, 92:8, 92:12, 92:15, 92:18, 94:4, 94:7, 94:10, 94:15 Bragg [1] - 9:9 brainer [1] - 20:17 branch [1] - 109:10 break [2] - 46:12, 46:16 breaking [2] - 45:19, 46:5 Brewer [1] - 82:13 Briarwood [21] - 12:5, 24:25, 25:4, 25:12, 57:20, 58:17, 58:25, 59:11, 63:14, 63:20, 63:22, 63:25, 64:1, 64:4, 64:8, 64:17, 119:24, 120:13, 129:18, 129:23, 130:24 brief [2] - 61:1, 92:25 briefly [1] - 68:8 Bright [3] - 16:14, 19:9, 19:12 Brighton [1] - 51:18 brings [1] - 12:21 Broad [1] - 35:5 Broadway [28] - 27:15, 28:20, 29:2, 29:9, 29:14, 31:17, 44:5, 50:2, 61:23, 64:25, 65:3, 69:19, 70:15, 70:23, 71:13, 72:3, 74:18,</p>	<p>79:5, 79:16, 79:25, 112:4, 122:20, 122:22, 123:6, 123:8, 123:15, 123:24, 124:17 Broadway-Flushing [28] - 27:15, 28:20, 29:2, 29:9, 29:14, 31:17, 44:5, 50:2, 61:23, 64:25, 65:3, 69:19, 70:15, 70:23, 71:13, 72:3, 74:18, 79:5, 79:16, 79:25, 112:4, 122:20, 122:22, 123:6, 123:8, 123:15, 123:24, 124:17 broken [4] - 12:6, 45:9, 103:24, 111:13 broker [1] - 117:11 Bronx [15] - 9:13, 39:24, 49:5, 76:20, 76:21, 76:22, 76:25, 77:4, 77:8, 77:14, 77:16, 78:23, 88:22, 110:24, 117:2 Brooklyn [4] - 9:3, 9:4, 49:6, 50:12 Brown [2] - 102:13, 103:13 BROWN [1] - 103:14 Brulene [4] - 41:11, 41:13, 41:14, 42:16 Bucca [2] - 45:4, 46:20 BUCCA [1] - 46:21 building [5] - 29:18, 41:20, 45:17, 101:20 buildings [14] - 36:1, 36:2, 36:4, 36:14, 42:10, 42:13, 45:20, 45:22, 69:16, 102:5, 132:8, 133:10 Bureau [1] - 88:3 bus [8] - 39:12, 40:14, 53:8, 73:15, 73:16, 96:12, 97:22, 97:23 business [2] - 113:16, 133:6 businesses [8] - 46:5, 53:3, 53:16, 75:15, 75:18, 84:17, 133:6, 133:7 bylaws [1] - 95:20</p>	<p>117:2, 117:4, 117:5, 117:7, 117:8, 117:24, 132:15 Can you [5] - 29:25, 32:23, 52:5, 91:25, 129:3 candidate [3] - 18:2, 18:7, 18:24 canyon [1] - 133:11 capture [1] - 8:12 care [3] - 21:4, 39:2, 39:3 career [1] - 26:23 careers [1] - 27:24 Caribbean [4] - 37:6, 37:9, 58:1, 81:9 Carl [1] - 9:11 carry [1] - 124:7 CARVAJAL [1] - 9:15 CARVAJAL [1] - 1:11 carve [1] - 108:14 carved [2] - 77:14, 108:11 carves [2] - 76:1, 108:22 case [6] - 25:22, 106:16, 107:1, 107:2, 107:3, 107:10 cases [1] - 80:6 casino [1] - 105:2 CASELL [1] - 60:7 Cassell [3] - 57:11, 60:6, 60:8 Catholic [1] - 47:8 Caucasian [2] - 69:1, 69:2 Caucasians [1] - 115:2 caucus [1] - 4:3 cc'ing [1] - 27:21 CDC [1] - 57:14 celebration [1] - 123:14 cemetery [1] - 75:24 cenus [2] - 24:18, 86:2 Census [2] - 88:3, 98:2 center [5] - 17:25, 38:2, 46:15, 61:3, 73:10 Center [7] - 4:1, 14:4, 14:10, 16:6, 20:2, 38:4, 65:17 central [1] - 7:7 Central [1] - 114:3 century [1] - 41:18 certify [1] - 134:11 CERULLO [2] - 1:18, 9:5 Cerullo [1] - 9:5 chair [4] - 2:4, 35:4, 40:1, 95:10 Chair [1] - 1:13 chairman [3] - 67:17, 125:10, 133:22 Chairman [1] - 48:22 CHAIRMAN [7] - 2:1, 9:10, 9:20, 43:20, 93:21, 125:5, 134:1 Chairman's [1] - 79:9 chairperson [2] - 65:4, 85:16</p>
C			
<p>C1 [1] - 101:24 call [11] - 9:21, 9:23, 10:18, 11:4, 21:8, 30:2, 30:25, 68:23, 90:20, 106:2, 121:20 calling [1] - 4:3 calls [2] - 21:9, 117:19 Cambria [27] - 49:14, 91:5, 91:6, 91:10, 91:18, 91:21, 91:23, 92:23, 93:8, 95:8, 95:17, 99:17, 99:20, 99:25, 100:2, 100:5, 100:8, 100:21, 111:11, 112:22,</p>			

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>challenges [1] - 94:19 chance [3] - 56:11, 70:24 CHANG [1] - 14:2 Chang [3] - 11:5, 13:25, 14:3 change [14] - 28:24, 30:24, 32:19, 33:7, 50:17, 85:1, 87:3, 87:21, 87:22, 100:14, 100:19, 110:14, 110:18, 121:6 changed [5] - 31:1, 31:3, 100:20, 106:23, 127:23 changes [10] - 11:16, 27:12, 29:4, 36:11, 38:12, 38:18, 61:19, 62:14, 74:21, 128:9 Channel [1] - 35:5 chapter [1] - 119:21 character [5] - 29:16, 65:6, 74:21, 75:1, 80:8 characteristic [1] - 25:15 charged [1] - 17:25 Charles [2] - 85:12, 87:8 Charter [22] - 4:15, 4:24, 7:19, 8:20, 17:7, 17:18, 18:25, 35:17, 45:25, 51:3, 64:15, 84:1, 86:9, 86:20, 87:5, 88:5, 88:15, 88:20, 100:10, 117:19, 130:5, 131:4 Charter's [1] - 18:17 cheap [1] - 48:1 Chen [2] - 99:15, 100:24 CHEN [2] - 100:25, 101:7 cherish [1] - 49:8 CHHAYA [1] - 57:14 child [1] - 117:6 children [7] - 32:10, 32:15, 52:5, 93:18, 93:20, 96:13, 113:16 chime [1] - 10:2 Chinatown [1] - 15:4 Chinese [4] - 15:3, 20:4, 65:25, 66:8 Chinese-American [1] - 20:4 Choi [2] - 65:17, 66:22 Choi's [2] - 66:17, 67:1 choice [2] - 18:24, 123:22 choices [1] - 51:7 choose [1] - 123:17 chooses [2] - 21:6, 85:22 chopped [1] - 114:6 chose [3] - 30:22, 48:14, 55:25 chosen [1] - 26:24 Chris [2] - 70:12, 72:20 Christina [6] - 11:5, 13:25, 14:3, 104:12, 108:2, 108:5 Christine [1] - 72:22 Chuck [2] - 87:9, 89:16 churches [2] - 47:7, 104:23</p>	<p>circle [1] - 32:12 circulated [2] - 2:25, 16:19 Citizens [5] - 48:25, 49:4, 49:11, 50:20, 76:19 citizens [2] - 30:8, 103:15 city [8] - 2:23, 3:10, 4:9, 33:10, 61:8, 69:14, 76:10, 109:17 CITY [1] - 1:1 City [101] - 1:5, 2:2, 2:4, 3:5, 4:2, 4:5, 4:11, 4:15, 4:17, 5:1, 5:6, 5:10, 6:5, 6:22, 7:19, 8:1, 8:20, 12:23, 13:14, 14:6, 16:21, 17:18, 17:25, 24:19, 25:2, 27:3, 32:6, 32:7, 33:2, 37:21, 40:24, 41:7, 47:15, 51:3, 53:6, 53:7, 54:23, 55:12, 55:20, 56:8, 56:22, 57:8, 58:2, 58:6, 58:7, 58:10, 61:21, 62:8, 63:5, 64:15, 77:6, 77:10, 79:20, 81:18, 82:20, 84:1, 86:9, 86:17, 86:20, 87:5, 87:23, 88:4, 88:9, 88:13, 88:15, 88:20, 88:22, 88:25, 90:13, 99:24, 100:6, 100:10, 100:17, 102:22, 102:23, 103:7, 106:21, 109:16, 110:11, 110:20, 111:5, 113:18, 114:22, 115:18, 115:25, 116:10, 116:17, 117:19, 118:2, 119:2, 120:2, 123:3, 123:7, 123:16, 124:6, 124:13, 124:24, 125:15, 125:22, 127:10, 131:4 city's [1] - 13:15 City's [1] - 84:13 City-level [1] - 81:18 Civic [31] - 20:12, 20:14, 27:16, 27:17, 27:19, 35:9, 35:21, 36:17, 43:8, 43:10, 44:9, 45:16, 60:9, 60:12, 62:1, 71:25, 72:2, 74:5, 74:15, 74:24, 80:19, 91:6, 92:24, 95:8, 95:17, 100:22, 117:24, 125:21, 126:3, 126:21, 126:22 civic [22] - 20:14, 24:6, 27:5, 27:7, 29:1, 29:9, 31:12, 35:16, 43:3, 45:11, 46:4, 47:9, 49:8, 59:10, 60:14, 60:20, 62:5, 63:1, 71:25, 76:23, 91:11, 95:18 civically [1] - 14:12 civics [3] - 70:23, 76:4, 78:20 claimed [1] - 66:11 class [3] - 81:8, 83:18, 121:25 cleaning [1] - 107:23</p>	<p>clear [7] - 30:21, 54:24, 83:22, 83:25, 97:1, 97:10, 131:10 Clearview [3] - 12:18, 15:18, 44:20 closer [1] - 59:19 closing [1] - 124:21 cluster [1] - 25:19 clusters [2] - 24:24, 60:2 Clyde [3] - 98:22, 99:15, 99:17 co [5] - 35:16, 35:25, 36:6, 45:18, 95:10 Co [1] - 77:25 co-chair [1] - 95:10 co-op [4] - 35:16, 35:25, 36:6, 45:18 Co-Ops [1] - 77:25 Coalition [1] - 11:9 coalition [4] - 12:19, 12:25, 19:15, 20:5 code [11] - 31:1, 91:17, 92:9, 93:13, 95:21, 95:22, 95:25, 96:2, 96:11, 118:1, 126:14 Cohen [4] - 108:3, 109:5, 109:8, 127:9 COHEN [1] - 109:7 cohesive [2] - 77:19, 95:16 coincides [1] - 96:10 Colin [2] - 45:4, 46:20 colleagues [1] - 127:16 college [1] - 96:22 College [2] - 1:4, 2:7 color [2] - 39:9, 40:18 coloring [3] - 39:8, 40:16, 40:17 comeback [1] - 128:19 coming [5] - 41:8, 60:23, 98:12, 110:12, 128:13 comment [4] - 4:20, 6:12, 14:5, 129:15 commentary [1] - 4:5 comments [4] - 5:13, 5:16, 5:22, 76:20 commercial [6] - 61:7, 75:4, 93:16, 102:3, 102:7, 102:8 COMMISSION [1] - 1:2 Commission [128] - 2:5, 2:6, 2:22, 3:9, 3:12, 3:14, 4:12, 4:14, 4:16, 4:20, 4:24, 5:2, 5:6, 5:9, 5:12, 5:16, 5:19, 5:21, 6:1, 6:2, 6:4, 6:9, 6:15, 7:9, 7:11, 9:12, 9:19, 10:5, 10:13, 11:7, 12:14, 12:21, 13:10, 14:7, 14:14, 14:25, 15:9, 15:21, 15:23, 16:2, 16:17, 16:23, 17:6, 17:13, 17:21, 18:10, 18:11, 19:3, 19:11, 19:20, 20:19, 20:24, 21:6, 21:8, 21:10,</p>	<p>21:13, 21:15, 21:17, 21:20, 22:8, 22:15, 24:13, 24:15, 26:18, 27:4, 27:14, 27:21, 28:5, 30:15, 31:6, 35:10, 37:16, 38:8, 38:11, 41:8, 43:6, 49:15, 50:5, 50:11, 50:17, 50:21, 51:2, 51:14, 54:4, 55:2, 55:16, 57:13, 59:19, 62:1, 62:3, 64:17, 64:24, 67:12, 67:17, 67:18, 70:22, 71:1, 71:4, 72:8, 72:15, 73:2, 81:4, 85:22, 86:7, 87:4, 87:13, 87:24, 87:25, 88:1, 88:4, 88:6, 90:1, 91:3, 91:9, 91:14, 98:14, 100:1, 100:16, 103:7, 113:11, 114:11, 118:13, 119:11, 119:20, 120:10, 123:5, 124:14, 131:1 Commission's [19] - 2:3, 2:24, 5:23, 10:17, 11:17, 12:9, 14:21, 20:7, 20:15, 20:21, 21:2, 28:19, 28:23, 31:4, 31:24, 54:18, 72:12, 99:24, 102:22 Commissioner [3] - 9:2, 47:17, 86:12 commissioners [1] - 26:20 Commissioners [16] - 8:25, 62:18, 72:21, 74:3, 83:9, 85:13, 95:5, 96:20, 99:16, 100:8, 103:16, 103:21, 118:19, 125:11, 129:11 commitments [1] - 42:2 Committee [1] - 48:23 committee [4] - 49:23, 95:11, 121:2, 122:21 Common [1] - 3:24 common [29] - 6:24, 8:5, 8:13, 17:1, 17:22, 18:14, 25:15, 25:16, 25:17, 46:1, 46:2, 53:12, 53:18, 53:19, 53:23, 53:25, 59:1, 59:7, 61:5, 61:16, 63:24, 77:2, 86:23, 88:18, 91:20, 100:13, 111:14, 111:15 commonality [3] - 42:8, 116:1, 116:20 communities [42] - 6:24, 8:4, 8:9, 8:13, 13:16, 14:19, 15:1, 15:4, 15:6, 16:10, 16:11, 17:3, 17:14, 18:14, 29:3, 35:19, 36:10, 37:24, 49:22, 58:11, 59:22, 60:1, 60:3, 62:7, 64:16, 69:6, 69:16, 72:13, 80:23, 82:14, 82:15, 84:19, 86:22, 88:17, 98:9, 99:21, 100:7, 100:12, 103:10, 103:23, 130:7,</p>
--	---	---	---

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>131:1 communities' [2] - 17:1, 17:22 Community [22] - 1:4, 2:7, 14:5, 20:2, 22:10, 27:18, 35:4, 41:23, 60:11, 64:1, 64:2, 65:17, 77:5, 77:24, 78:7, 85:16, 118:23, 118:25, 119:15, 121:14, 121:19 community [178] - 2:22, 10:8, 11:19, 12:1, 12:10, 12:15, 12:19, 14:12, 14:17, 15:11, 15:14, 18:22, 18:23, 19:17, 19:24, 20:3, 21:7, 21:18, 22:8, 22:11, 22:21, 23:13, 23:15, 23:21, 24:7, 25:21, 26:9, 27:8, 28:20, 29:7, 29:17, 31:7, 32:11, 32:14, 32:15, 32:18, 33:6, 33:8, 33:9, 33:10, 33:11, 33:13, 34:2, 34:17, 34:18, 34:23, 37:10, 37:18, 37:20, 38:3, 38:7, 38:9, 38:15, 42:3, 42:4, 42:7, 43:24, 45:7, 45:24, 46:12, 46:18, 46:24, 47:5, 49:18, 49:20, 49:25, 50:8, 50:16, 51:23, 52:1, 52:8, 52:13, 52:19, 53:18, 54:8, 54:20, 56:19, 57:3, 57:13, 57:18, 57:20, 58:5, 58:9, 58:14, 58:16, 58:17, 58:19, 58:21, 58:22, 59:1, 59:2, 59:4, 59:14, 59:17, 62:23, 63:2, 63:12, 63:15, 64:13, 67:23, 68:17, 70:24, 71:6, 71:14, 71:20, 73:3, 73:9, 74:13, 76:12, 77:9, 78:4, 78:7, 78:9, 78:17, 78:21, 79:22, 79:25, 80:8, 80:18, 80:20, 83:11, 83:18, 83:23, 84:5, 84:25, 85:1, 85:6, 85:7, 85:19, 86:8, 87:18, 90:7, 90:16, 96:15, 97:2, 98:4, 98:11, 98:12, 99:2, 99:4, 99:12, 99:18, 99:20, 100:5, 100:9, 101:11, 111:14, 112:1, 112:14, 113:17, 114:14, 117:11, 117:17, 119:24, 120:4, 120:5, 120:7, 120:11, 120:14, 120:21, 120:22, 120:24, 121:2, 121:16, 122:1, 123:9, 126:12, 128:10, 128:24, 130:1, 130:3, 130:17, 130:20, 132:14, 132:22, 133:4, 133:16 community's [1] - 23:2 community-based [1] -</p>	<p>62:23 compact [2] - 7:1, 22:2 compactness [1] - 22:3 Company [1] - 29:22 company [2] - 53:9, 123:11 competition [1] - 114:15 complain [1] - 66:20 complaints [3] - 24:14, 66:24, 75:14 complete [3] - 7:9, 55:25, 94:1 completely [3] - 14:24, 38:5, 97:15 complex [2] - 28:7, 61:3 complexion [1] - 110:3 complexity [1] - 4:9 complicated [1] - 65:20 compliment [3] - 51:16, 54:3, 54:6 comply [1] - 18:25 compositions [1] - 64:4 comprised [2] - 67:3, 123:18 computer [1] - 40:15 Comrie [1] - 90:20 concentrate [1] - 58:12 concentrated [1] - 58:11 concepts [1] - 76:5 concern [6] - 77:23, 87:20, 101:1, 120:2, 122:3, 130:11 concerned [6] - 22:20, 23:5, 27:13, 97:25, 103:15, 103:22 concerns [16] - 15:13, 27:4, 27:14, 41:9, 50:6, 59:9, 60:2, 61:6, 62:12, 76:24, 81:20, 83:14, 91:22, 111:15, 117:25, 122:8 concluded [1] - 134:6 concludes [2] - 8:24, 134:1 conclusion [2] - 89:11, 129:13 concomitant [1] - 75:2 conduct [2] - 3:10, 5:11 Conference [1] - 109:9 conference [1] - 109:13 confidence [1] - 51:8 conflicts [1] - 61:20 confuse [1] - 56:4 confused [2] - 65:20, 67:7 confusing [1] - 55:21 confusion [2] - 59:5, 77:11 Congress [7] - 20:14, 43:10, 44:9, 60:12, 62:1, 71:25, 80:19 Congress' [1] - 43:8 Congressional [1] - 58:7 connected [1] - 83:3 connection [1] - 110:20</p>	<p>connections [1] - 63:24 Conservation [1] - 76:19 consider [8] - 5:3, 5:16, 6:15, 83:4, 87:4, 90:1, 112:25, 119:11 consideration [7] - 22:15, 39:17, 42:21, 55:16, 57:6, 87:2, 111:17 considered [5] - 4:24, 17:19, 83:3, 118:7, 118:9 considering [1] - 18:13 considers [2] - 17:13, 17:21 consistency [1] - 62:11 consistent [2] - 20:10, 72:12 consistently [1] - 15:19 consisting [1] - 60:10 consists [1] - 81:7 constantly [1] - 75:9 constituents [7] - 54:1, 55:15, 62:9, 80:7, 81:21, 82:19, 122:4 constrained [1] - 4:14 constraints [1] - 7:18 construction [2] - 81:15, 84:17 Consulate [1] - 38:3 consultation [1] - 19:23 consulting [1] - 5:1 contact [1] - 104:16 contacted [2] - 27:6, 27:20 contained [2] - 27:1, 83:1 contains [2] - 7:9, 115:18 contiguous [6] - 7:1, 22:2, 71:15, 77:1, 78:3, 78:22 continue [10] - 13:17, 16:6, 36:19, 42:6, 71:15, 93:19, 101:12, 108:20, 124:11, 124:15 continued [2] - 56:21, 133:25 continues [4] - 66:20, 77:25, 86:7, 106:13 continuing [1] - 5:4 continuously [1] - 95:19 contracts [1] - 53:6 contrary [1] - 30:1 control [1] - 84:20 controls [1] - 87:22 convened [1] - 5:3 conveniently [1] - 123:21 converted [1] - 52:24 convinced [2] - 45:12, 80:15 cookie [1] - 32:13 cookie-cutter [1] - 32:13 cooperations [1] - 41:25 Cooperative [5] - 41:12, 41:13, 41:14, 41:16, 42:17 cooperative [4] - 41:17, 41:24, 42:7, 42:18</p>	<p>cooperatives [2] - 42:10, 42:19 coordinator [4] - 37:6, 65:10, 65:14, 66:19 Coordinator [1] - 62:20 copies [3] - 66:23, 68:8, 104:16 copy [3] - 10:14, 26:17, 60:23 corner [1] - 72:23 Corona [15] - 33:10, 108:6, 108:9, 108:13, 108:14, 108:17, 108:18, 109:3, 113:13, 115:18, 116:14, 116:15, 118:25, 119:14 Corps [1] - 76:19 corridor [1] - 133:8 corridors [2] - 39:12, 40:14 cost [1] - 80:6 council [26] - 29:6, 36:8, 36:10, 36:13, 36:20, 50:20, 60:16, 60:20, 61:17, 61:21, 63:16, 67:3, 71:7, 77:15, 77:17, 96:2, 102:24, 108:7, 111:16, 120:12, 121:22, 122:12, 126:12, 127:18, 130:19, 133:21 Council [86] - 4:6, 4:11, 4:17, 4:19, 4:21, 5:6, 5:10, 6:5, 6:7, 6:8, 8:1, 14:6, 16:22, 17:25, 24:2, 25:21, 27:25, 28:8, 28:9, 28:12, 28:17, 29:8, 35:3, 37:14, 37:21, 38:19, 42:16, 45:8, 45:13, 54:23, 55:12, 55:20, 56:8, 56:22, 57:8, 57:20, 62:8, 63:11, 65:8, 68:15, 70:1, 70:16, 71:12, 71:14, 72:17, 73:24, 76:25, 77:6, 77:8, 77:10, 78:1, 78:9, 78:10, 78:11, 81:11, 90:13, 99:25, 100:6, 100:17, 102:23, 106:21, 109:9, 109:15, 110:12, 110:16, 113:19, 118:2, 119:3, 119:4, 119:6, 119:12, 119:21, 119:23, 120:2, 120:15, 123:7, 124:24, 125:15, 125:22, 126:2, 129:17, 130:4, 130:15, 131:22, 131:25 Council's [1] - 4:2 council-district [1] - 29:6 council-divided [1] - 126:12 Councilman [11] - 26:15, 33:1, 60:18, 70:2, 70:4, 102:16, 102:18, 102:21, 122:11, 127:19 councilman [6] - 33:2, 75:15, 96:6, 96:8, 113:3, 125:25 Councilmanic [1] - 115:22</p>
---	---	---	---

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>councilmanic [2] - 3:16, 42:11</p> <p>Councilmen [3] - 43:11, 72:7, 124:25</p> <p>counsel [1] - 5:2</p> <p>Counsel [1] - 9:19</p> <p>counties [1] - 50:19</p> <p>country [2] - 30:7, 114:16</p> <p>County [5] - 9:7, 24:22, 24:23, 41:9, 43:4</p> <p>couple [3] - 22:13, 47:11, 47:14</p> <p>court [5] - 80:5, 106:14, 106:17, 106:19, 107:1</p> <p>Court [2] - 89:3, 106:18</p> <p>courts [1] - 124:10</p> <p>Covenant [2] - 123:11, 124:8</p> <p>covenant [3] - 29:19, 124:9, 124:11</p> <p>covenants [1] - 29:18</p> <p>cover [1] - 43:1</p> <p>coverage [1] - 89:7</p> <p>covered [2] - 88:23, 125:22</p> <p>covers [3] - 35:5, 67:9, 108:11</p> <p>Cozy [1] - 117:8</p> <p>create [7] - 4:8, 12:21, 30:11, 41:25, 50:11, 72:11, 83:20</p> <p>created [7] - 3:19, 7:11, 16:2, 27:11, 67:22, 71:12, 71:24</p> <p>creating [3] - 30:14, 31:16, 133:11</p> <p>creation [1] - 30:2</p> <p>Crime [1] - 121:15</p> <p>crime [1] - 121:21</p> <p>crises [1] - 81:17</p> <p>criteria [2] - 17:8, 88:2</p> <p>critical [2] - 14:12, 128:12</p> <p>Crocheron [1] - 70:19</p> <p>Cross [3] - 12:16, 15:17, 117:22</p> <p>cross [3] - 111:1, 116:9, 116:13</p> <p>crossed [1] - 116:9</p> <p>crossover [3] - 50:12, 50:14, 50:18</p> <p>Cultural [1] - 38:3</p> <p>cultural [3] - 52:7, 58:13, 58:19</p> <p>culture [2] - 63:1, 82:23</p> <p>Cuomo [1] - 87:13</p> <p>current [15] - 12:11, 31:4, 31:24, 55:12, 66:18, 71:8, 75:6, 75:19, 76:1, 76:8, 79:20, 119:1, 120:15, 121:6, 130:4</p> <p>currently [14] - 21:21, 29:6, 34:7, 35:3, 37:14, 68:14, 75:4, 80:5, 92:10, 93:12, 118:23, 119:14, 125:16,</p>	<p>125:23</p> <p>currently-noncompliant [1] - 75:4</p> <p>currently-proposed [1] - 29:6</p> <p>cut [8] - 32:12, 38:5, 40:16, 82:10, 82:13, 101:24, 113:21, 113:23</p> <p>cuts [2] - 43:17, 68:16</p> <p>cutter [1] - 32:13</p> <p>cutting [1] - 20:20</p> <p>Cypress [1] - 50:9</p>	<p>52:13, 54:24</p> <p>definition [1] - 16:3</p> <p>degree [1] - 79:8</p> <p>demand [3] - 64:12, 106:11, 106:15</p> <p>demarcations [1] - 60:22</p> <p>Democracy [1] - 11:10</p> <p>democracy [1] - 49:2</p> <p>democratic [2] - 21:4, 53:20</p> <p>demographics [4] - 12:12, 68:18, 68:20, 69:3</p> <p>denied [1] - 65:21</p> <p>denigration [1] - 75:2</p> <p>Dennis [1] - 117:9</p> <p>dense [2] - 133:7</p> <p>density [4] - 28:11, 69:14, 71:19, 80:9</p> <p>deny [1] - 82:16</p> <p>department [3] - 106:5, 107:3, 107:4</p> <p>Department [8] - 5:2, 16:20, 18:6, 18:9, 26:13, 66:13, 89:2, 123:25</p> <p>depending [1] - 7:20</p> <p>depicting [1] - 66:1</p> <p>deprive [1] - 85:6</p> <p>described [2] - 60:17, 68:17</p> <p>deserve [3] - 57:5, 90:18, 103:3</p> <p>designed [1] - 123:8</p> <p>desire [1] - 25:17</p> <p>desk [4] - 2:17, 10:15, 10:20, 11:3</p> <p>despite [1] - 58:7</p> <p>Destiny [1] - 68:23</p> <p>destroy [2] - 76:5, 80:18</p> <p>destroyed [2] - 18:3, 103:24</p> <p>detailed [3] - 10:12, 60:24, 61:24</p> <p>detailing [1] - 50:23</p> <p>determine [1] - 39:14</p> <p>determined [1] - 89:5</p> <p>detriment [1] - 82:14</p> <p>detrimental [1] - 31:5</p> <p>developed [2] - 41:17, 74:19</p> <p>developers [1] - 123:12</p> <p>Development [2] - 126:14, 126:25</p> <p>development [4] - 57:19, 81:15, 97:15, 97:17</p> <p>developments [2] - 128:4, 132:5</p> <p>deviation [4] - 67:12, 82:4, 125:2, 132:24</p> <p>Dhanasar [2] - 96:18, 98:22</p> <p>diaspora [1] - 57:25</p> <p>diced [1] - 79:23</p> <p>died [1] - 47:15</p> <p>difference [1] - 6:17</p>	<p>differences [1] - 110:9</p> <p>differentiations [1] - 30:23</p> <p>differs [1] - 66:16</p> <p>difficult [2] - 8:8, 96:7</p> <p>dilute [3] - 47:25, 56:6, 76:3</p> <p>dilutes [1] - 27:10</p> <p>diluted [1] - 79:24</p> <p>dilutes [1] - 27:10</p> <p>diluting [1] - 63:14</p> <p>diminish [1] - 76:8</p> <p>diminishing [1] - 7:3</p> <p>dining [1] - 73:7</p> <p>direct [1] - 5:19</p> <p>directed [1] - 4:16</p> <p>director [4] - 9:11, 22:10, 55:14, 109:8</p> <p>directors [1] - 36:7</p> <p>disadvantage [1] - 56:7</p> <p>disappointed [3] - 14:13, 34:19, 90:3</p> <p>disconnect [2] - 36:15, 133:3</p> <p>discuss [4] - 9:21, 28:1, 65:6, 65:16</p> <p>discussed [3] - 53:14, 101:2, 113:1</p> <p>disdain [1] - 21:3</p> <p>disenfranchise [5] - 46:6, 79:15, 83:22, 85:5, 85:24</p> <p>disenfranchised [4] - 11:13, 16:12, 18:4, 65:19</p> <p>disenfranchises [1] - 75:21</p> <p>disgraced [1] - 40:7</p> <p>dishonest [1] - 83:24</p> <p>dishonor [1] - 21:7</p> <p>dismay [1] - 79:9</p> <p>dismayed [1] - 80:11</p> <p>dismissed [1] - 107:10</p> <p>displace [1] - 32:20</p> <p>displayed [1] - 66:3</p> <p>disregard [1] - 20:21</p> <p>disregarded [1] - 90:15</p> <p>disregarding [1] - 82:6</p> <p>disrespect [1] - 97:23</p> <p>dissenting [1] - 14:22</p> <p>distinct [1] - 54:20</p> <p>distinctiveness [1] - 82:24</p> <p>District [141] - 11:18, 12:16, 15:10, 16:22, 17:24, 18:16, 18:23, 19:1, 19:4, 19:6, 20:18, 21:12, 21:23, 25:21, 28:8, 28:9, 28:12, 28:17, 32:25, 35:4, 35:15, 36:11, 36:19, 42:16, 44:2, 44:12, 44:16, 45:7, 45:13, 49:25, 50:3, 50:10, 50:13, 57:21, 59:13, 60:17, 60:18, 61:5, 61:13, 63:11, 63:21, 63:22, 64:1, 64:2, 64:18, 65:9, 67:21, 68:1, 68:15, 70:1, 70:16, 71:12, 71:14, 72:17, 73:24, 75:7, 75:12, 78:2,</p>
	D		
	<p>D.C [1] - 89:3</p> <p>DA's [1] - 66:25</p> <p>dais [2] - 110:4, 110:5</p> <p>damage [1] - 21:21</p> <p>Dan [3] - 24:2, 26:15, 60:19</p> <p>Daniel [1] - 119:4</p> <p>Danny [1] - 33:1</p> <p>data [3] - 88:2, 88:4, 98:2</p> <p>date [2] - 20:8, 58:5</p> <p>dated [2] - 60:19, 72:9</p> <p>daughters [1] - 48:8</p> <p>day [4] - 66:14, 81:19, 125:14, 128:17</p> <p>Dayton [2] - 35:24, 45:17</p> <p>deadlines [1] - 4:15</p> <p>deadly [1] - 48:18</p> <p>deal [2] - 31:14, 96:7</p> <p>death [1] - 109:24</p> <p>decade [1] - 58:4</p> <p>decades [1] - 84:25</p> <p>December [10] - 2:21, 5:3, 25:6, 28:5, 55:7, 56:9, 60:19, 70:3, 72:9, 116:5</p> <p>decide [1] - 6:2</p> <p>decided [3] - 48:15, 67:20, 127:4</p> <p>decimated [1] - 103:9</p> <p>decimates [1] - 82:4</p> <p>decision [5] - 12:9, 50:7, 50:23, 82:21, 83:5</p> <p>decision-making [1] - 50:23</p> <p>decisions [2] - 33:20, 110:13</p> <p>declared [1] - 124:9</p> <p>decrease [1] - 122:6</p> <p>dedicated [1] - 49:1</p> <p>deed [2] - 35:12, 106:23</p> <p>deeds [2] - 123:10, 124:8</p> <p>deemed [1] - 6:8</p> <p>deems [1] - 5:21</p> <p>deeply [1] - 49:7</p> <p>Defense [2] - 3:25, 19:23</p> <p>defied [1] - 20:25</p> <p>define [3] - 15:15, 52:8, 82:25</p> <p>defined [4] - 48:10, 52:10,</p>		

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>entitled [1] - 30:8 entity [1] - 132:24 environment [1] - 93:17 envy [1] - 33:20 equal [4] - 8:3, 12:22, 30:9, 106:11 Equality [1] - 13:7 equality [3] - 13:9, 13:12, 16:5 equally [2] - 40:4, 106:10 equation [2] - 31:11, 48:9 equations [1] - 47:1 equitable [1] - 14:11 errands [1] - 73:8 essential [2] - 51:6, 77:16 established [13] - 6:24, 8:5, 29:20, 35:19, 41:23, 46:1, 77:2, 79:12, 86:14, 86:23, 88:10, 88:17, 100:12 establishes [1] - 42:2 establishments [1] - 38:6 estate [1] - 117:11 Estate [3] - 29:22, 126:3, 126:22 Estates [3] - 116:2, 119:9, 120:9 ethic [1] - 58:2 ethnic [10] - 2:22, 30:3, 33:8, 61:18, 64:3, 86:25, 88:19, 89:6, 107:24, 123:19 ethnically [1] - 71:17 ethnically-diverse [1] - 71:17 ethnicities [1] - 83:22 ethnicity [1] - 6:25 Euler [3] - 41:5, 42:23, 42:24 EULER [2] - 42:24, 43:23 eve [1] - 110:7 evening [70] - 11:6, 11:8, 16:16, 19:10, 22:7, 24:3, 32:5, 33:17, 35:1, 35:8, 37:3, 41:6, 45:5, 46:21, 48:22, 51:13, 54:12, 56:16, 57:12, 60:7, 62:17, 64:23, 65:8, 67:16, 68:7, 70:13, 71:23, 74:3, 76:17, 79:3, 79:10, 81:3, 81:4, 83:9, 85:13, 87:10, 89:17, 91:2, 92:21, 95:5, 96:20, 98:23, 99:16, 100:25, 101:3, 102:14, 103:14, 103:16, 104:7, 104:14, 108:4, 109:7, 111:10, 112:20, 113:11, 115:16, 116:25, 118:15, 118:19, 119:19, 120:19, 121:11, 122:18, 125:12, 127:16, 129:5, 131:15, 134:2, 134:3 events [1] - 58:20 Everly [2] - 102:12, 103:13</p>	<p>Evers [1] - 109:24 everybody [7] - 87:11, 98:24, 100:25, 101:17, 102:14, 110:1, 117:1 everyone's [1] - 104:16 exacerbated [1] - 18:21 exactly [1] - 107:25 examine [1] - 50:17 example [3] - 11:18, 50:25, 131:5 examples [2] - 120:25, 131:7 exceed [1] - 6:19 excellent [1] - 33:2 except [3] - 37:20, 39:24, 74:10 exchange [1] - 129:24 excited [2] - 34:14 exclude [2] - 42:12, 99:11 excluded [1] - 52:3 excluding [1] - 7:21 executive [3] - 9:11, 22:10, 55:14 exist [1] - 47:23 existed [1] - 77:15 existence [1] - 35:22 expanding [1] - 114:25 expansion [1] - 33:4 expect [3] - 129:10, 129:11, 130:14 expectations [2] - 65:16, 66:17 expediency [1] - 76:13 expense [4] - 84:23, 84:24, 89:14, 97:9 experience [2] - 66:16, 103:4 experienced [1] - 66:19 experiences [1] - 63:3 expired [1] - 10:2 explain [3] - 9:24, 48:2, 101:18 explaining [1] - 65:25 exploding [1] - 13:16 expressed [2] - 27:14, 117:24 Expressway [9] - 12:18, 15:18, 21:25, 44:20, 73:17, 114:20, 115:1, 125:18, 126:6 extend [3] - 31:17, 102:3, 125:16 extends [3] - 61:14, 74:12, 75:19 extensive [1] - 62:4 extensively [1] - 28:1 extent [1] - 39:25 extremely [4] - 8:8, 14:13, 34:19, 90:3 eyed [1] - 30:13</p>	<p style="text-align: center;">F</p> <p>Facebook [1] - 3:7 faces [1] - 22:16 facilities [2] - 10:5, 58:14 facility [1] - 2:9 fact [10] - 23:1, 52:2, 52:10, 53:7, 86:7, 109:14, 109:21, 110:22, 112:23, 113:18 factors [3] - 6:14, 8:20, 81:24 fails [1] - 12:11 fair [11] - 6:21, 14:11, 14:18, 17:12, 17:19, 18:12, 18:17, 83:15, 86:15, 88:11, 115:7 fairly [4] - 7:24, 39:10, 40:13, 124:23 Fairness [1] - 13:5 fairness [3] - 13:9, 13:12, 16:6 fall [1] - 131:25 familiar [3] - 54:21, 59:6, 114:10 families [7] - 53:13, 74:22, 83:18, 93:17, 93:19, 94:18, 123:17 family [18] - 45:2, 61:10, 69:10, 69:11, 69:12, 71:6, 71:16, 73:3, 73:5, 74:20, 74:25, 75:3, 80:9, 83:19, 93:15, 101:19, 123:18, 132:10 fashion [1] - 103:25 fastest [1] - 58:1 fault [1] - 78:5 favor [5] - 20:22, 71:8, 71:10, 126:1, 126:4 favorable [1] - 127:5 favorite [1] - 117:6 feasible [1] - 50:19 Federal [7] - 17:17, 88:3, 89:1, 106:16, 106:18, 106:19, 107:1 federal [1] - 18:20 feed [1] - 3:7 feedback [1] - 6:12 feel [6] - 22:17, 22:20, 42:9, 44:5, 80:16, 116:15 feelings [1] - 112:7 feels [1] - 87:19 feet [1] - 102:10 fellow [5] - 10:8, 16:17, 23:4, 48:23, 118:20 felt [1] - 34:15 Ferrigno [1] - 122:24 fight [5] - 75:2, 97:6, 104:5, 106:13, 128:6 fillers [1] - 13:18 final [11] - 19:16, 26:7, 50:8, 50:22, 82:21, 83:5, 103:5, 124:21, 127:13, 129:7,</p>	<p>131:13 finalize [1] - 60:21 finances [1] - 128:12 financial [1] - 86:3 find [6] - 62:9, 62:10, 83:19, 85:21, 90:22, 106:7 finish [1] - 10:3 Finlay [5] - 29:19, 74:17, 123:10, 123:12, 124:8 firehouses [1] - 55:23 first [22] - 3:11, 3:17, 9:21, 9:23, 10:18, 11:4, 14:21, 17:12, 17:19, 23:8, 25:3, 25:4, 27:23, 34:12, 35:9, 42:25, 93:4, 96:25, 102:25, 115:20, 121:18, 121:22 five [5] - 63:4, 77:6, 79:6, 133:9, 133:10 five-story [1] - 133:10 fix [1] - 55:24 floors [1] - 45:19 Floral [1] - 25:2 Florence [6] - 81:1, 83:7, 83:10, 120:17, 121:9, 121:12 Flushing [54] - 11:20, 27:15, 27:17, 28:20, 29:2, 29:9, 29:14, 31:17, 43:2, 44:5, 44:12, 50:2, 60:9, 61:6, 61:23, 64:25, 65:3, 67:5, 67:9, 68:13, 69:19, 69:23, 70:15, 70:18, 70:23, 71:13, 71:19, 72:1, 72:2, 72:3, 72:16, 74:18, 79:5, 79:16, 79:25, 80:12, 80:21, 101:16, 111:4, 111:25, 112:4, 112:9, 122:20, 122:22, 123:6, 123:8, 123:15, 123:24, 124:10, 124:17, 131:18, 133:4, 133:5 Flushing's [1] - 61:10 flux [1] - 32:19 focus [2] - 19:17, 25:3 focused [2] - 46:17, 57:18 focusing [1] - 49:3 folks [3] - 53:2, 68:24, 131:16 follow [2] - 23:13, 31:21 followed [65] - 10:19, 11:5, 13:25, 16:14, 17:6, 19:9, 22:5, 24:1, 26:16, 32:4, 33:16, 34:25, 37:2, 38:22, 41:5, 42:23, 45:4, 46:20, 48:21, 51:12, 54:10, 56:14, 57:11, 60:6, 62:16, 64:21, 67:14, 68:5, 70:12, 72:20, 74:1, 76:15, 81:1, 83:8, 85:11, 87:8, 89:16, 91:1, 92:20, 95:1, 96:18, 98:22,</p>
---	--	---	---

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>99:15, 100:24, 102:12, 103:13, 104:12, 108:2, 109:5, 111:8, 111:19, 111:22, 112:18, 113:9, 115:14, 116:23, 118:17, 119:17, 120:17, 121:9, 122:16, 125:9, 127:13, 127:14, 129:7</p> <p>following [3] - 10:22, 16:21, 79:1</p> <p>follows [1] - 77:14</p> <p>food [1] - 53:5</p> <p>foreclosure [1] - 81:17</p> <p>forefront [1] - 84:12</p> <p>Forest [3] - 63:23, 64:5, 103:2</p> <p>forgotten [1] - 26:8</p> <p>form [2] - 95:15, 103:24</p> <p>forth [3] - 4:15, 43:6, 67:4</p> <p>fortunate [2] - 94:20, 95:15</p> <p>forward [5] - 8:22, 28:6, 55:17, 62:4, 130:13</p> <p>forwarded [1] - 67:16</p> <p>foul [1] - 133:1</p> <p>found [5] - 26:3, 30:17, 106:8, 115:23, 119:5</p> <p>founded [1] - 74:25</p> <p>founders [1] - 122:24</p> <p>founding [1] - 14:9</p> <p>four [7] - 36:4, 36:14, 42:12, 79:24, 108:10, 108:14, 133:10</p> <p>fractured [1] - 57:2</p> <p>fragment [1] - 48:1</p> <p>Franc [1] - 111:8</p> <p>Francis [14] - 44:21, 91:15, 92:2, 92:7, 92:15, 93:10, 93:11, 93:23, 95:24, 96:1, 96:4, 96:11, 117:20, 117:22</p> <p>Francois [3] - 111:9, 111:19, 111:21</p> <p>FRANK [1] - 1:10</p> <p>Frank [5] - 9:17, 111:19, 115:14, 116:23, 117:1</p> <p>free [2] - 3:20, 114:16</p> <p>Fresh [9] - 125:20, 126:1, 126:11, 126:12, 126:13, 126:15, 126:18, 126:22, 126:25</p> <p>Friday [1] - 68:9</p> <p>Friends [1] - 32:8</p> <p>friends [4] - 44:4, 73:10, 73:15, 103:15</p> <p>front [4] - 11:1, 45:20, 68:10, 68:24</p> <p>Front [2] - 36:3, 45:21</p> <p>full [1] - 56:20</p> <p>fully [5] - 20:10, 23:19, 49:24, 59:2, 90:8</p>	<p>Fund [2] - 3:25, 19:23</p> <p>funding [1] - 56:7</p> <p>funds [1] - 90:17</p>	<p>government [3] - 49:1, 60:23, 62:12</p> <p>Governor [1] - 87:12</p> <p>grace [1] - 123:16</p> <p>gradual [1] - 8:17</p> <p>Grand [1] - 114:3</p> <p>grandfather [1] - 29:21</p> <p>grandkids [1] - 48:8</p> <p>granduncle [1] - 29:21</p> <p>Granger [2] - 108:22, 109:2</p> <p>granted [2] - 68:4, 104:2</p> <p>grasp [1] - 59:2</p> <p>Graziano [2] - 67:15, 68:5</p> <p>GRAZIANO [1] - 68:7</p> <p>great [7] - 4:9, 29:20, 30:4, 79:8, 112:24, 130:11</p> <p>great-great [1] - 29:20</p> <p>Greek [1] - 30:12</p> <p>green [1] - 30:13</p> <p>green-eyed [1] - 30:13</p> <p>greetings [1] - 109:12</p> <p>grew [1] - 125:25</p> <p>ground [1] - 9:21</p> <p>group [12] - 17:11, 46:4, 49:1, 58:10, 59:7, 59:8, 60:9, 73:9, 84:23, 94:23, 110:3, 119:13</p> <p>groups [17] - 3:3, 3:24, 6:22, 17:16, 17:21, 19:24, 23:21, 30:17, 36:13, 46:6, 46:7, 60:14, 86:17, 88:7, 88:13, 98:1, 129:22</p> <p>growing [8] - 15:1, 58:2, 58:8, 59:8, 59:10, 63:18, 117:4, 117:6</p> <p>growth [2] - 49:21, 58:3</p> <p>guess [1] - 107:6</p> <p>guidelines [2] - 45:25, 61:21</p> <p>Guy [1] - 82:13</p> <p>Guyanese [3] - 37:11, 98:7, 99:7</p> <p>guys [2] - 46:23, 129:13</p>	<p>107:13, 107:16, 107:19, 108:1, 108:21, 109:4, 111:7, 111:18, 112:17, 113:8, 115:13, 116:22, 118:16, 119:16, 120:16, 121:8, 122:15, 124:19, 125:6, 125:8, 127:12, 129:6, 131:10, 133:22</p> <p>Hackworth [2] - 9:18, 9:20</p> <p>half [38] - 9:25, 10:1, 10:7, 13:11, 16:9, 18:15, 19:5, 21:16, 26:4, 28:20, 29:7, 29:11, 40:25, 41:18, 44:25, 45:23, 51:1, 53:20, 59:22, 64:13, 66:24, 70:8, 76:7, 82:11, 88:23, 98:17, 101:25, 102:4, 106:24, 111:3, 115:9, 124:15, 126:10, 130:13, 132:21, 132:22, 133:17</p> <p>HALLORAN [3] - 26:17, 30:1, 32:2</p> <p>Halloran [9] - 24:2, 26:15, 29:21, 43:12, 60:19, 70:2, 72:8, 107:22, 125:1</p> <p>handed [1] - 30:14</p> <p>handled [1] - 51:4</p> <p>hands [1] - 13:19</p> <p>handwriting [1] - 95:2</p> <p>Hanophy [4] - 127:14, 129:8, 131:14, 131:17</p> <p>HANOPHY [1] - 131:15</p> <p>happens [1] - 105:6</p> <p>happily [1] - 93:20</p> <p>happy [7] - 89:18, 96:21, 96:23, 129:12, 129:22, 129:25, 131:13</p> <p>harassed [2] - 65:22, 67:8</p> <p>hard [8] - 8:16, 31:7, 33:5, 39:18, 39:22, 45:23, 120:24, 128:25</p> <p>Harding [4] - 73:17, 108:25, 125:18, 126:5</p> <p>Harlem [5] - 117:3, 118:4, 118:7, 118:9</p> <p>harm [2] - 82:18, 132:25</p> <p>Harry [3] - 89:16, 91:1, 93:8</p> <p>hasn't [2] - 25:9, 122:8</p> <p>have you [1] - 46:23</p> <p>haven't [4] - 39:16, 39:21, 43:22, 131:8</p> <p>Hazel [1] - 109:13</p> <p>head [2] - 39:19, 39:22</p> <p>headed [2] - 117:9, 118:24</p> <p>hear [10] - 2:11, 5:12, 10:2, 10:22, 41:9, 90:3, 103:17, 113:20, 114:21, 131:8</p> <p>heard [9] - 3:12, 3:23, 16:10, 53:13, 79:25, 90:19, 91:21, 92:25, 117:17</p>
	G		
	<p>gail [1] - 2:6</p> <p>Gallagher [2] - 122:17, 125:9</p> <p>GALLAGHER [1] - 125:10</p> <p>game [1] - 73:9</p> <p>Gardens [6] - 28:16, 30:22, 31:1, 49:17, 49:24, 108:12</p> <p>gardens [1] - 123:20</p> <p>gave [1] - 39:8</p> <p>generations [1] - 48:7</p> <p>genius [1] - 79:20</p> <p>gentleman [1] - 132:15</p> <p>gentlemen [2] - 33:18, 104:15</p> <p>geographically [1] - 36:2</p> <p>George [3] - 116:24, 118:17, 118:21</p> <p>gerrymandered [2] - 31:16, 76:12</p> <p>gerrymandering [1] - 113:20</p> <p>gets [1] - 59:17</p> <p>giant [1] - 20:13</p> <p>Giedra [3] - 54:10, 56:14, 56:17</p> <p>Giraldo [3] - 112:19, 113:9, 113:12</p> <p>GIRALDO [1] - 113:11</p> <p>give [13] - 10:24, 13:8, 34:21, 39:19, 39:22, 67:7, 90:18, 91:4, 102:15, 104:9, 107:14, 120:25, 131:5</p> <p>given [6] - 4:18, 12:13, 57:6, 84:20, 90:2, 131:7</p> <p>giving [7] - 9:24, 24:11, 33:18, 91:3, 95:6, 98:24, 102:15</p> <p>Glen [1] - 11:20</p> <p>GLORIA [1] - 1:11</p> <p>Gloria [1] - 9:15</p> <p>goal [2] - 62:13, 72:13</p> <p>God [1] - 129:4</p> <p>goes [6] - 35:12, 39:18, 58:20, 86:21, 126:8, 133:17</p> <p>good-government [1] - 49:1</p> <p>Google [4] - 105:1, 105:3, 105:4, 105:5</p> <p>Gorman [1] - 72:20</p> <p>gotten [1] - 128:5</p> <p>Gounden [2] - 103:13, 104:12</p> <p>GOUNDEN [5] - 104:14, 107:10, 107:14, 107:17, 107:22</p> <p>Government [1] - 89:1</p>	H	
		<p>HACKWORTH [79] - 9:18, 9:23, 13:21, 13:24, 16:13, 19:8, 22:4, 23:25, 26:14, 29:23, 32:1, 32:3, 32:23, 33:15, 34:24, 37:1, 38:21, 41:2, 41:4, 42:22, 45:3, 46:19, 48:20, 51:10, 54:9, 56:13, 57:10, 60:5, 62:15, 64:20, 67:13, 68:4, 70:11, 72:19, 73:25, 76:14, 78:24, 80:25, 83:6, 85:10, 87:7, 89:8, 89:15, 90:25, 92:19, 94:25, 96:17, 98:21, 99:14, 100:23, 101:6, 102:11, 103:12, 104:11, 107:8,</p>	

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>hearing ^[19] - 2:24, 3:8, 5:4, 5:14, 5:18, 14:16, 21:2, 24:14, 24:17, 70:21, 76:21, 89:23, 93:1, 98:25, 127:20, 129:11, 130:6, 131:11, 133:25</p> <p>hearings ^[2] - 3:5, 34:12</p> <p>hearings ^[23] - 2:3, 3:4, 3:9, 3:11, 3:18, 4:4, 4:25, 5:12, 5:15, 6:11, 7:10, 7:13, 12:13, 19:16, 20:7, 28:21, 49:6, 50:15, 85:22, 100:4, 104:19, 109:19, 110:12</p> <p>hearings@districting.nyc.gov ^[1] - 10:16</p> <p>heart ^[3] - 32:11, 32:14, 76:4</p> <p>heavily ^[2] - 48:13, 73:12</p> <p>Heights ^[35] - 25:1, 41:11, 42:3, 49:7, 49:14, 57:15, 91:5, 91:6, 91:11, 91:18, 91:21, 91:23, 92:23, 93:8, 95:8, 95:17, 99:17, 99:20, 99:25, 100:2, 100:6, 100:8, 100:21, 111:11, 112:22, 113:13, 114:4, 114:23, 117:2, 117:4, 117:5, 117:7, 117:8, 117:24, 132:15</p> <p>held ^[1] - 12:13</p> <p>Helen ^[1] - 118:24</p> <p>hello ^[1] - 72:21</p> <p>help ^[10] - 21:8, 30:3, 33:24, 34:17, 40:14, 57:4, 96:15, 114:14, 128:19, 129:3</p> <p>helped ^[1] - 3:3</p> <p>helpful ^[1] - 24:13</p> <p>Hempstead ^[1] - 126:21</p> <p>Henry ^[3] - 41:5, 42:23, 42:24</p> <p>hereby ^[1] - 134:10</p> <p>heritage ^[1] - 62:25</p> <p>Heros ^[1] - 52:4</p> <p>heterogenous ^[1] - 119:13</p> <p>Hey ^[1] - 47:23</p> <p>hi ^[1] - 68:7</p> <p>high ^[2] - 101:1, 121:21</p> <p>High ^[7] - 12:2, 26:2, 38:6, 52:2, 52:3, 97:19, 98:18</p> <p>high-crime ^[1] - 121:21</p> <p>highest ^[1] - 98:2</p> <p>Highlights ^[1] - 52:24</p> <p>Hill ^[24] - 11:23, 15:2, 24:24, 25:20, 37:12, 38:13, 39:6, 40:19, 51:15, 52:16, 82:9, 90:13, 95:3, 97:11, 97:21, 97:25, 99:3, 102:17, 104:17, 122:4, 122:5, 122:10, 130:10, 130:16</p> <p>Hillcrest ^[3] - 108:12, 116:1, 119:8</p> <p>Hills ^[22] - 12:5, 20:12, 25:1,</p>	<p>25:5, 25:12, 30:21, 50:9, 58:25, 59:12, 62:22, 63:14, 63:20, 63:21, 63:23, 64:5, 64:8, 64:18, 116:1, 119:24, 120:13, 129:18, 130:24</p> <p>Hillside ^[3] - 120:6, 120:8, 130:3</p> <p>hindering ^[1] - 128:10</p> <p>Hindu ^[2] - 30:20, 38:3</p> <p>Hispanic ^[1] - 83:21</p> <p>Hispanics ^[1] - 115:6</p> <p>Historic ^[1] - 124:3</p> <p>historic ^[4] - 79:12, 80:1, 115:8, 124:12</p> <p>historical ^[3] - 74:16, 86:24, 88:19</p> <p>historically ^[3] - 83:17, 83:23, 84:24</p> <p>historically-black ^[2] - 83:23, 84:24</p> <p>history ^[4] - 26:23, 84:14, 109:20, 119:7</p> <p>Hogan ^[3] - 125:9, 127:13, 127:15</p> <p>HOGAN ^[1] - 127:16</p> <p>hold ^[1] - 85:22</p> <p>holding ^[1] - 106:15</p> <p>holds ^[1] - 58:19</p> <p>home ^[5] - 38:25, 40:2, 106:2, 131:16, 131:20</p> <p>homeowner ^[2] - 71:20, 72:5</p> <p>homeowners ^[9] - 35:22, 60:9, 71:22, 115:5, 122:19, 123:3, 125:21, 126:13, 126:24</p> <p>homeowners' ^[2] - 60:13, 132:20</p> <p>Homeowners' ^[12] - 27:15, 29:10, 29:14, 65:3, 70:15, 72:3, 79:5, 79:16, 112:5, 122:22, 125:21, 126:23</p> <p>Homes ^[1] - 117:8</p> <p>homes ^[13] - 74:6, 83:14, 83:19, 91:15, 91:19, 93:15, 113:1, 118:11, 123:9, 123:18, 124:4, 124:7, 132:10</p> <p>Hong ^[1] - 11:5</p> <p>HONG ^[5] - 11:6, 13:4, 13:6, 13:8, 13:22</p> <p>honor ^[3] - 79:6, 103:16, 125:11</p> <p>honorable ^[1] - 41:6</p> <p>Honorable ^[3] - 24:1, 26:15, 118:24</p> <p>honored ^[2] - 93:7, 102:2</p> <p>honoring ^[1] - 91:10</p> <p>hope ^[8] - 7:14, 23:1, 25:23, 26:11, 38:18, 44:23, 68:2, 89:19</p>	<p>hoped ^[1] - 108:8</p> <p>hoping ^[1] - 129:15</p> <p>Horace ^[4] - 73:17, 108:25, 125:18, 126:5</p> <p>horizontal ^[1] - 44:5</p> <p>host ^[1] - 38:5</p> <p>hosting ^[1] - 2:8</p> <p>hour ^[2] - 97:22, 97:23</p> <p>hours ^[1] - 2:10</p> <p>house ^[4] - 48:4, 48:7, 101:19, 105:22</p> <p>households ^[2] - 70:17, 80:2</p> <p>houses ^[8] - 92:9, 96:4, 101:8, 118:1, 132:6, 132:7, 132:11</p> <p>Houses ^[2] - 127:25, 128:1</p> <p>housewife ^[1] - 40:3</p> <p>housing ^[8] - 15:12, 28:7, 45:18, 57:18, 61:4, 61:11, 61:14, 133:7</p> <p>how did ^[1] - 20:19</p> <p>Howard ^[2] - 105:24, 106:1</p> <p>HUM ^[1] - 9:11</p> <p>Hum ^[2] - 9:11, 54:6</p> <p>human ^[1] - 13:18</p> <p>humbly ^[1] - 128:19</p> <p>hundreds ^[1] - 62:6</p> <p>hurt ^[2] - 103:18, 133:19</p> <p>husband ^[2] - 64:24, 122:19</p> <p>hyphenated ^[1] - 30:7</p>	<p>55:16, 59:16, 69:9, 98:19, 133:20</p> <p>importantly ^[3] - 25:17, 52:20, 119:23</p> <p>improve ^[1] - 22:2</p> <p>improvement ^[2] - 8:22, 53:23</p> <p>Improvement ^[2] - 42:25, 72:4</p> <p>improvements ^[2] - 22:19, 49:12</p> <p>IN ^[1] - 1:9</p> <p>in-language ^[2] - 65:21, 67:7</p> <p>inappropriate ^[1] - 82:10</p> <p>incidents ^[1] - 18:5</p> <p>include ^[12] - 6:16, 8:4, 12:1, 15:16, 42:16, 49:16, 49:24, 51:1, 73:19, 91:19, 98:15, 98:18</p> <p>included ^[4] - 95:25, 109:2, 115:11, 126:20</p> <p>includes ^[5] - 52:14, 62:24, 63:23, 83:21, 99:9</p> <p>inclusion ^[1] - 78:6</p> <p>incomplete ^[1] - 38:13</p> <p>inconceivable ^[1] - 25:7</p> <p>incorporate ^[1] - 100:20</p> <p>increase ^[3] - 24:19, 63:1, 97:4</p> <p>increased ^[1] - 122:3</p> <p>increases ^[1] - 55:18</p> <p>incredibly ^[1] - 69:24</p> <p>incumbent ^[3] - 13:19, 20:23, 53:15</p> <p>incumbents ^[2] - 15:25, 55:14</p> <p>India ^[2] - 57:23, 98:8</p> <p>Indians ^[1] - 99:8</p> <p>indicated ^[1] - 50:15</p> <p>indicating ^[2] - 9:2, 110:4</p> <p>indices ^[1] - 69:4</p> <p>indifference ^[1] - 21:2</p> <p>individual ^[1] - 20:22</p> <p>individuals ^[3] - 3:2, 27:20, 81:8</p> <p>Indo ^[2] - 37:6, 37:9</p> <p>Indo-Caribbean ^[2] - 37:6, 37:9</p> <p>influence ^[1] - 58:8</p> <p>information ^[2] - 51:5, 51:7</p> <p>infrastructure ^[1] - 84:16</p> <p>initial ^[1] - 93:6</p> <p>initiative ^[1] - 124:15</p> <p>input ^[5] - 4:7, 4:13, 20:22, 31:7, 62:5</p> <p>insist ^[1] - 21:13</p> <p>institutions ^[4] - 52:8, 53:10, 59:16, 81:16</p> <p>instructions ^[1] - 5:25</p>
I			
<p>ICA ^[2] - 37:6, 37:7</p> <p>iconic ^[1] - 52:7</p> <p>idea ^[2] - 34:3, 127:10</p> <p>ideal ^[2] - 8:10, 8:14</p> <p>identify ^[2] - 23:15, 32:23</p> <p>identity ^[1] - 54:25</p> <p>ignored ^[2] - 14:25, 39:23</p> <p>ignores ^[2] - 27:9, 71:4</p> <p>Ill ^[2] - 1:16, 9:4</p> <p>illegal ^[2] - 83:25, 102:6</p> <p>illegally ^[2] - 106:25, 107:7</p> <p>illogical ^[1] - 56:23</p> <p>illustrated ^[2] - 16:25, 19:1</p> <p>immediate ^[1] - 79:4</p> <p>immediately ^[1] - 3:22</p> <p>immigrant ^[1] - 58:10</p> <p>immigrants ^[4] - 57:23, 90:7, 98:3, 98:5</p> <p>impact ^[1] - 46:12</p> <p>impacts ^[1] - 75:9</p> <p>imperative ^[1] - 128:2</p> <p>implications ^[3] - 27:11, 59:3, 86:6</p> <p>implore ^[1] - 78:15</p> <p>importance ^[2] - 87:16, 103:20</p> <p>important ^[7] - 26:25, 42:9,</p>			

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>insulting [2] - 107:17, 107:19 intact [19] - 6:25, 21:12, 23:18, 31:15, 33:8, 35:18, 36:9, 72:13, 75:7, 79:13, 80:1, 80:4, 80:9, 80:23, 80:24, 86:22, 88:16, 100:11, 117:17 integrity [2] - 81:23, 83:1 intent [1] - 79:15 interact [1] - 47:6 interest [31] - 6:25, 8:5, 8:9, 8:14, 14:19, 17:14, 17:23, 18:14, 37:24, 42:9, 46:1, 46:2, 51:23, 52:19, 53:18, 54:8, 60:1, 64:16, 72:13, 77:2, 86:23, 88:18, 91:20, 99:4, 100:13, 105:8, 112:11, 119:25, 120:4, 121:22, 130:1 interesting [2] - 31:13, 101:4 interests [11] - 17:2, 20:23, 53:23, 53:25, 61:5, 61:16, 69:18, 81:12, 82:1, 112:14 Interior [1] - 123:25 interpretation [1] - 2:15 interpreter [1] - 2:18 intersect [1] - 31:24 intimidated [1] - 18:3 intimidation [1] - 66:21 introduce [1] - 9:1 invaluable [1] - 103:20 invested [2] - 48:13, 103:23 involved [3] - 49:7, 80:5, 113:17 Irish [1] - 30:11 ironic [1] - 103:17 irresponsible [1] - 56:23 is that [7] - 12:9, 26:5, 69:9, 79:22, 97:11, 101:25, 132:24 is there [2] - 13:10, 97:13 is this [2] - 28:18, 101:6 Island [14] - 1:5, 9:5, 12:17, 15:17, 21:25, 25:2, 39:24, 44:20, 52:20, 73:12, 74:11, 114:20, 117:22, 134:3 isolate [1] - 36:15 issue [6] - 43:15, 51:20, 65:9, 117:14, 121:4, 131:21 issues [9] - 31:14, 41:19, 43:5, 43:7, 52:21, 53:13, 57:18, 60:2, 62:11 Italian [1] - 30:12 Items [1] - 17:9</p>	<p>Jackson [12] - 25:1, 41:11, 42:3, 49:7, 57:15, 113:10, 113:13, 114:4, 114:23, 115:14, 115:17, 127:9 JACOBS [3] - 79:2, 81:1, 81:5 JACOBS [1] - 81:3 jail [1] - 107:12 Jamaica [27] - 12:5, 24:25, 25:5, 25:12, 58:25, 59:11, 62:21, 63:13, 63:20, 63:21, 64:8, 64:18, 108:15, 116:1, 116:2, 119:9, 119:24, 120:9, 120:13, 120:23, 127:24, 127:25, 128:19, 128:21, 129:18, 130:21, 130:24 Jamaica's [1] - 85:7 Jamaicans [2] - 98:6, 99:8 James [3] - 11:4, 122:16, 125:8 JAMILA [1] - 1:17 Jamila [1] - 9:9 Janet [3] - 68:6, 70:11, 70:14 January [3] - 1:6, 5:18, 5:24 Jeff [2] - 99:15, 100:24 Jerry [2] - 13:25, 16:14 Jersey [1] - 41:1 jettisoned [1] - 75:12 job [2] - 79:17, 84:17 jobs [1] - 66:15 Joel [2] - 48:21, 51:10 JOHN [1] - 1:20 John [13] - 9:13, 12:1, 22:5, 24:1, 24:3, 26:2, 38:6, 52:2, 52:3, 97:19, 98:18, 104:21, 105:3 JOHNSON [1] - 83:9 Johnson [3] - 81:2, 83:7, 83:10 join [2] - 70:3, 120:1 joined [3] - 15:19, 69:7, 123:13 joint [1] - 60:17 JOSHUA [2] - 134:9, 134:15 Jr [6] - 37:2, 38:22, 115:15, 116:23, 122:17, 125:9 judge [2] - 89:2, 106:25 Junction [5] - 42:14, 108:24, 109:1, 114:6, 116:8 jurisdiction [2] - 88:23, 88:24 justice [5] - 13:9, 13:11, 104:9, 106:15, 106:16 Justice [9] - 4:1, 4:2, 13:3, 16:20, 18:6, 18:9, 26:12, 66:13, 89:2 Justin [1] - 9:14 JUSTIN [1] - 1:19 juts [1] - 126:8</p>	<p style="text-align: center;">K</p> <p>KAPA [5] - 19:13, 19:14, 19:17, 20:1, 21:9 KCF [1] - 30:18 KCS [2] - 22:10, 30:18 keep [57] - 6:23, 10:10, 16:11, 21:11, 22:1, 23:11, 23:12, 23:17, 25:13, 26:11, 31:15, 33:3, 33:4, 35:18, 39:6, 45:13, 46:1, 49:12, 49:16, 51:23, 53:15, 53:17, 53:22, 54:2, 56:12, 64:12, 64:17, 77:7, 79:11, 80:8, 80:14, 80:22, 80:23, 86:22, 87:17, 88:16, 100:8, 100:11, 100:12, 100:16, 112:9, 112:12, 112:24, 114:13, 114:22, 117:17, 118:11, 118:14, 119:13, 120:13, 123:5, 128:4, 130:6, 132:2, 132:13, 132:22, 133:20 keeping [5] - 15:20, 21:19, 71:10, 72:13, 80:3 keeps [1] - 61:24 Kelly [1] - 47:18 Ken [4] - 108:2, 109:5, 109:7, 127:9 kept [22] - 7:2, 11:21, 12:15, 15:5, 16:25, 19:1, 25:18, 37:18, 38:16, 46:10, 52:2, 52:25, 59:12, 59:23, 61:8, 64:9, 73:23, 103:9, 103:10, 112:3, 114:24, 128:23 Kew [1] - 108:12 key [1] - 38:5 kids [1] - 126:17 king [1] - 110:7 knowing [1] - 128:15 Koo [6] - 27:25, 43:12, 60:18, 70:4, 72:8, 125:1 Korean [8] - 16:8, 19:13, 20:2, 20:3, 22:10, 65:19, 65:25, 66:7 Korean-American [2] - 16:8, 65:19 KREGZDYS [1] - 56:16 Kregzdys [3] - 54:11, 56:14, 56:17 Kris [3] - 103:13, 104:12, 105:15 kudos [1] - 24:14 Kulesza [2] - 100:24, 102:12 KULESZA [1] - 102:14 Kuszai [2] - 48:21, 51:10</p>	<p>labor [1] - 63:3 lack [2] - 16:3, 47:15 ladies [2] - 33:17, 104:14 LaGuardia [2] - 1:4, 2:7 Landmarks [1] - 124:13 landscapes [1] - 123:20 Lane [1] - 74:14 language [11] - 6:22, 8:6, 17:10, 17:16, 18:18, 58:13, 65:21, 67:7, 86:16, 88:7, 88:12 languages [1] - 65:24 Lanka [1] - 57:24 large [2] - 45:19, 67:10 largest [6] - 24:23, 29:12, 43:3, 63:5, 71:15, 84:13 last [20] - 26:19, 39:18, 47:11, 47:16, 51:17, 58:3, 67:1, 69:12, 76:21, 78:25, 81:10, 89:23, 90:2, 108:6, 110:1, 115:12, 125:13, 125:24, 129:13, 133:9 lastly [1] - 53:22 late [3] - 3:12, 110:25, 127:19 latest [5] - 11:15, 11:17, 12:6, 12:8, 64:11 LATFOR [2] - 87:13, 110:11 Latino [3] - 4:1, 4:2, 64:8 Latinos [1] - 115:1 Lauture [2] - 89:16, 91:1 LAUTURE [7] - 91:2, 92:2, 92:5, 92:7, 92:11, 92:14, 92:17 law [3] - 6:15, 18:20, 88:3 Law [2] - 4:1, 5:1 laws [2] - 27:10, 87:23 laying [1] - 45:20 leader [4] - 27:7, 27:8, 51:14, 115:17 leaders [3] - 29:1, 31:8, 103:15 learned [2] - 39:21, 99:5 learning [1] - 47:23 leave [1] - 26:7 leaving [1] - 87:18 LEE [1] - 22:7 Lee [3] - 19:9, 22:5, 22:9 Lefferts [6] - 11:24, 25:23, 25:24, 37:21, 37:25, 38:8 LeFrak [18] - 32:6, 32:7, 32:9, 32:11, 32:12, 32:19, 33:10, 110:20, 111:5, 114:22, 115:18, 115:25, 116:10, 116:17, 119:1, 127:10, 129:20, 129:23 left-handed [1] - 30:14 Legal [2] - 3:25, 19:23 legal [1] - 5:2 legislative [2] - 7:25, 102:20</p>
<p style="text-align: center;">J</p>			
<p>J.H.S [1] - 64:7 JACKSON [1] - 115:16</p>		<p style="text-align: center;">L</p> <p>Labor [2] - 62:21, 119:22</p>	

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>Lenox [1] - 118:5 Leroy [1] - 90:20 lesson [1] - 39:21 let's [1] - 68:23 letter [12] - 4:10, 18:5, 18:8, 18:11, 19:2, 27:1, 60:17, 60:24, 65:18, 67:2, 70:3, 72:9 letters [3] - 27:21, 71:22, 99:23 level [1] - 81:18 levels [1] - 58:7 Lewis [15] - 44:21, 91:16, 92:2, 92:7, 92:15, 93:10, 93:11, 93:23, 95:24, 96:1, 96:4, 96:12, 108:23, 117:21, 117:22 libraries [1] - 33:4 library [2] - 55:23, 126:16 Library [1] - 32:9 LIE [2] - 21:24, 108:24 lie [1] - 76:24 lies [1] - 78:18 life [8] - 41:20, 42:7, 48:15, 49:8, 75:3, 76:9, 105:20, 114:1 lifelong [4] - 35:2, 68:13, 81:6, 131:17 light [1] - 5:22 likewise [2] - 76:9, 86:5 limitations [2] - 7:18, 58:13 limited [2] - 59:15, 74:22 LIMM [1] - 19:10 Limm [3] - 16:15, 19:9, 19:12 Lin [1] - 9:8 LIN [2] - 1:12, 9:8 Linda [4] - 9:8, 19:9, 22:5, 22:9 LINDA [1] - 1:12 Linden [7] - 27:16, 28:7, 44:15, 61:2, 61:8, 61:12, 72:2 line [27] - 7:21, 31:18, 36:23, 36:24, 38:9, 43:15, 43:16, 43:18, 44:1, 44:6, 51:24, 70:25, 71:3, 71:11, 73:16, 77:19, 78:17, 91:12, 99:5, 99:9, 100:19, 100:20, 101:23, 102:2, 102:10, 104:21, 126:4 lines [85] - 7:20, 7:22, 7:24, 8:2, 8:11, 15:1, 22:23, 23:1, 28:2, 29:7, 31:25, 34:20, 35:14, 35:16, 35:18, 36:8, 36:12, 37:22, 39:12, 39:14, 40:13, 42:12, 44:19, 45:15, 45:16, 46:9, 46:10, 47:2, 54:2, 57:7, 60:17, 60:21, 60:25, 61:23, 64:17, 67:22, 71:9, 75:20, 76:24,</p>	<p>77:1, 77:4, 77:12, 77:15, 77:17, 78:6, 78:16, 78:22, 78:23, 79:13, 79:14, 81:22, 82:4, 82:10, 82:13, 82:16, 82:24, 83:20, 85:4, 85:8, 86:21, 87:17, 87:20, 87:22, 88:2, 88:16, 89:12, 94:3, 95:23, 99:24, 100:2, 100:11, 100:15, 101:11, 102:23, 103:8, 105:4, 105:10, 110:16, 113:23, 114:3, 115:20, 115:24, 124:24, 127:21 list [3] - 7:14, 17:9, 107:20 listed [1] - 124:2 listen [3] - 21:18, 23:2, 23:23 listened [1] - 79:8 listening [1] - 93:3 lists [1] - 60:1 literally [1] - 45:22 live [32] - 21:3, 23:6, 24:22, 39:24, 40:24, 41:1, 48:3, 48:11, 49:10, 53:2, 57:1, 62:6, 69:20, 69:23, 72:23, 76:22, 83:13, 93:20, 95:21, 96:11, 99:8, 104:5, 111:5, 111:25, 113:14, 113:21, 117:7, 120:25, 123:17, 131:24 lived [11] - 54:15, 64:25, 84:5, 84:8, 85:25, 104:17, 105:19, 110:23, 111:12, 113:15, 119:2 lives [6] - 34:17, 58:10, 58:19, 73:3, 86:1, 110:15 living [4] - 58:18, 93:17, 98:5, 111:25 Llama [1] - 45:18 local [5] - 18:20, 20:11, 27:5, 71:25, 96:13 Local [1] - 119:22 located [5] - 38:4, 42:13, 65:11, 70:16, 76:6 lock [1] - 53:11 lodge [1] - 75:14 LONG [2] - 108:4, 108:22 longstanding [1] - 36:18 longtime [2] - 72:22, 113:12 looks [3] - 101:13, 104:24, 105:6 lopsided [1] - 67:11 lose [2] - 94:22, 118:10 lost [1] - 18:7 lot [9] - 22:16, 23:8, 23:14, 43:7, 46:7, 47:7, 47:8, 101:9, 122:14 lots [2] - 47:10, 90:22 love [3] - 112:1, 114:10, 131:8 low [3] - 28:11, 71:19, 80:9</p>	<p>low-density [3] - 28:11, 71:19, 80:9 lower [1] - 121:25 lowest [2] - 69:14, 84:9 lowest-density [1] - 69:14 lumps [1] - 80:12</p>	<p>MARCHENT [2] - 95:4, 96:20 margin [1] - 18:8 marginalized [1] - 16:10 Maria [3] - 121:9, 122:16, 122:18 Marianne [3] - 51:12, 54:10, 54:13 Mario [3] - 111:19, 111:22, 111:24 Marjorie [1] - 122:24 Mark [3] - 27:25, 125:16, 125:25 Marshall [1] - 118:24 Martin [3] - 26:16, 32:4, 32:6 MARTIN [1] - 32:25 Mary [3] - 38:22, 41:5, 41:10 Maspeth [2] - 49:14, 114:20 mass [1] - 117:15 materials [3] - 65:21, 67:8, 128:8 matter [6] - 23:24, 52:1, 52:10, 53:7, 113:18, 134:5 maximizing [1] - 4:7 Mayor's [1] - 47:19 Mazeda [3] - 60:6, 62:16, 62:19 McCreech [4] - 68:6, 70:12, 70:13, 70:14 McMansion [1] - 69:13 Meadows [11] - 111:4, 125:20, 126:1, 126:11, 126:12, 126:13, 126:15, 126:16, 126:18, 126:22, 126:25 mean [2] - 51:22, 97:20 means [1] - 59:15 measure [1] - 5:7 mechanisms [1] - 4:24 Medgar [1] - 109:24 Meehan [3] - 46:20, 48:21, 48:24 MEEHAN [1] - 48:22 meeting [6] - 3:22, 5:19, 5:24, 6:14, 14:21, 28:5 MEETING [1] - 1:3 meetings [3] - 47:18, 47:20, 121:24 Mellow [1] - 2:6 Melvin [3] - 76:16, 78:25, 79:4 member [23] - 10:8, 14:9, 19:14, 36:11, 36:20, 48:25, 54:13, 54:23, 56:17, 57:8, 60:11, 61:17, 73:8, 85:14, 91:5, 95:21, 96:21, 111:16, 112:4, 118:23, 119:15, 119:22, 122:21 Member [4] - 24:2, 27:25, 119:4 members [49] - 7:25, 11:2,</p>
M			
<p>M.S [1] - 52:4 M1 [3] - 74:10, 75:5, 75:6 mail [2] - 3:1, 117:14 mailed [2] - 84:3, 84:4 mailing [3] - 7:14, 10:15, 10:16 mails [2] - 67:17, 71:21 maintain [4] - 71:18, 74:25, 81:23, 82:25 maintained [1] - 123:4 maintaining [3] - 21:22, 83:15, 90:11 maintenance [1] - 41:20 major [2] - 15:12, 82:12 majority [4] - 20:5, 49:18, 83:21, 85:24 makeup [2] - 87:3, 119:7 Malcolm [1] - 118:5 Maldives [1] - 57:24 manager [1] - 36:7 mandate [1] - 18:17 mandated [2] - 100:10, 114:17 mandates [1] - 17:18 Manhattan [7] - 9:9, 9:10, 9:14, 9:16, 49:5, 73:14, 88:22 Manifest [1] - 68:23 manner [2] - 86:15, 88:11 Manor [1] - 123:12 map [33] - 3:20, 7:19, 8:17, 8:18, 11:17, 12:6, 13:12, 15:15, 16:5, 16:25, 17:15, 19:2, 20:25, 23:12, 34:12, 46:13, 47:2, 47:24, 51:18, 60:25, 61:24, 64:11, 87:2, 90:1, 94:2, 94:5, 95:22, 97:4, 100:16, 101:15, 120:2, 120:23 Map [1] - 12:20 map-making [1] - 3:20 mapping [1] - 7:12 maps [23] - 3:19, 11:11, 11:15, 14:15, 14:19, 14:20, 14:24, 17:18, 23:19, 38:19, 43:13, 50:8, 50:22, 51:21, 63:12, 63:16, 63:18, 63:21, 71:24, 85:23, 93:3, 93:5, 116:17 march [1] - 109:25 Marchent [2] - 95:3, 96:18</p>			

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>11:6, 12:25, 14:17, 16:16, 19:10, 19:11, 20:6, 20:24, 22:7, 22:8, 23:5, 36:13, 37:11, 41:7, 43:1, 48:23, 49:18, 49:25, 51:13, 55:12, 55:20, 56:8, 56:24, 57:12, 58:14, 60:21, 62:8, 64:23, 67:7, 75:21, 79:16, 80:2, 81:4, 81:12, 87:24, 87:25, 88:7, 91:2, 91:7, 92:25, 99:20, 100:5, 103:14, 109:15, 118:20, 119:19, 124:10</p> <p>membership [3] - 62:24, 63:4, 63:5</p> <p>mention [2] - 40:9, 70:1</p> <p>mentioned [5] - 22:23, 25:4, 43:22, 45:10, 124:6</p> <p>message [1] - 20:16</p> <p>Methodist [1] - 47:8</p> <p>Metropolitan [2] - 109:9, 109:15</p> <p>microphone [2] - 10:4, 10:23</p> <p>microphones [1] - 10:25</p> <p>middle [4] - 81:8, 82:11, 83:18, 96:3</p> <p>middle-class [2] - 81:8, 83:18</p> <p>midst [1] - 32:19</p> <p>mightier [1] - 48:17</p> <p>mightily [1] - 80:13</p> <p>Miller [4] - 102:16, 102:18, 102:21, 103:6</p> <p>million [1] - 105:11</p> <p>mind [3] - 10:10, 26:11, 77:7</p> <p>minimum [1] - 21:20</p> <p>Minkwon [5] - 14:4, 14:9, 16:6, 20:1, 65:17</p> <p>minorities [5] - 8:7, 11:13, 18:19, 89:7, 115:3</p> <p>minority [7] - 6:22, 13:16, 17:11, 17:16, 86:17, 88:7, 88:13</p> <p>minute [25] - 13:11, 16:9, 19:5, 21:16, 26:4, 29:11, 40:25, 44:25, 51:1, 53:20, 59:22, 64:13, 66:24, 70:9, 76:7, 88:23, 98:17, 102:4, 106:20, 106:24, 111:3, 115:10, 124:16, 128:17, 133:17</p> <p>minutes [4] - 10:1, 10:2, 10:7, 16:18</p> <p>miraculously [1] - 75:7</p> <p>mirror [1] - 74:16</p> <p>miscellaneous [1] - 73:7</p> <p>mission [2] - 62:25, 77:3</p> <p>misspoke [1] - 70:4</p> <p>mistake [5] - 101:14, 102:8, 129:14, 129:17, 129:21</p>	<p>mistakes [1] - 101:24</p> <p>Mitchell [10] - 27:16, 28:7, 28:16, 35:25, 44:15, 45:18, 61:2, 61:8, 61:12, 72:2</p> <p>Mitchell-Linden [7] - 27:16, 28:7, 44:15, 61:2, 61:8, 61:12, 72:2</p> <p>Mitchell-Llama [1] - 45:18</p> <p>Mitchell-owned [1] - 35:25</p> <p>mix [1] - 61:6</p> <p>mobilize [1] - 16:7</p> <p>modes [1] - 123:21</p> <p>Mohammed [6] - 118:17, 119:17, 119:20, 120:17, 120:20</p> <p>MOHAN [1] - 89:17</p> <p>Mohan [2] - 87:9, 89:16</p> <p>moment [1] - 76:13</p> <p>Monday [1] - 39:18</p> <p>money [3] - 90:17, 128:13, 132:4</p> <p>monitored [1] - 109:16</p> <p>month [2] - 53:8, 109:22</p> <p>months [2] - 86:5, 127:20</p> <p>monumental [1] - 35:11</p> <p>morning [1] - 40:10</p> <p>mortgage [1] - 48:5</p> <p>most-recent [1] - 25:8</p> <p>mostly [1] - 37:11</p> <p>motivating [1] - 81:24</p> <p>move [18] - 25:24, 26:5, 43:18, 43:25, 47:3, 51:24, 52:9, 54:2, 86:8, 96:9, 97:12, 102:9, 107:8, 114:12, 128:20, 132:19, 133:1</p> <p>moved [9] - 12:3, 18:15, 23:8, 48:12, 68:14, 75:23, 97:15, 105:24, 115:24</p> <p>movement [2] - 30:24, 63:3</p> <p>moves [1] - 126:6</p> <p>movie [1] - 101:8</p> <p>moving [3] - 18:21, 36:12, 48:8</p> <p>MR [145] - 9:4, 9:5, 9:6, 9:11, 9:13, 9:14, 9:17, 9:18, 9:23, 11:6, 13:4, 13:6, 13:8, 13:21, 13:22, 13:24, 16:13, 16:16, 19:8, 19:10, 22:4, 23:25, 24:3, 26:14, 26:17, 29:23, 30:1, 32:1, 32:2, 32:3, 32:23, 33:15, 33:17, 34:24, 37:1, 37:3, 38:21, 38:24, 41:2, 41:3, 41:4, 42:22, 42:24, 43:23, 45:3, 46:19, 46:21, 48:20, 48:22, 51:13, 54:9, 56:13, 57:10, 60:5, 60:7, 62:15, 64:20, 67:13, 67:16, 68:4, 68:7, 70:11, 72:19, 73:25,</p>	<p>76:14, 76:17, 78:24, 79:3, 80:25, 81:3, 83:6, 85:10, 87:7, 87:10, 89:8, 89:11, 89:15, 90:25, 91:2, 92:2, 92:5, 92:7, 92:11, 92:14, 92:17, 92:19, 94:25, 95:4, 96:17, 96:20, 98:21, 98:23, 99:14, 99:16, 100:23, 100:25, 101:6, 101:7, 102:11, 102:14, 103:12, 103:14, 104:11, 104:14, 107:8, 107:10, 107:13, 107:14, 107:16, 107:17, 107:19, 107:22, 108:1, 108:21, 109:4, 109:7, 111:7, 111:18, 111:24, 112:17, 112:20, 113:8, 113:11, 115:13, 116:22, 116:25, 118:16, 118:19, 119:16, 119:19, 120:16, 120:19, 121:8, 122:15, 124:19, 125:6, 125:8, 125:10, 127:12, 127:16, 129:6, 129:9, 131:10, 131:15, 133:22</p> <p>mR [1] - 89:17</p> <p>Mr [15] - 38:24, 51:10, 54:6, 54:22, 65:16, 66:17, 66:22, 67:1, 95:3, 96:18, 107:22, 111:21, 125:10, 132:15, 133:22</p> <p>mS [1] - 64:23</p> <p>MS [46] - 9:3, 9:8, 9:9, 9:15, 14:2, 22:7, 32:5, 32:25, 35:1, 41:6, 45:5, 54:12, 56:16, 57:12, 62:17, 70:13, 72:21, 74:3, 83:9, 85:13, 91:24, 92:4, 92:6, 92:8, 92:12, 92:15, 92:18, 92:21, 93:23, 94:4, 94:6, 94:7, 94:8, 94:10, 94:12, 94:15, 94:16, 95:5, 108:4, 108:22, 111:10, 115:16, 121:11, 122:18, 124:20, 125:7</p> <p>Ms [1] - 127:9</p> <p>multifamily [1] - 61:4</p> <p>multiple [2] - 65:2, 74:22</p> <p>mutual [1] - 62:13</p> <p>Myers [6] - 109:6, 111:8, 111:11, 111:23, 112:18, 112:21</p> <p>MYERS [2] - 111:10, 112:20</p> <p>myself [5] - 29:1, 39:24, 113:21, 128:23, 132:1</p>	<p>Najmi [2] - 127:14, 129:7</p> <p>name [43] - 2:3, 10:22, 10:25, 14:2, 19:11, 22:9, 24:3, 32:5, 35:1, 37:5, 38:24, 41:9, 42:24, 45:5, 48:24, 54:12, 56:16, 57:13, 60:7, 62:19, 70:13, 72:21, 74:4, 76:18, 79:3, 81:5, 85:14, 92:21, 99:17, 108:4, 109:7, 111:10, 111:24, 112:20, 113:12, 115:16, 117:1, 118:21, 119:20, 120:19, 121:12, 122:18, 131:17</p> <p>namely [1] - 18:19</p> <p>names [2] - 30:23, 106:2</p> <p>narrow [1] - 18:8</p> <p>National [4] - 30:19, 62:19, 85:15, 124:2</p> <p>native [1] - 85:17</p> <p>natural [9] - 22:1, 23:14, 42:1, 117:18, 118:11, 118:14, 132:14, 132:16, 132:18</p> <p>naturalist [1] - 30:5</p> <p>Naturally [1] - 41:22</p> <p>nearest [1] - 10:23</p> <p>nearly-unanimous [1] - 20:25</p> <p>neatly [1] - 8:9</p> <p>Neck [1] - 61:15</p> <p>needless [1] - 117:4</p> <p>needs [8] - 31:17, 46:4, 59:9, 69:17, 73:23, 95:13, 111:15, 133:4</p> <p>negative [4] - 46:11, 86:3, 86:6, 125:4</p> <p>neglected [1] - 84:3</p> <p>neighbor [3] - 10:8, 117:23, 124:4</p> <p>neighborhood [47] - 19:21, 21:4, 21:14, 23:8, 25:19, 27:9, 31:15, 35:3, 43:17, 44:7, 44:13, 46:25, 47:3, 47:5, 47:15, 48:3, 48:10, 48:12, 54:15, 54:24, 58:21, 58:23, 59:25, 65:6, 69:5, 69:20, 69:25, 71:18, 72:25, 73:21, 75:1, 75:10, 77:19, 80:4, 82:8, 101:22, 103:5, 112:2, 112:24, 114:5, 121:4, 123:13, 123:19, 124:1, 124:16, 133:12</p> <p>neighborhood's [3] - 55:12, 56:5, 73:14</p> <p>neighborhoods [33] - 6:23, 15:7, 16:24, 23:17, 25:7, 25:12, 25:14, 29:4, 31:5, 35:19, 40:22, 49:13, 49:15, 50:2, 57:7, 58:12, 59:20, 63:19, 69:18, 72:14, 76:2,</p>
N			
<p>NAACP [6] - 85:15, 109:8, 109:11, 109:14, 109:20, 109:23</p> <p>NAJMI [1] - 129:9</p>			

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>76:6, 79:12, 79:13, 82:11, 83:1, 86:22, 88:17, 100:11, 103:9, 104:4, 104:5 neighboring [2] - 20:11, 70:23 neighbors [6] - 44:11, 54:17, 120:1, 131:19, 132:1, 132:21 Nepal [1] - 57:24 Nest [2] - 78:7, 78:13 Network [1] - 85:15 network [1] - 58:14 networks [1] - 3:4 NEW [1] - 1:1 newly [1] - 59:24 newly-drawn [1] - 59:24 newspaper [1] - 52:23 newspapers [1] - 2:23 nice [2] - 105:21, 105:22 nicest [1] - 105:22 night [1] - 107:12 nightmare [1] - 106:1 nine [2] - 10:6, 70:5 no-brainer [1] - 20:17 nobody [2] - 97:24, 122:1 non [1] - 69:2 non-Caucasian [1] - 69:2 noncompliant [1] - 75:4 nonpartisan [3] - 24:6, 37:8, 49:1 nonprofit [1] - 24:6 nonsense [1] - 107:23 NORC [3] - 41:22, 41:25, 42:5 Norris [2] - 85:12, 87:8 NORRIS [2] - 87:10, 89:11 North [19] - 27:17, 29:2, 44:11, 60:8, 61:10, 67:5, 68:13, 69:23, 70:18, 71:19, 72:1, 72:2, 72:16, 80:21, 101:16, 111:25, 112:9, 124:10, 133:4 north [11] - 29:5, 44:19, 68:19, 68:25, 69:10, 74:7, 77:20, 93:25, 96:6, 102:10, 109:1 northeast [2] - 15:6, 27:8 Northeast [5] - 72:10, 74:17, 76:2, 76:4, 109:10 northeastern [1] - 29:13 Northern [22] - 31:20, 31:21, 42:15, 44:8, 60:10, 65:12, 68:19, 68:21, 68:25, 70:8, 70:20, 71:11, 75:11, 75:22, 101:25, 102:10, 132:17, 132:23, 133:2, 133:8, 133:13 Northridge [2] - 41:15, 42:19 northwest [2] - 77:23, 110:17</p>	<p>Norwood [1] - 78:2 Notary [1] - 134:9 noted [2] - 4:12, 50:1 notes [1] - 134:12 notice [1] - 28:25 noticed [1] - 3:4 noting [1] - 6:13 November [7] - 3:14, 4:12, 4:17, 25:6, 63:13, 63:17, 99:19 noxious [1] - 75:3 number [6] - 33:24, 55:18, 61:2, 61:10, 61:22, 74:22 numbers [1] - 85:4 numerous [4] - 3:23, 19:24, 20:2, 76:23</p>	<p>old [1] - 109:23 oldest [2] - 43:3, 95:18 one-family [3] - 74:20, 74:25, 75:3 one-third [1] - 69:1 ongoing [1] - 124:14 online [3] - 3:18, 7:12, 68:9 Onuorah [3] - 116:24, 118:17, 118:21 ONUORAH [1] - 118:19 op [4] - 35:16, 35:25, 36:6, 45:18 open [2] - 8:21, 33:4 operating [1] - 95:19 opinion [3] - 12:13, 21:1, 70:25 opinions [1] - 53:5 opportunities [1] - 84:18 opportunity [15] - 6:10, 13:22, 24:11, 33:19, 34:16, 34:22, 37:4, 38:17, 51:9, 57:3, 91:4, 94:1, 95:6, 98:24, 102:15 opposed [2] - 100:14, 102:21 opposite [1] - 56:1 opposition [2] - 15:21, 99:23 Ops [1] - 77:25 order [1] - 31:14 organization [9] - 19:14, 24:4, 24:6, 37:8, 57:15, 60:13, 62:23, 63:6, 121:15 organizations [13] - 3:2, 12:25, 20:3, 20:11, 21:19, 27:5, 36:19, 47:9, 60:20, 62:5, 62:6, 76:23, 78:20 organized [2] - 8:10, 16:7 organize [1] - 24:7 organizing [2] - 14:4, 63:3 oriented [1] - 53:9 original [2] - 36:23, 133:1 orphan [1] - 78:13 Orr [4] - 33:16, 34:25, 35:2, 45:10 ORR [1] - 35:1 OSCAR [1] - 1:16 Oscar [1] - 9:4 ounce [1] - 25:9 ourselves [3] - 80:14, 119:6, 121:5 outrageous [2] - 40:21, 71:3 outset [2] - 19:19, 21:16 outside [3] - 2:14, 10:15, 26:3 overdevelopment [2] - 80:15, 132:5 overwhelming [1] - 20:5 overwhelmingly [1] - 85:2 owned [1] - 35:25 owner [1] - 113:16</p>	<p>Ozone [21] - 11:23, 11:25, 15:2, 24:25, 37:13, 37:23, 38:14, 39:6, 40:19, 50:8, 51:15, 99:3, 102:17, 104:17, 105:2, 105:3, 105:6, 105:8, 130:17</p>
P			
			<p>p.m [1] - 134:5 P.M [1] - 1:7 P.S [4] - 52:3, 64:6 PADAVAN [2] - 1:10, 9:17 Padavan [1] - 9:17 page [4] - 3:7, 65:18, 67:2, 133:25 paid [1] - 80:7 painstakingly [1] - 19:22 Pakistan [1] - 57:23 panel [4] - 89:2, 118:20, 127:22, 128:16 Paragraph [1] - 84:2 paragraph [1] - 26:19 parcel [1] - 33:13 parents [1] - 110:25 Park [31] - 11:23, 11:25, 15:2, 15:4, 19:5, 24:25, 25:2, 35:24, 37:13, 37:23, 38:14, 39:6, 40:19, 50:9, 51:15, 51:18, 63:23, 64:6, 77:14, 77:17, 99:3, 99:4, 102:17, 104:17, 105:2, 105:3, 105:6, 105:8, 111:4, 130:17 park [1] - 111:1 parks [2] - 55:23, 84:15 Parkway [16] - 12:17, 15:17, 29:5, 36:4, 45:21, 74:8, 74:12, 76:19, 77:21, 103:2, 114:4, 117:20, 117:22, 125:17, 126:20, 127:2 Parsons [1] - 28:13 part [40] - 3:8, 12:8, 22:22, 23:10, 23:16, 31:10, 32:17, 32:22, 33:9, 33:11, 33:13, 35:3, 37:23, 38:15, 45:7, 57:16, 58:21, 58:22, 61:13, 71:15, 74:25, 75:1, 80:16, 82:3, 93:14, 93:16, 94:12, 96:1, 97:16, 99:2, 105:22, 108:5, 114:14, 114:19, 114:24, 114:25, 115:4, 115:19, 118:2, 126:18 participate [1] - 21:5 participated [1] - 24:9 participation [1] - 63:1 parties [1] - 114:18 PARTIN [1] - 32:5 partisan [2] - 15:24, 20:22 partners [1] - 37:16</p>
	O		
	<p>o'clock [1] - 10:6 O'Gorman [2] - 74:1, 74:4 o'GORMAN [1] - 74:3 Oakland [4] - 30:22, 30:25, 49:17, 49:24 Oaks [1] - 11:20 oasis [1] - 123:15 objection [4] - 27:2, 54:16, 54:17, 71:2 objects [2] - 6:8, 63:16 obligates [1] - 6:15 obligation [2] - 130:5, 131:4 observed [1] - 66:15 obtain [1] - 89:3 obtained [1] - 89:13 obvious [1] - 7:17 obviously [1] - 67:21 occupants [1] - 75:4 occurred [2] - 18:20, 66:23 Occurring [1] - 41:22 October [10] - 3:12, 37:17, 40:5, 40:7, 56:3, 89:24, 95:7, 99:19, 100:3, 100:15 Odom [1] - 9:4 ODOM [2] - 1:16, 9:4 OF [1] - 1:1 offered [1] - 14:7 office [7] - 10:17, 27:21, 30:17, 47:19, 66:25, 117:16, 126:15 officer [2] - 66:10, 122:21 offices [1] - 131:12 officials [12] - 31:8, 32:21, 33:3, 66:12, 78:14, 81:19, 83:16, 94:21, 95:13, 106:5, 123:1, 128:24 Ognibene [2] - 9:6, 54:22 OGNIBENE [2] - 1:15, 9:6 oh [1] - 43:23 okay [7] - 39:10, 39:25, 40:2, 43:25, 92:12, 92:16, 108:1</p>		

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>partnership [2] - 29:20, 94:20</p> <p>parts [9] - 43:18, 44:8, 55:9, 55:11, 76:10, 102:17, 114:20, 115:19, 130:15</p> <p>party [1] - 114:17</p> <p>pass [1] - 47:4</p> <p>passed [1] - 87:23</p> <p>passionate [1] - 80:3</p> <p>Patricia [3] - 26:16, 32:3, 32:6</p> <p>Paul [2] - 67:14, 68:5</p> <p>pay [2] - 53:7, 53:8</p> <p>Pecunia [3] - 111:20, 111:22, 111:24</p> <p>PECUNIA [1] - 111:24</p> <p>Pelham [2] - 76:19, 77:20</p> <p>pen [2] - 48:14, 48:17</p> <p>Peninsula [1] - 36:22</p> <p>people [64] - 3:10, 11:8, 23:3, 23:9, 23:15, 24:22, 26:8, 30:13, 30:14, 33:24, 47:2, 47:4, 47:5, 47:10, 47:14, 47:24, 48:2, 48:11, 56:25, 69:4, 69:20, 69:21, 78:19, 81:13, 84:23, 85:24, 90:13, 90:22, 90:23, 94:23, 96:11, 98:8, 99:7, 99:8, 99:21, 102:3, 103:18, 103:22, 104:3, 104:4, 104:5, 104:9, 105:9, 106:2, 106:6, 107:18, 107:19, 110:6, 110:13, 111:5, 113:3, 114:22, 114:23, 115:8, 116:6, 117:15, 121:2, 127:8, 128:5, 128:14, 132:6</p> <p>percent [8] - 6:19, 24:20, 24:21, 49:21, 58:4, 115:3, 125:3, 125:4</p> <p>perfect [2] - 8:11, 129:22</p> <p>period [1] - 4:23</p> <p>PERSAUD [3] - 1:14, 9:3, 37:3</p> <p>Persaud [4] - 9:3, 34:25, 37:2, 37:5</p> <p>person [8] - 105:14, 110:7, 110:15, 110:23, 121:22, 122:12, 125:22, 130:25</p> <p>personal [1] - 82:1</p> <p>personally [4] - 23:6, 53:4, 54:7, 118:13</p> <p>perspective [1] - 7:21</p> <p>Peter [2] - 27:25, 60:18</p> <p>petition [1] - 99:22</p> <p>photocopied [1] - 52:12</p> <p>piece [1] - 44:17</p> <p>pinheaded [1] - 39:17</p> <p>pipe [1] - 117:14</p> <p>pipeline [1] - 104:25</p>	<p>place [16] - 49:10, 53:16, 63:21, 65:24, 72:16, 93:19, 113:25, 124:22, 127:22, 128:7, 128:9, 128:25, 129:1, 129:2, 129:3</p> <p>Place [2] - 70:6</p> <p>placed [5] - 61:4, 61:12, 94:16, 99:19, 124:4</p> <p>Places [1] - 124:3</p> <p>places [2] - 57:25, 66:22</p> <p>plan [39] - 3:15, 4:5, 4:8, 4:11, 4:16, 4:19, 4:22, 5:5, 5:10, 5:14, 5:21, 5:25, 6:3, 6:4, 6:7, 6:9, 6:10, 6:12, 6:20, 6:23, 7:3, 12:21, 25:6, 27:6, 43:5, 44:10, 55:17, 75:6, 75:19, 76:1, 76:8, 79:19, 79:21, 80:11, 88:10, 89:1, 89:4, 91:12, 97:4</p> <p>planned [1] - 123:8</p> <p>planner [1] - 68:17</p> <p>planning [1] - 76:20</p> <p>plans [3] - 7:10, 25:8, 86:14</p> <p>planted [1] - 90:4</p> <p>plaque [1] - 124:3</p> <p>played [1] - 14:8</p> <p>plead [1] - 128:16</p> <p>pleading [2] - 116:16, 119:10</p> <p>Please [1] - 87:15</p> <p>please [21] - 2:13, 2:16, 10:3, 10:10, 10:23, 11:2, 12:1, 13:8, 23:23, 48:17, 83:4, 89:11, 112:8, 112:12, 114:11, 118:14, 121:6, 124:21, 131:3</p> <p>pleasure [1] - 129:9</p> <p>plows [1] - 47:17</p> <p>Point [1] - 28:14</p> <p>point [10] - 8:25, 10:3, 25:10, 25:22, 37:23, 46:8, 72:7, 127:7, 128:12, 128:20</p> <p>pointed [1] - 127:8</p> <p>points [3] - 27:1, 84:9, 110:1</p> <p>police [5] - 66:10, 78:21, 106:5, 107:3, 107:4</p> <p>Political [1] - 19:13</p> <p>political [7] - 7:4, 26:23, 27:24, 37:20, 56:21, 76:3, 76:13</p> <p>politician [1] - 121:18</p> <p>politics [4] - 15:24, 20:23, 114:17, 115:2</p> <p>poll [2] - 18:4, 66:9</p> <p>polling [5] - 65:11, 65:15, 65:24, 66:13, 66:22</p> <p>polls [1] - 65:22</p> <p>Ponton [1] - 9:9</p> <p>PONTON [1] - 1:17</p> <p>popular [1] - 39:13</p>	<p>population [21] - 6:17, 6:19, 8:3, 8:11, 8:14, 13:18, 31:10, 42:6, 57:17, 58:3, 61:18, 67:10, 67:11, 72:12, 77:9, 82:8, 82:17, 88:9, 97:5, 125:2, 132:25</p> <p>populations [1] - 58:2</p> <p>populous [2] - 6:18</p> <p>portal [1] - 7:12</p> <p>portion [4] - 18:16, 21:22, 77:16, 77:23</p> <p>position [2] - 5:11, 34:11</p> <p>positive [1] - 11:16</p> <p>possibility [1] - 4:18</p> <p>post [1] - 126:15</p> <p>posted [2] - 66:4, 93:6</p> <p>potential [2] - 56:20, 82:7</p> <p>potentially [1] - 51:8</p> <p>power [5] - 76:3, 89:12, 90:9, 98:17, 115:2</p> <p>praise [1] - 55:4</p> <p>Precinct [3] - 53:17, 104:21, 105:5</p> <p>precincts [1] - 78:21</p> <p>precise [1] - 19:20</p> <p>preclearance [1] - 89:4</p> <p>predominantly [4] - 64:7, 81:8, 83:17, 132:10</p> <p>preliminary [2] - 2:21, 55:1</p> <p>prepared [1] - 19:22</p> <p>preregister [1] - 7:13</p> <p>preregistered [2] - 10:19, 78:25</p> <p>presence [2] - 58:8, 109:20</p> <p>present [4] - 2:18, 42:12, 66:6, 66:10</p> <p>presented [4] - 6:1, 27:3, 71:3, 101:2</p> <p>presenting [1] - 43:13</p> <p>presently [2] - 70:16, 91:17</p> <p>Preservation [2] - 124:14, 127:1</p> <p>preservation [1] - 123:20</p> <p>preserve [3] - 8:5, 64:16, 130:20</p> <p>President [1] - 30:5</p> <p>president [20] - 2:7, 19:12, 32:8, 33:21, 35:8, 41:13, 42:25, 45:10, 60:8, 60:12, 65:2, 70:14, 74:4, 79:4, 79:6, 92:23, 106:22, 109:10, 109:13, 119:21</p> <p>press [1] - 3:1</p> <p>prevent [1] - 11:12</p> <p>prevented [1] - 18:23</p> <p>preventing [1] - 29:17</p> <p>previous [3] - 70:21, 91:12, 109:19</p> <p>previously [4] - 49:5, 59:6, 77:18, 86:12</p>	<p>prides [1] - 122:25</p> <p>primarily [4] - 57:16, 81:7, 123:18, 133:6</p> <p>principles [1] - 16:1</p> <p>prior [4] - 3:22, 24:10, 24:17, 93:3</p> <p>prioritized [1] - 17:8</p> <p>priority [2] - 17:9, 104:7</p> <p>privacy [1] - 123:23</p> <p>privilege [1] - 92:22</p> <p>problem [5] - 19:18, 40:15, 55:24, 87:11, 99:6</p> <p>problematic [1] - 77:13</p> <p>problems [1] - 53:19</p> <p>procedure [1] - 17:6</p> <p>procedures [1] - 65:21</p> <p>proceedings [2] - 109:16, 110:11</p> <p>process [19] - 5:4, 6:16, 8:17, 14:7, 19:19, 21:3, 21:5, 21:11, 21:16, 24:8, 24:9, 38:13, 62:13, 63:9, 64:10, 65:15, 66:1, 88:2, 129:13</p> <p>Proclamation [1] - 109:22</p> <p>professional [1] - 73:11</p> <p>program [1] - 37:5</p> <p>project [1] - 84:13</p> <p>promised [1] - 87:13</p> <p>proper [1] - 85:7</p> <p>property [5] - 18:3, 36:7, 106:24, 112:11, 124:6</p> <p>proponents [1] - 29:16</p> <p>proportion [1] - 88:8</p> <p>proposal [19] - 27:3, 27:9, 28:19, 31:24, 43:8, 43:10, 43:11, 54:18, 55:1, 55:3, 55:7, 56:4, 56:9, 67:8, 71:4, 72:10, 97:13, 120:3, 120:23</p> <p>proposals [3] - 30:11, 31:4, 43:9</p> <p>proposed [23] - 14:6, 14:14, 21:21, 29:6, 31:19, 35:16, 36:11, 36:24, 38:19, 45:15, 50:20, 58:24, 59:13, 63:16, 63:18, 63:21, 70:25, 71:9, 73:1, 99:24, 100:2, 120:2, 121:6</p> <p>protected [10] - 17:2, 17:11, 17:17, 17:20, 26:10, 72:14, 86:18, 88:8, 88:14, 127:1</p> <p>protecting [2] - 15:25, 29:16</p> <p>proud [1] - 71:17</p> <p>proudest [1] - 41:21</p> <p>provide [6] - 4:4, 10:12, 21:25, 66:22, 66:23, 121:24</p> <p>provided [4] - 19:20, 20:10, 21:15, 123:3</p>
---	--	--	--

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>provides [4] - 37:8, 42:5, 42:8, 50:21</p> <p>providing [2] - 10:14, 122:7</p> <p>proximity [1] - 58:11</p> <p>Public [1] - 134:9</p> <p>PUBLIC [1] - 1:3</p> <p>public [38] - 2:3, 2:24, 3:9, 3:23, 4:4, 4:7, 4:13, 4:20, 5:4, 5:11, 5:17, 5:24, 6:11, 7:10, 12:12, 12:13, 15:12, 15:21, 15:25, 20:6, 20:7, 20:16, 20:22, 21:2, 28:21, 28:22, 30:1, 49:18, 50:22, 51:4, 51:6, 70:21, 71:8, 82:2, 95:11, 113:16, 129:15, 131:11</p> <p>public-hearing [3] - 2:24, 5:4, 21:2</p> <p>publically [1] - 50:6</p> <p>publicized [1] - 3:6</p> <p>published [1] - 52:11</p> <p>purpose [1] - 87:1</p> <p>push [2] - 89:24, 132:9</p> <p>putting [2] - 44:24, 111:2</p>	<h2>R</h2>	<p>recent [2] - 25:8, 86:2</p> <p>recently [4] - 43:6, 52:11, 99:5, 133:9</p> <p>recognize [2] - 13:15, 49:25</p> <p>recognized [4] - 11:15, 123:24, 124:12, 124:18</p> <p>recognizes [1] - 49:11</p> <p>recommend [1] - 49:23</p> <p>recommendation [2] - 35:14, 45:15</p> <p>recommendations [1] - 87:14</p> <p>recommended [1] - 56:2</p> <p>recommends [1] - 50:21</p> <p>reconcile [1] - 8:7</p> <p>Reconsider [1] - 33:11</p> <p>reconsider [5] - 35:13, 44:23, 45:14, 122:10, 122:12</p> <p>record [2] - 97:1, 111:13</p> <p>Record [1] - 3:5</p> <p>recovery [1] - 81:16</p> <p>rectified [1] - 108:19</p> <p>red [1] - 121:20</p> <p>red-zone [1] - 121:20</p> <p>Redding [3] - 91:1, 92:20, 92:22</p> <p>REDDING [6] - 92:21, 93:23, 94:6, 94:8, 94:12, 94:16</p> <p>redevelopment [1] - 132:6</p> <p>redistrict [1] - 46:10</p> <p>redistricting [17] - 14:11, 21:11, 58:24, 59:3, 59:13, 62:2, 63:8, 79:11, 79:19, 81:25, 83:2, 88:10, 88:25, 103:1, 108:8, 117:14, 128:3</p> <p>Redistricting [3] - 11:10, 85:21, 123:5</p> <p>redraw [6] - 39:11, 40:12, 46:9, 57:7, 64:17, 88:1</p> <p>redrawing [3] - 85:22, 87:2, 91:12</p> <p>redrawn [3] - 39:15, 99:6, 116:17</p> <p>refer [1] - 72:25</p> <p>reference [1] - 19:3</p> <p>referred [1] - 23:9</p> <p>referring [1] - 16:4</p> <p>refinement [1] - 8:18</p> <p>reflect [5] - 12:11, 14:18, 74:20, 81:12, 81:20</p> <p>reflected [1] - 3:16</p> <p>reflecting [3] - 5:25, 37:19, 112:7</p> <p>reflection [1] - 81:23</p> <p>reflective [1] - 11:19</p> <p>reflects [2] - 4:8, 16:5</p> <p>refuses [1] - 15:22</p>	<p>regard [2] - 28:3, 38:19</p> <p>regarding [3] - 21:1, 51:5, 51:18</p> <p>regional [1] - 109:8</p> <p>Register [1] - 124:2</p> <p>register [1] - 2:14</p> <p>registered [3] - 10:20, 30:8, 133:23</p> <p>registration [4] - 2:13, 2:17, 10:15, 11:3</p> <p>Rego [2] - 63:23, 64:5</p> <p>regular [1] - 98:11</p> <p>regularly [1] - 66:14</p> <p>regulations [2] - 66:15, 123:2</p> <p>reiterate [1] - 27:2</p> <p>reject [1] - 6:6</p> <p>relating [1] - 7:8</p> <p>relations [1] - 95:11</p> <p>relationships [1] - 55:15</p> <p>release [1] - 27:6</p> <p>released [2] - 63:13, 63:17</p> <p>relevant [1] - 62:11</p> <p>religious [4] - 86:25, 88:19, 104:22, 123:22</p> <p>rely [3] - 58:15, 67:18, 73:12</p> <p>remain [4] - 65:8, 71:13, 80:10, 116:4</p> <p>remained [1] - 28:11</p> <p>remains [2] - 19:18, 75:7</p> <p>remarkably [1] - 66:16</p> <p>remarks [4] - 2:21, 8:24, 49:3, 79:9</p> <p>remind [3] - 109:19, 110:6, 130:6</p> <p>reminded [1] - 81:20</p> <p>remove [1] - 38:8</p> <p>removing [1] - 28:7</p> <p>renders [1] - 59:3</p> <p>rent [2] - 53:7, 53:8</p> <p>reorganization [1] - 97:3</p> <p>repercussion [1] - 86:3</p> <p>reply [1] - 127:5</p> <p>report [2] - 62:2, 62:4</p> <p>repository [1] - 7:7</p> <p>represent [11] - 54:2, 55:13, 56:25, 60:22, 76:18, 77:1, 81:14, 88:6, 97:24, 99:2, 112:8</p> <p>representation [20] - 6:21, 7:4, 8:6, 17:13, 17:20, 18:12, 18:18, 30:9, 36:20, 56:6, 56:22, 58:6, 82:5, 82:7, 82:17, 83:15, 85:8, 86:16, 87:19, 88:12</p> <p>representative [3] - 34:10, 34:16, 73:3</p> <p>representatives [4] - 30:10, 47:19, 49:4, 112:8</p>
<h2>Q</h2>			
<p>Q27 [1] - 73:18</p> <p>Q30 [1] - 73:16</p> <p>Q4 [1] - 96:12</p> <p>Q8 [1] - 73:15</p> <p>Q84 [1] - 96:12</p> <p>quality [6] - 29:17, 41:20, 42:7, 75:2, 76:8, 80:3</p> <p>Queens [78] - 9:6, 9:8, 9:17, 11:8, 11:16, 12:13, 12:23, 13:13, 15:6, 16:17, 17:5, 19:6, 20:13, 20:14, 24:5, 24:22, 24:23, 27:8, 29:13, 37:10, 39:20, 39:23, 41:9, 41:11, 43:4, 43:8, 43:10, 44:9, 47:22, 48:23, 49:4, 49:8, 49:9, 49:12, 50:12, 52:24, 57:17, 58:17, 60:10, 60:12, 60:14, 62:1, 62:22, 63:6, 71:25, 72:10, 72:22, 74:17, 76:2, 76:5, 78:19, 80:19, 81:6, 81:7, 83:2, 83:11, 84:7, 85:16, 85:17, 86:3, 86:6, 86:8, 95:19, 97:17, 98:5, 99:22, 104:8, 109:10, 110:23, 118:20, 119:21, 120:6, 120:8, 126:4, 126:13, 126:18, 126:25, 131:18</p> <p>Queens-based [1] - 24:5</p> <p>question [2] - 84:10, 87:1</p> <p>questions [1] - 11:2</p> <p>quiet [1] - 16:11</p> <p>quote [1] - 86:13</p>	<p>R1 [1] - 101:16</p> <p>R2 [2] - 126:20, 127:4</p> <p>R2A [4] - 44:13, 74:10, 126:20, 127:4</p> <p>R3 [1] - 127:3</p> <p>R4 [2] - 28:11, 127:3</p> <p>R6 [1] - 69:15</p> <p>R7 [1] - 69:15</p> <p>race [2] - 18:1, 132:3</p> <p>Race [1] - 97:14</p> <p>racetrack [1] - 105:1</p> <p>Racetrack [1] - 104:22</p> <p>racial [12] - 6:21, 8:6, 11:12, 17:10, 17:16, 18:18, 86:16, 86:24, 88:7, 88:12, 88:19, 89:6</p> <p>racially [1] - 17:25</p> <p>racially-charged [1] - 17:25</p> <p>Rahman [3] - 56:15, 57:11, 57:14</p> <p>RAHMAN [1] - 57:12</p> <p>Rail [3] - 52:20, 73:12, 74:11</p> <p>rail [2] - 104:21, 105:10</p> <p>railroad [2] - 53:3, 53:16</p> <p>raise [4] - 90:17, 93:18, 93:20, 123:17</p> <p>raised [3] - 52:22, 117:3</p> <p>ran [3] - 65:14, 68:3, 113:18</p> <p>range [1] - 37:9</p> <p>Raphael [3] - 74:1, 76:15, 76:18</p> <p>Rappaport [1] - 117:9</p> <p>Rasel [3] - 56:14, 57:11, 57:13</p> <p>rate [2] - 58:3, 83:8</p> <p>rationale [2] - 50:23, 50:25</p> <p>reach [2] - 56:19, 122:4</p> <p>read [9] - 18:10, 26:18, 26:24, 39:8, 39:9, 52:18, 68:11, 86:12, 95:2</p> <p>Real [1] - 29:21</p> <p>real [2] - 117:10, 130:1</p> <p>realities [1] - 37:19</p> <p>realty [1] - 123:11</p> <p>Realty [1] - 117:8</p> <p>reapplied [1] - 69:11</p> <p>reason [9] - 16:23, 31:3, 77:21, 78:1, 78:11, 118:22, 132:1, 132:12, 132:18</p> <p>reasonably [1] - 8:19</p> <p>reasons [1] - 78:15</p> <p>rebounding [1] - 85:20</p> <p>rebuild [3] - 45:23, 46:5, 46:17</p> <p>rebuilding [1] - 85:19</p> <p>recall [2] - 30:4, 65:23</p> <p>receive [2] - 5:17, 6:12</p> <p>received [2] - 3:17, 5:22</p>		

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>represented [13] - 35:22, 36:10, 37:14, 55:19, 61:17, 78:1, 79:24, 81:11, 96:5, 98:10, 111:16, 119:3, 124:23</p> <p>representing [5] - 57:14, 60:13, 62:5, 72:1, 113:4</p> <p>represents [9] - 24:19, 61:18, 70:17, 75:15, 75:16, 77:9, 102:17, 128:15</p> <p>Republic [1] - 98:7</p> <p>request [20] - 28:25, 35:13, 36:21, 37:18, 38:10, 42:15, 42:21, 60:16, 68:4, 91:10, 91:14, 93:3, 93:6, 103:6, 111:13, 112:9, 112:15, 125:13, 127:6</p> <p>requested [3] - 49:17, 50:16, 100:22</p> <p>requesting [4] - 80:22, 117:16, 124:25, 125:14</p> <p>require [1] - 2:15</p> <p>required [3] - 7:19, 18:11, 88:2</p> <p>requirement [1] - 132:23</p> <p>requirements [2] - 8:8, 51:3</p> <p>requires [1] - 122:14</p> <p>reside [2] - 37:12, 41:10</p> <p>resident [23] - 27:7, 32:6, 32:7, 35:2, 45:6, 49:6, 57:19, 62:21, 68:13, 72:22, 81:6, 83:10, 91:5, 99:18, 105:15, 111:11, 112:21, 113:13, 117:2, 119:23, 120:20, 121:12, 131:17</p> <p>residential [6] - 50:1, 55:9, 61:7, 74:12, 74:20, 75:9</p> <p>residents [26] - 12:22, 16:17, 31:9, 33:23, 33:24, 34:18, 38:2, 39:24, 48:24, 55:19, 55:22, 56:5, 62:10, 75:13, 75:17, 76:3, 91:11, 91:22, 95:14, 100:6, 103:3, 118:21, 118:25, 123:16, 132:9, 133:5</p> <p>Residents' [4] - 33:22, 47:9, 54:14, 56:1</p> <p>residing [1] - 83:19</p> <p>resolutions [1] - 31:13</p> <p>resolved [1] - 53:19</p> <p>resources [4] - 59:5, 59:15, 81:14, 105:9</p> <p>respect [7] - 15:22, 21:14, 34:21, 49:8, 57:5, 90:23, 124:21</p> <p>respected [2] - 62:17, 62:18</p> <p>respectful [1] - 10:10</p> <p>respectfully [3] - 35:13, 36:21, 53:25</p> <p>respective [2] - 11:21, 28:3</p>	<p>respond [1] - 20:19</p> <p>response [1] - 20:15</p> <p>responsibility [1] - 7:25</p> <p>responsible [2] - 40:4, 87:19</p> <p>rest [5] - 13:13, 28:16, 64:2, 108:18, 130:21</p> <p>restate [1] - 112:23</p> <p>restored [2] - 52:25, 99:13</p> <p>restoring [1] - 28:8</p> <p>restricted [1] - 124:5</p> <p>restrictions [2] - 123:9, 124:7</p> <p>restructuring [1] - 85:19</p> <p>result [7] - 5:14, 8:3, 10:7, 15:23, 51:8, 59:9, 79:22</p> <p>resulted [1] - 17:2</p> <p>resulting [1] - 76:11</p> <p>results [2] - 77:11, 86:2</p> <p>retaining [1] - 111:4</p> <p>Retirement [1] - 41:23</p> <p>return [2] - 4:19, 119:11</p> <p>returned [1] - 36:23</p> <p>reunite [1] - 57:2</p> <p>reunited [1] - 12:7</p> <p>reverse [1] - 21:20</p> <p>reversing [2] - 17:7, 17:9</p> <p>reviewed [1] - 28:22</p> <p>revise [1] - 6:10</p> <p>revised [10] - 3:15, 4:5, 4:11, 4:16, 4:19, 5:5, 5:10, 5:13, 5:20, 8:16</p> <p>revitalization [1] - 84:13</p> <p>rezoned [1] - 126:20</p> <p>Rhea [3] - 72:20, 74:1, 74:4</p> <p>rich [1] - 123:19</p> <p>Richard [3] - 125:9, 127:13, 127:15</p> <p>Richmond [23] - 11:23, 15:2, 24:24, 25:20, 37:12, 38:13, 39:6, 40:19, 51:15, 52:16, 82:9, 90:13, 97:11, 97:20, 97:24, 99:3, 102:17, 104:17, 122:4, 122:5, 122:10, 130:10, 130:16</p> <p>Rick [1] - 122:24</p> <p>Rickert [5] - 29:19, 74:17, 123:10, 123:11, 124:8</p> <p>Rickert-Finlay [4] - 29:19, 74:17, 123:10, 124:8</p> <p>right [24] - 9:2, 21:9, 26:1, 39:7, 40:20, 45:20, 46:15, 46:16, 47:13, 51:24, 52:14, 56:11, 78:19, 95:4, 96:3, 97:16, 98:5, 99:1, 102:5, 105:2, 106:20, 111:2, 116:7, 116:13</p> <p>rights [4] - 13:15, 40:8, 40:9, 104:6</p> <p>Rights [6] - 17:11, 17:17, 26:11, 86:18, 88:8, 88:14</p>	<p>rigorously [1] - 29:18</p> <p>Road [12] - 43:17, 44:1, 52:20, 73:13, 74:5, 74:7, 74:11, 74:14, 74:15, 74:24, 75:12, 80:21</p> <p>Robert [8] - 9:13, 111:22, 112:18, 112:20, 127:14, 129:8, 131:14, 131:17</p> <p>ROBERT [2] - 1:20, 9:13</p> <p>Rochdale [1] - 128:1</p> <p>Rockaway [9] - 35:9, 35:21, 36:17, 36:22, 45:6, 45:7, 45:16, 46:3, 46:13</p> <p>Rockaways [2] - 35:5, 45:9</p> <p>role [1] - 90:7</p> <p>Romano [4] - 2:4, 9:10, 48:22, 86:12</p> <p>ROMANO [8] - 1:13, 2:1, 9:10, 9:20, 43:20, 93:21, 125:5, 134:1</p> <p>room [6] - 2:14, 30:6, 47:25, 110:2, 110:6, 110:14</p> <p>Roosevelt [2] - 30:6, 114:7</p> <p>roughly [2] - 8:3, 44:22</p> <p>ROUND [1] - 1:3</p> <p>round [9] - 2:2, 2:25, 3:9, 4:3, 4:25, 5:11, 5:15, 5:23, 19:16</p> <p>rounds [5] - 3:11, 3:17, 24:10, 39:5</p> <p>Roxanne [1] - 9:3</p> <p>ROXANNE [1] - 1:14</p> <p>RPR [1] - 134:15</p> <p>Ruben [2] - 122:11, 127:18</p> <p>rules [3] - 9:21, 9:24, 66:14</p> <p>run [1] - 93:9</p> <p>runs [1] - 73:15</p> <p>rush [1] - 97:23</p>	<p>113:17, 123:22</p> <p>SCHWEIZER [1] - 76:17</p> <p>Schweizer [3] - 74:2, 76:15, 76:18</p> <p>SCOTT [1] - 1:18</p> <p>Scott [1] - 9:5</p> <p>screwed [1] - 113:24</p> <p>Seat [1] - 24:8</p> <p>Seats [2] - 24:5</p> <p>second [5] - 25:19, 26:19, 67:1, 79:18, 107:15</p> <p>second-to-last [1] - 26:19</p> <p>seconds [1] - 128:18</p> <p>section [5] - 15:16, 43:2, 61:11, 61:13, 76:22</p> <p>Section [4] - 42:18, 88:15, 88:21, 88:24</p> <p>Sections [3] - 41:15, 42:17</p> <p>seeds [1] - 90:4</p> <p>seek [1] - 50:5</p> <p>sees [1] - 110:16</p> <p>seize [1] - 56:11</p> <p>Senator [1] - 27:22</p> <p>send [1] - 104:15</p> <p>senior [1] - 38:2</p> <p>Senior [1] - 38:4</p> <p>sense [6] - 32:22, 54:25, 96:14, 108:16, 120:12, 129:19</p> <p>senseless [1] - 80:14</p> <p>sentence [1] - 10:3</p> <p>separate [7] - 3:4, 41:24, 59:17, 63:13, 100:3, 102:24, 130:24</p> <p>separated [2] - 36:1, 80:14</p> <p>separates [5] - 58:24, 58:25, 59:14, 132:20, 132:21</p> <p>separating [3] - 23:16, 77:18, 129:18</p> <p>serious [1] - 83:14</p> <p>seriously [3] - 29:3, 66:16, 112:25</p> <p>serve [5] - 62:9, 81:25, 118:23, 119:14, 121:13</p> <p>served [2] - 65:1, 96:21</p> <p>serves [1] - 118:25</p> <p>service [2] - 42:1, 53:9</p> <p>service-oriented [1] - 53:9</p> <p>serviced [1] - 123:21</p> <p>services [9] - 37:9, 42:5, 47:16, 56:7, 97:21, 97:25, 121:24, 122:6, 123:2</p> <p>Services [2] - 20:2, 22:11</p> <p>servicing [1] - 122:13</p> <p>serving [5] - 20:3, 38:2, 76:12, 79:6, 92:23</p> <p>session [1] - 102:20</p> <p>sets [1] - 67:4</p> <p>seven [4] - 35:25, 45:17,</p>
S			
		<p>safely [1] - 13:19</p> <p>safety [1] - 15:12</p> <p>salute [1] - 28:6</p> <p>Sandi [3] - 62:16, 64:21, 64:24</p> <p>Sandy [5] - 35:6, 45:11, 45:24, 46:2, 82:18</p> <p>sat [1] - 28:1</p> <p>save [1] - 65:5</p> <p>saying [6] - 39:18, 92:8, 94:17, 96:24, 98:11, 116:2</p> <p>schedule [3] - 2:24, 3:5, 7:9</p> <p>scheduled [1] - 5:17</p> <p>scheme [1] - 85:6</p> <p>school [1] - 73:13</p> <p>School [8] - 12:2, 26:2, 38:6, 52:2, 52:4, 97:19, 98:19</p> <p>schools [8] - 25:16, 33:5, 55:23, 64:4, 84:15, 96:13,</p>	

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>45:19, 75:8 seven-building [1] - 45:17 shape [1] - 103:24 share [8] - 8:13, 25:15, 25:16, 25:17, 61:5, 61:16, 98:24, 120:1 shared [2] - 59:9, 60:2 shares [1] - 15:12 sheer [1] - 12:9 Sherwood [4] - 115:18, 115:25, 116:14, 116:18 shift [3] - 50:14, 51:20, 99:10 shifted [1] - 51:19 shifting [1] - 50:18 shocked [2] - 64:10, 120:10 shootings [1] - 101:9 shopping [4] - 47:6, 61:3, 73:7, 73:9 shops [1] - 58:20 Shore [2] - 36:3, 45:21 shortsighted [1] - 82:16 show [1] - 34:22 showing [3] - 51:22, 60:25, 72:4 shows [2] - 21:1, 52:12 SIEGEL [1] - 79:3 Siegel [3] - 76:16, 78:25, 79:4 sighs [2] - 98:25, 99:1 sign [2] - 2:12, 66:3 sign-in [1] - 66:3 signatures [1] - 99:23 signed [2] - 2:11, 87:14 significant [4] - 15:11, 28:6, 38:1, 41:24 significantly [1] - 28:18 signs [1] - 65:24 Simmons [3] - 120:18, 121:9, 121:12 SIMMONS [1] - 121:11 simple [4] - 19:18, 21:25, 60:15, 111:14 Singh [2] - 96:19, 98:22 SINGH [1] - 98:23 single [20] - 7:2, 12:7, 25:9, 29:9, 36:6, 36:20, 37:18, 38:15, 38:16, 61:10, 69:10, 69:11, 69:12, 71:6, 71:16, 80:9, 93:15, 101:19, 120:4, 123:18 single-family [9] - 61:10, 69:10, 69:11, 69:12, 71:6, 71:16, 80:9, 101:19, 123:18 sir [3] - 91:24, 95:4, 107:14 sit [1] - 121:16 site [6] - 7:7, 7:15, 65:11, 65:15, 66:13, 66:21 sites [1] - 18:4</p>	<p>sitting [1] - 40:1 situation [2] - 55:21, 104:8 six [2] - 66:5, 95:9 size [2] - 8:11, 8:15 skew [2] - 83:20, 85:4 sleeping [1] - 85:3 sliced [1] - 79:23 slide [1] - 80:16 slightly [1] - 70:4 smarter [1] - 131:19 snowstorm [1] - 47:14 social [1] - 58:19 Social [1] - 4:1 socializing [1] - 73:6 socially [1] - 73:21 societies [1] - 30:20 socioeconomic [1] - 64:3 soft [2] - 39:19, 39:23 software [1] - 3:20 solicit [1] - 131:11 solid [1] - 36:18 solidarity [2] - 59:8, 103:4 solution [1] - 129:22 somehow [1] - 116:18 someone [1] - 105:7 sorry [7] - 51:25, 76:21, 84:3, 91:24, 94:10, 107:11, 124:20 sort [1] - 68:22 soul [1] - 76:4 sound [1] - 111:13 South [46] - 11:23, 11:25, 15:1, 15:2, 24:7, 24:18, 24:24, 24:25, 25:15, 26:9, 37:10, 37:12, 37:13, 37:23, 38:14, 50:8, 50:16, 51:14, 57:17, 57:22, 58:5, 58:9, 58:12, 59:21, 62:20, 62:25, 63:2, 63:8, 63:12, 63:19, 64:7, 82:8, 85:7, 97:2, 99:3, 115:5, 120:7, 120:21, 120:22, 127:24, 127:25, 128:20, 130:17, 130:21 south [24] - 12:18, 15:17, 31:18, 31:22, 44:21, 61:11, 68:21, 69:15, 73:19, 74:8, 75:22, 77:21, 91:15, 92:2, 92:4, 93:10, 93:21, 93:24, 114:19, 114:25, 125:18, 128:19, 131:24 South-Asian [16] - 15:1, 24:7, 24:24, 25:15, 50:8, 50:16, 57:17, 58:5, 58:9, 59:21, 62:25, 63:12, 82:8, 120:7, 120:21, 120:22 South-Asian-American [3] - 63:2, 63:19, 97:2 South-Asian-Americans [1] - 63:8 South-Asians [1] - 37:12</p>	<p>southeast [3] - 81:6, 83:2, 84:7 Southeast [6] - 15:3, 30:20, 81:6, 83:11, 97:17, 99:22 southeastern [1] - 100:17 southern [3] - 11:17, 21:22, 96:1 Southridge [3] - 41:14, 42:13, 42:17 southwest [1] - 78:8 space [1] - 123:23 Spanish [1] - 66:8 spans [1] - 63:4 Spaulding [3] - 115:15, 116:23, 117:1 SPAULDING [1] - 116:25 Spaulding-Bey [3] - 115:15, 116:23, 117:1 SPAULDING-BEY [1] - 116:25 speak [11] - 2:12, 2:19, 10:9, 10:19, 24:11, 26:22, 32:9, 33:19, 33:25, 45:8, 108:5 speaker [74] - 9:22, 9:24, 9:25, 10:4, 10:21, 10:22, 11:4, 13:24, 16:13, 19:8, 22:5, 23:25, 26:14, 32:3, 33:15, 34:24, 37:1, 38:21, 41:4, 42:22, 45:3, 46:19, 48:20, 51:11, 54:9, 56:13, 57:10, 60:5, 62:15, 64:20, 66:8, 67:13, 68:5, 70:11, 72:19, 73:25, 76:14, 78:24, 79:1, 80:25, 83:7, 85:10, 87:7, 89:15, 90:25, 92:19, 94:25, 96:17, 98:21, 99:14, 100:23, 102:11, 103:12, 104:11, 107:13, 107:16, 108:2, 109:4, 111:7, 111:18, 112:17, 113:8, 115:13, 116:22, 118:16, 119:16, 120:16, 121:8, 122:15, 125:8, 129:6, 129:8, 131:14 speakers [3] - 101:2, 127:13, 133:23 speaking [7] - 17:4, 32:7, 32:8, 51:10, 57:1, 66:7 Special [1] - 127:1 special [3] - 101:20, 106:12, 112:11 specific [1] - 30:2 specifically [9] - 15:7, 17:4, 17:8, 21:9, 24:12, 30:25, 51:4, 75:10, 83:11 specified [1] - 4:23 spend [1] - 107:12 spent [2] - 73:5, 84:25 spirit [1] - 84:1 splintered [1] - 59:23</p>	<p>split [15] - 25:8, 25:10, 25:13, 34:20, 35:16, 36:12, 45:16, 54:21, 63:18, 64:11, 77:5, 87:18, 96:2, 100:2, 108:7 splits [1] - 59:13 splitting [1] - 78:10 spoke [2] - 70:1, 125:12 spoken [5] - 14:16, 20:7, 66:18, 104:19, 112:6 spread [2] - 3:3, 55:10 spreadsheet [2] - 47:1, 48:10 Springfield [1] - 73:18 square [1] - 28:10 Sr [2] - 85:12, 87:8 Sri [1] - 57:24 St [2] - 65:12, 65:23 stable [2] - 18:15, 56:19 Stacey [5] - 42:23, 45:4, 109:5, 111:8, 111:10 Stacy [1] - 45:5 staff [7] - 2:13, 2:16, 5:20, 11:2, 24:13, 24:15, 131:12 stage [1] - 99:18 stand [5] - 13:1, 35:12, 70:5, 90:23, 134:2 standard [1] - 125:2 STANFORD [2] - 38:24, 41:3 Stanford [2] - 37:2, 38:22 started [2] - 106:4, 108:8 starting [2] - 47:11, 47:20 starts [1] - 126:5 state [4] - 45:25, 59:4, 71:2, 86:21 State [11] - 27:19, 27:22, 46:9, 58:6, 79:19, 107:2, 109:9, 109:13, 124:1, 124:2, 134:10 stated [6] - 16:23, 50:11, 77:2, 79:10, 93:9, 132:24 statement [2] - 16:19, 77:3 statements [1] - 43:14 Staten [2] - 9:5, 134:3 States [3] - 30:5, 86:18, 123:25 states [2] - 35:18, 86:13 station [1] - 73:13 Station [9] - 43:17, 44:1, 74:5, 74:7, 74:14, 74:15, 74:24, 75:11, 80:21 stay [11] - 33:8, 40:2, 44:14, 46:4, 46:17, 67:21, 94:18, 113:5, 115:2, 116:15, 129:3 stayed [1] - 131:3 staying [1] - 90:23 stenographic [1] - 134:12 step [2] - 28:6, 130:13 steps [1] - 130:8</p>
--	---	--	---

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>Steven [1] - 65:16 sticking [1] - 48:6 stock [1] - 61:14 stop [2] - 25:22, 89:9 story [2] - 39:25, 133:10 straddled [1] - 78:14 straight [2] - 46:14, 75:20 strange [1] - 97:14 Street [53] - 23:7, 28:15, 29:5, 31:18, 31:22, 31:23, 35:24, 36:3, 36:5, 36:9, 36:12, 36:16, 36:24, 36:25, 38:4, 41:10, 43:16, 43:19, 51:25, 52:15, 54:3, 63:12, 65:12, 68:20, 70:7, 70:19, 72:24, 74:9, 74:11, 74:13, 75:20, 75:24, 97:12, 98:14, 99:11, 103:2, 108:23, 113:22, 113:24, 117:25, 120:5, 121:1, 121:3, 126:5, 126:7, 126:9, 130:2 street [8] - 67:4, 82:12, 91:25, 114:12, 116:9, 116:10, 116:13, 118:6 streets [1] - 39:13 Streets [1] - 75:11 strength [2] - 63:15, 89:6 stress [1] - 84:6 stretches [2] - 120:5, 120:7 strip [1] - 93:16 strive [1] - 71:18 striving [1] - 80:13 strong [4] - 25:22, 27:2, 29:15, 54:16 stronger [1] - 35:6 strongest [2] - 29:12, 71:2 strongly [4] - 80:17, 100:19, 118:12, 118:13 stuck [1] - 129:14 student [1] - 73:11 students [1] - 64:6 study [1] - 105:11 submissions [4] - 3:18, 26:12, 28:2, 30:2 submit [5] - 4:16, 10:13, 37:4, 84:22, 88:25 submitted [20] - 4:11, 6:5, 7:11, 14:20, 16:21, 17:15, 18:5, 18:9, 27:22, 34:1, 51:21, 52:17, 52:23, 62:2, 68:8, 68:9, 97:3, 99:22, 100:1, 100:16 successful [1] - 117:10 sued [2] - 107:3, 107:4 suggest [3] - 61:25, 67:2, 73:20 suggested [1] - 82:4 suggesting [1] - 119:10 suggestion [1] - 102:9 suggestions [2] - 8:21,</p>	<p>14:23 summonses [1] - 105:17 Sunset [2] - 15:4, 19:4 superimpose [1] - 95:23 Superstorm [1] - 35:6 support [19] - 12:20, 14:18, 15:20, 23:19, 27:4, 44:11, 44:14, 58:15, 59:16, 59:24, 61:22, 80:19, 80:20, 80:21, 81:15, 97:12, 104:4, 129:20 supported [2] - 42:1, 124:25 supporting [2] - 21:19, 44:4 supposed [3] - 102:1, 105:16, 130:8 surprising [1] - 25:11 surrounding [8] - 17:1, 17:14, 17:22, 18:14, 32:15, 75:8, 99:21, 100:7 survey [1] - 60:1 survive [1] - 45:12 survived [1] - 45:11 Sutphin [1] - 121:20 swap [1] - 61:20 switched [1] - 55:11 sword [1] - 48:17 systems [1] - 59:16</p>	<p>38:17, 51:9, 95:7, 107:21, 111:21, 127:17 testifying [2] - 57:22, 68:24 testimony [34] - 2:16, 2:20, 3:13, 3:17, 3:19, 5:13, 8:23, 9:25, 10:12, 10:14, 10:24, 20:10, 22:15, 23:3, 25:9, 26:18, 26:19, 28:23, 29:24, 34:1, 37:4, 49:19, 50:15, 56:2, 68:8, 71:8, 71:10, 71:22, 84:4, 91:4, 102:16, 104:15, 131:11, 134:2 text [1] - 26:24 Thaddeus [2] - 9:18, 9:20 thank [129] - 2:1, 2:6, 13:8, 13:21, 16:12, 16:13, 19:6, 19:8, 22:4, 22:9, 23:24, 23:25, 24:10, 24:12, 24:15, 26:14, 32:1, 32:2, 33:14, 33:15, 33:18, 34:23, 34:24, 35:10, 37:3, 38:20, 38:21, 41:2, 41:8, 42:19, 42:22, 45:2, 45:3, 46:18, 46:19, 48:18, 48:20, 51:9, 54:9, 56:12, 56:13, 57:9, 57:10, 60:3, 60:5, 62:13, 62:15, 64:18, 64:20, 67:13, 68:3, 70:10, 72:18, 72:19, 73:24, 73:25, 76:14, 78:23, 80:24, 80:25, 83:5, 83:6, 85:10, 87:6, 87:7, 89:8, 89:15, 90:24, 91:3, 91:9, 91:23, 92:12, 92:17, 92:18, 93:2, 94:24, 94:25, 95:6, 96:15, 96:17, 98:19, 98:21, 99:13, 99:14, 100:22, 100:23, 102:11, 102:15, 103:11, 103:12, 104:9, 104:11, 107:8, 108:1, 109:4, 111:6, 111:7, 111:16, 111:18, 112:16, 112:17, 113:6, 113:8, 115:12, 115:13, 116:20, 116:22, 118:15, 118:16, 119:15, 119:16, 120:15, 120:16, 121:7, 121:8, 122:14, 122:15, 124:19, 125:5, 125:6, 125:10, 127:11, 127:12, 129:4, 129:6, 129:9, 131:9, 133:22, 134:3 Thank [3] - 36:25, 41:3, 125:7 thanking [1] - 98:23 THE [3] - 13:3, 13:5, 13:7 theater [1] - 126:16 theory [1] - 34:5 there's [3] - 97:24, 130:1, 130:13 thereafter [1] - 3:23</p>	<p>thereby [2] - 63:14, 126:9 thin [1] - 48:1 THIRD [1] - 1:3 third [10] - 2:2, 2:25, 3:8, 5:11, 5:15, 19:16, 22:17, 39:20, 69:1, 78:5 thirds [1] - 69:1 Thomas [4] - 9:6, 100:24, 102:12, 127:19 THOMAS [1] - 1:15 Thomson [1] - 1:5 thoroughfare [1] - 82:12 thousands [2] - 62:6, 80:6 three [22] - 4:23, 6:6, 8:7, 26:3, 36:2, 36:14, 43:18, 43:25, 48:6, 55:9, 61:22, 66:6, 71:24, 74:16, 75:8, 75:13, 77:13, 89:2, 101:5, 127:12, 128:1, 128:4 three-judge [1] - 89:2 three-week [1] - 4:23 thriving [1] - 56:18 throw [1] - 69:8 Tibet [1] - 57:24 tied [1] - 73:22 ties [7] - 6:24, 35:20, 46:1, 77:2, 86:23, 88:18, 100:12 tight [1] - 101:10 timer [23] - 13:11, 16:9, 19:5, 21:17, 26:4, 29:11, 40:25, 44:25, 51:1, 53:21, 59:22, 64:13, 66:24, 70:9, 76:7, 88:24, 98:18, 102:4, 106:24, 111:3, 115:10, 124:16, 133:18 times [5] - 65:2, 79:7, 79:24, 81:24, 107:12 Times [1] - 52:11 Tohin [3] - 118:18, 119:17, 119:20 TOHIN [1] - 119:19 Tom [1] - 90:14 tomorrow [2] - 40:10, 134:3 tonight [22] - 2:8, 2:10, 3:8, 8:23, 22:16, 23:3, 24:11, 33:25, 49:3, 60:15, 90:3, 90:5, 90:19, 90:24, 91:4, 91:7, 93:5, 103:17, 110:10, 112:6, 112:16, 112:23 tonight's [2] - 5:13, 5:14 Tony [1] - 27:23 tool [1] - 7:12 tore [1] - 15:9 torn [2] - 77:10, 132:6 total [1] - 126:23 totally [5] - 67:25, 82:6, 90:14, 126:1, 126:4 touch [1] - 68:12 towards [2] - 12:4, 108:24 Towers [2] - 35:24, 45:17</p>
	T		
	<p>table [2] - 2:13, 53:5 tables [1] - 66:3 takes [2] - 6:7, 52:16 talk [10] - 25:20, 69:2, 69:4, 69:5, 90:6, 98:6, 98:7, 130:10, 131:13 talked [1] - 129:21 talking [7] - 46:14, 46:21, 90:11, 93:22, 98:1, 105:9, 131:21 talks [1] - 23:21 task [3] - 31:10, 35:11, 88:1 taxpayers [1] - 53:6 Teddy [1] - 30:5 Teens [1] - 121:15 telling [4] - 34:4, 34:6, 40:1 template [1] - 62:3 temple [1] - 26:2 Temple [1] - 30:20 temples [1] - 47:7 ten [6] - 6:19, 24:20, 69:12, 72:24, 98:4, 125:24 tend [1] - 58:12 tenets [1] - 79:11 term [1] - 113:20 terms [2] - 69:20, 83:2 Terrace [2] - 73:6, 73:9 testified [3] - 30:18, 49:5, 74:18 testify [8] - 10:1, 10:11,</p>		

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>town [7] - 57:1, 84:6, 84:8, 93:14, 93:15, 93:19, 94:17</p> <p>towns [1] - 84:7</p> <p>Track [1] - 97:15</p> <p>tracks [4] - 52:21, 52:23, 53:3, 53:16</p> <p>trade [2] - 62:24, 68:17</p> <p>Trade [1] - 119:23</p> <p>traditional [2] - 27:9, 71:5</p> <p>trained [1] - 122:23</p> <p>transcription [1] - 134:11</p> <p>translators [1] - 66:6</p> <p>transmittal [1] - 4:10</p> <p>transportation [2] - 25:16, 123:22</p> <p>travesty [1] - 75:17</p> <p>treasurer [1] - 95:10</p> <p>treated [3] - 56:20, 76:10, 106:10</p> <p>treatment [1] - 106:11</p> <p>trigger [1] - 6:11</p> <p>Trinidadian [1] - 37:11</p> <p>Trooper [1] - 27:19</p> <p>troubled [1] - 128:22</p> <p>true [4] - 14:18, 22:24, 54:24, 131:3</p> <p>trust [1] - 87:12</p> <p>trustees [1] - 96:22</p> <p>Turnpike [2] - 73:20, 125:19</p> <p>twenty [1] - 30:23</p> <p>twice [1] - 107:11</p> <p>Twitter [1] - 3:7</p> <p>two-and-a-half [26] - 9:25, 10:1, 10:7, 13:11, 16:9, 19:5, 21:16, 26:4, 29:11, 40:25, 44:25, 51:1, 53:20, 59:22, 64:13, 66:24, 70:8, 76:7, 88:23, 98:17, 102:4, 106:24, 111:3, 115:9, 124:15, 133:17</p> <p>two-by-four [1] - 108:14</p> <p>two-by-four-block [1] - 108:10</p> <p>two-families [1] - 74:22</p> <p>two-family [4] - 45:2, 83:19, 93:15, 132:10</p> <p>two-thirds [1] - 69:1</p> <p>Tyler [3] - 57:11, 60:6, 60:8</p>	<p>unanimous [4] - 3:15, 12:12, 20:16, 20:25</p> <p>unaware [1] - 35:15</p> <p>undated [1] - 65:18</p> <p>underprivileged [1] - 122:1</p> <p>underrepresented [1] - 82:19</p> <p>understand [7] - 67:6, 90:6, 90:8, 90:12, 110:22, 130:22, 130:23</p> <p>understood [2] - 55:2, 111:1</p> <p>undertaking [1] - 35:10</p> <p>undid [1] - 55:8</p> <p>unethical [1] - 82:15</p> <p>unfairly [2] - 110:17, 120:22</p> <p>unfamiliar [1] - 55:20</p> <p>Unfortunately [1] - 102:18</p> <p>unfortunately [3] - 55:7, 119:5, 125:23</p> <p>unified [7] - 54:20, 83:4, 108:9, 108:18, 109:3, 113:5, 113:6</p> <p>unify [1] - 96:15</p> <p>unintelligible [1] - 39:1</p> <p>Union [6] - 48:25, 49:4, 49:11, 50:20, 73:20, 125:18</p> <p>unionists [1] - 62:24</p> <p>unique [3] - 49:9, 112:2, 112:14</p> <p>unit [2] - 45:18, 83:3</p> <p>unite [1] - 49:19</p> <p>united [18] - 28:15, 34:23, 56:12, 57:8, 64:14, 71:13, 72:15, 83:3, 99:3, 102:25, 103:3, 110:14, 120:11, 120:14, 123:6, 130:4, 130:7, 131:2</p> <p>United [5] - 20:13, 30:5, 38:3, 86:18, 123:25</p> <p>units [2] - 61:3, 126:14</p> <p>Unity [1] - 12:20</p> <p>unity [13] - 14:19, 14:20, 14:24, 15:15, 16:4, 16:25, 17:15, 17:18, 19:2, 23:12, 23:19, 59:7, 90:1</p> <p>unlawfully [1] - 65:22</p> <p>unprecedented [1] - 129:19</p> <p>unpunished [1] - 35:12</p> <p>unto [2] - 33:10, 61:8</p> <p>unwilling [1] - 21:18</p> <p>unwisely [1] - 12:5</p> <p>up-zoning [1] - 29:18</p> <p>updated [1] - 84:16</p> <p>upheld [1] - 123:2</p> <p>uphold [1] - 124:11</p> <p>upset [1] - 103:18</p> <p>Upstate [1] - 40:25</p> <p>uptown [1] - 118:6</p>	<p>urge [12] - 13:23, 18:10, 44:8, 50:5, 50:17, 52:9, 59:19, 72:15, 78:22, 85:8, 100:19, 118:13</p> <p>urged [1] - 100:7</p> <p>urging [1] - 57:1</p> <p>uses [2] - 61:7, 62:4</p> <p>utmost [1] - 87:16</p> <p>Utopia [9] - 29:5, 74:7, 74:11, 125:17, 126:3, 126:19, 126:21, 127:2, 127:3</p> <p>Utrecht [1] - 127:25</p>	<p>110:2</p> <p>voter [1] - 66:11</p> <p>voters [5] - 7:4, 12:23, 20:4, 30:8, 65:19</p> <p>votes [1] - 50:7</p> <p>Voting [6] - 17:11, 17:17, 26:11, 86:18, 88:8, 88:14</p> <p>voting [4] - 66:1, 66:2, 66:21, 89:6</p> <p>vulnerability [1] - 59:4</p>
U			W
<p>U.S [1] - 88:3</p> <p>UDDIN [2] - 62:17, 120:19</p> <p>Uddin [6] - 60:6, 62:16, 62:19, 119:18, 120:17, 120:20</p> <p>ultimately [3] - 21:6, 85:23, 87:21</p> <p>unable [1] - 102:18</p> <p>unacceptably [2] - 15:3, 15:8</p>	<p>valid [1] - 69:17</p> <p>Van [2] - 78:7, 78:13</p> <p>VANEL [1] - 99:16</p> <p>Vanel [3] - 98:22, 99:15, 99:17</p> <p>variety [1] - 31:13</p> <p>Varuska [3] - 38:23, 41:5, 41:10</p> <p>VARUSKA [1] - 41:6</p> <p>VATTAMALA [1] - 16:16</p> <p>Vattamala [2] - 14:1, 16:14</p> <p>Vedesh [3] - 34:25, 37:1, 37:5</p> <p>vehemently [1] - 100:14</p> <p>venue [1] - 117:6</p> <p>version [2] - 39:9, 64:11</p> <p>vertical [1] - 43:16</p> <p>vibrant [1] - 63:19</p> <p>vice [2] - 42:25, 60:11</p> <p>videos [1] - 7:8</p> <p>views [1] - 15:22</p> <p>Village [5] - 115:18, 115:25, 116:14, 116:18, 128:1</p> <p>violate [1] - 87:5</p> <p>violated [2] - 40:8</p> <p>violates [2] - 17:7, 35:17</p> <p>violating [1] - 18:17</p> <p>violation [3] - 18:20, 83:25, 86:9</p> <p>violations [1] - 105:17</p> <p>virtually [2] - 20:16, 55:3</p> <p>visit [2] - 7:14, 66:13</p> <p>visited [1] - 53:4</p> <p>vital [1] - 103:25</p> <p>Viviani [5] - 62:16, 64:21, 64:22, 64:24, 67:14</p> <p>VIVIANI [2] - 64:23, 67:16</p> <p>vocal [1] - 29:15</p> <p>voice [10] - 12:22, 47:12, 47:21, 47:25, 53:12, 53:13, 54:16, 56:6, 70:24, 132:13</p> <p>voices [2] - 14:22, 117:16</p> <p>volunteer [1] - 48:25</p> <p>vote [4] - 3:15, 5:7, 50:22,</p>	<p>wait [1] - 106:19</p> <p>waited [1] - 97:22</p> <p>walls [1] - 66:4</p> <p>wanted [5] - 22:12, 68:10, 110:8, 114:9, 128:20</p> <p>wants [1] - 44:15</p> <p>Washington [2] - 89:3, 109:25</p> <p>watching [1] - 38:25</p> <p>wave [1] - 48:14</p> <p>we're [1] - 98:13</p> <p>weaken [3] - 56:5, 71:5, 89:5</p> <p>weakens [1] - 34:11</p> <p>weapon [1] - 48:18</p> <p>website [5] - 3:6, 3:20, 7:6, 28:23, 71:21</p> <p>week [2] - 4:23, 76:21</p> <p>weekly [1] - 73:8</p> <p>weeks [1] - 6:6</p> <p>welcome [1] - 2:1</p> <p>welcomed [1] - 4:13</p> <p>well-defined [1] - 54:24</p> <p>Wendell [2] - 32:4, 33:16</p> <p>WENDELL [1] - 33:17</p> <p>Weprin [2] - 28:1, 125:25</p> <p>Weprin's [1] - 125:16</p> <p>weren't [1] - 24:16</p> <p>West [4] - 99:7, 118:9, 121:3, 126:21</p> <p>west [9] - 12:18, 15:18, 26:6, 36:12, 43:19, 44:22, 74:9, 127:2, 127:3</p> <p>Western [2] - 43:2, 44:18</p> <p>western [4] - 12:3, 25:25, 42:14, 51:19</p> <p>westward [1] - 44:1</p> <p>what are [1] - 108:21</p> <p>what did [4] - 106:7, 106:18, 106:21, 107:4</p> <p>what is [5] - 46:23, 46:25, 97:7, 98:10, 103:18</p> <p>what was [2] - 30:24, 66:1</p> <p>when you [3] - 10:22, 26:12, 78:22</p> <p>Whereupon [1] - 134:5</p> <p>White [2] - 90:14, 127:20</p> <p>white [2] - 18:1, 40:18</p>	

DISTRICTING COMMISSION

<p>who are [4] - 33:25, 68:24, 75:21, 99:7</p> <p>who is [5] - 2:11, 54:21, 78:25, 105:12, 117:9</p> <p>who was [1] - 110:24</p> <p>wholly [1] - 50:3</p> <p>wide [1] - 37:9</p> <p>wider [1] - 15:13</p> <p>wife [3] - 48:7, 67:19, 68:3</p> <p>Willets [1] - 28:14</p> <p>William [2] - 37:2, 38:22</p> <p>Wills [2] - 122:11, 127:18</p> <p>win [1] - 75:17</p> <p>wins [1] - 87:21</p> <p>wish [7] - 2:12, 43:12, 44:18, 65:15, 68:23, 89:18, 93:7</p> <p>wishing [1] - 10:11</p> <p>withdrawing [1] - 5:5</p> <p>withdrawn [1] - 5:9</p> <p>withdrew [1] - 46:10</p> <p>wok [1] - 49:2</p> <p>WOLFE [2] - 1:11, 9:15</p> <p>Wolfe [1] - 9:15</p> <p>Women's [1] - 62:20</p> <p>won't [2] - 11:11, 107:20</p> <p>wonderful [2] - 44:7, 49:10</p> <p>Woodhaven [40] - 12:4, 33:21, 33:22, 34:13, 37:13, 46:22, 47:9, 48:12, 51:15, 51:21, 51:24, 52:15, 52:16, 53:22, 54:2, 54:14, 54:15, 54:19, 54:20, 54:22, 55:4, 55:6, 55:11, 55:19, 56:1, 56:12, 56:17, 56:18, 56:22, 56:24, 57:8, 89:25, 97:13, 98:15, 99:10, 102:23, 102:24, 103:3, 103:8</p> <p>Woodhaven's [1] - 55:9</p> <p>word [3] - 3:3, 81:13, 84:1</p> <p>words [3] - 7:17, 30:4, 98:25</p> <p>work [17] - 33:23, 34:16, 53:2, 54:4, 55:8, 57:16, 62:10, 73:13, 78:20, 86:4, 90:10, 94:24, 110:8, 117:7, 117:8, 128:11</p> <p>workable [1] - 62:12</p> <p>worked [12] - 8:16, 30:19, 33:3, 33:5, 41:19, 41:25, 85:25, 94:21, 95:12, 105:20, 113:15, 128:24</p> <p>workers [1] - 66:9</p> <p>working [7] - 33:2, 45:23, 73:11, 81:7, 84:25, 114:1, 122:25</p> <p>works [1] - 88:1</p> <p>world [1] - 126:17</p> <p>worried [1] - 30:16</p> <p>worse [1] - 77:18</p> <p>worsen [1] - 55:25</p> <p>worship [3] - 32:16, 58:20,</p>	<p>123:23</p> <p>worst [2] - 20:23, 97:21</p> <p>worth [2] - 6:13, 48:5</p> <p>wouldn't [1] - 129:15</p> <p>written [5] - 10:14, 26:17, 29:23, 34:1, 50:23</p> <p>wrong [2] - 48:10, 56:10</p> <p>www.nyc.gov/districting [2] - 3:21, 7:6</p> <p style="text-align: center;">Y</p> <p>year [4] - 89:18, 89:19, 90:2, 125:13</p> <p>years [44] - 22:12, 24:20, 30:23, 41:22, 47:12, 47:14, 54:16, 60:23, 65:1, 65:10, 67:24, 69:12, 72:24, 80:1, 80:13, 81:10, 85:18, 86:4, 86:6, 90:12, 95:10, 95:20, 101:5, 104:18, 108:6, 108:19, 109:23, 110:4, 110:24, 111:12, 112:1, 112:12, 115:12, 117:12, 119:3, 121:13, 122:20, 122:23, 123:14, 124:23, 125:25, 127:19, 128:5, 133:9</p> <p>yield [2] - 10:3, 68:1</p> <p>YORK [1] - 1:1</p> <p>York [46] - 1:5, 2:2, 2:4, 5:1, 6:22, 12:23, 13:14, 24:19, 27:3, 40:24, 41:7, 47:22, 52:10, 57:15, 58:2, 58:7, 58:10, 64:15, 84:1, 86:9, 86:17, 86:20, 87:5, 88:4, 88:9, 88:13, 88:14, 88:20, 88:22, 88:25, 100:10, 102:21, 102:23, 103:7, 109:9, 109:12, 109:15, 117:18, 123:7, 123:16, 124:1, 124:6, 124:13, 124:24, 125:15, 134:10</p> <p>Yorker [1] - 30:4</p> <p>Yorkers [3] - 30:15, 49:2, 57:5</p> <p>youngster [1] - 117:5</p> <p>yourselves [2] - 39:3, 46:23</p> <p>YU [2] - 1:19, 9:14</p> <p>Yu [1] - 9:14</p> <p style="text-align: center;">Z</p> <p>ZIP [11] - 31:1, 91:17, 92:9, 93:13, 95:21, 95:22, 95:25, 96:2, 96:10, 118:1, 126:14</p> <p>zone [5] - 74:10, 75:7, 101:24, 121:20, 127:4</p> <p>zoned [5] - 28:11, 69:15, 74:9, 127:3, 127:4</p> <p>zoning [16] - 27:10, 29:18,</p>	<p>31:12, 61:14, 65:4, 69:5, 69:11, 69:12, 69:13, 69:14, 71:6, 72:14, 74:21, 123:2, 124:5, 124:11</p>
---	---	---